University of California Santa Barbara

Towards Terabit-Scalable Silicon Photonic Short-Reach Interconnects

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering

by

Andrew Michael Netherton

Committee in charge:

Professor John Bowers, Chair Professor Daniel Blumenthal Dr. Jock Bovington Professor Clint Schow Professor Luke Theogarajan

March 2024

The Dissertation of Andrew Michael Netherton is approved.

Professor Daniel Blumenthal

Dr. Jock Bovington

Professor Clint Schow

Professor Luke Theogarajan

Professor John Bowers, Committee Chair

March 2024

Towards Terabit-Scalable Silicon Photonic Short-Reach Interconnects

Copyright $\bigcirc 2024$

by

Andrew Michael Netherton

Veritas Omnia Vincit

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I am obliged to acknowledge those important to me who will never read these words, as Death has been a prominent character in this period of my life. In chronological order of their passing: my paternal grandfather, Warren. My father, Roger. My paternal grandmother, Grace. My stepfather, Mike. My maternal grandmother, Jane. Some of these deaths were painfully unexpected and sudden, while others were painfully drawn out over years.

While I regretfully do not have enough time and pages to adequately eulogize all five in this acknowledgement, I at least must share a little bit about my father, whose passing certainly hit me the hardest. Near the end of his life at 62, he typically presented himself to the world as someone who was broken under the weight of his choices, his trauma, his pain, and his fears. One of the topics discussed in our final conversation was one often repeated between us through the years: his deep regret for declining his admission to medical school as a young man and lamenting how different our family life could have been. While I wish he could have lived a happier life, that aspect of his story taught me a priceless lesson on the value of perseverance in the face of adversity: giving up when things get difficult could have far more devastating and irreversible longterm consequences than pushing ahead. Seeing my academic journey through to the end required finding ways to adequately grieve and create glimmers of happiness in a morass of sorrow —one partly of my own making —and I have become a much better person for having done so. Thank you, Dad.

However, I am not the sole person affected by this loss. I have quite a bit of surviving family in my mother and my siblings, many of whom were not as insulated from all the death as I was being 2000 miles away from it all. I am grateful for all the phone calls, the visits, and the jokes told under somber circumstances. Our lives have never really been easy, but I think our next chapters will be brighter than those that have already been written. I hope we can make the best use of the remaining time we have together.

Steering my attention to the UCSB community, I must first thank my advisor, John Bowers. Thank you for your patience, your guidance, and your trust. Thank you for the opportunity to tackle hard, important problems alongside teams of people with the right aptitude, mindset, and resources to break new ground. Thank you for the off-campus celebrations and adventures with the group; your particular manifestation of the "work hard, play hard" mentality is aspirational. Through observing you, I learned not only what it takes to succeed but also the right way to accept failure. In many ways, you serve as an exemplar on what it means to be a leader. Again, sorry about the bike.

I also owe quite a bit of gratitude to the remainder of my committee. You have served as my teachers, screening exam proctors, project advisors, and as even project teammates in a pinch. You opened the doors of your labs and offices to me and let me work amongst your teams. I recognize that many other graduate students are not so fortunate to receive that level of support from their entire committee. Thank you.

I want to recognize the PIPES collaborators at UCSB, Analog Photonics, Cisco, and Ciena. Thank you for your creativity, insight, dedication, communication, and pragmatism. We may not have achieved everything we sought out to given the limited man-hours available to us, but we were unquestionably moving in the right direction. I believe our findings will have an impact on future work in the field.

Among the PIPES team, Mario Dumont deserves an honorary mention for being an outstanding teammate, scientist, and friend throughout this project and through grad school more generally. With countless MBE growth campaigns, thousands of devices measured, and an appreciation for the underlying device physics, you delivered to the letter 20 packaged comb sources of a caliber that this project demanded without compromise. The hours spent hanging out in the lab on the trail helped keep me sane, and backpacking through the Sierra Nevada together was one hell of a way to send off grad school. Thanks for everything, man.

Next, I would like to recognize all past and present members of the Bowers group, from those I have not yet met but whose work certainly affected my own to those who I have had the pleasure of having overlapping time with at UCSB. Thank you all for the group updates, the shared meals, the Bowies gifts, and the camaraderie in the lab, at the gym, on a mountain, and around a pool table. Not only are you all very good at what you do, you are also kind, generous, collaborative, inquisitive people who are a joy to be around. Ted, Warren, Alex, Akhilesh, and Jinxi undoubtedly made for interesting office mates over the years, and bouncing ideas off of each other in the office (work-related or otherwise) was always entertaining and/or helpful.

That isn't to say that the Bowers group is an exception to the rule at UCSB, however. I am grateful for environment fostered here by the research groups, students, and department administrators that make working on this campus so pleasant. The friendly, collaborative nature amongst the groups at UCSB I observed on my first visit is what drew me here. Something I appreciate greatly is the presence of organizations like the Photonics Society for providing me with a sense of community in the early years of graduate school.

Last, but certainly not least, thank you, Kaiyin, for your love and support. You have helped improve the quality of my day-to-day life in so many ways, and you encourage me to be the best version of myself (there is plenty more work for me to do on that front). Your unceasing drive to be the best at everything you do while refusing to compromise your happiness is beautiful, as is your unlimited capacity to care. I am very lucky to have you as a partner, a colleague, and an adventuring buddy.

Curriculum Vitæ Andrew Michael Netherton

Education

Ph.D. in Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Cali- formia, Santa Parbara
lorma, Santa Darbara.
M.S. in Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Cali-
fornia, Santa Barbara.
B.S. in Electrical Engineering, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign

Journal Publications

- [1] Netherton, Andrew, Dumont, Mario, Nelson, Zachary, Koo, Jahyun, Jhonsa, Jinesh, Mo, Alice, McCarthy, David, Deckoff-Jones, Skylar, Gao, Yun, Pestana, Noah, Goldstein, Jordan, Shiue, Ren-Jye, Poulton, Christopher, Kennedy, MJ, Harrington, Mark, Dong, Bozhang, Bovington, Jock, Frankel, Michael, Theogarajan, Luke, Watts, Michael, Blumenthal, Daniel, and Bowers, John E. "High Capacity, Low Power, Short Reach Integrated Silicon Photonic Interconnects". *Photonics Research (Submitted)* (2024).
- [2] Dong, Bozhang, Dumont, Mario, Terra, Osama, Wang, Heming, Netherton, Andrew, and Bowers, John E. "Broadband quantum-dot frequency-modulated comb laser". *Light: Science & Applications* 12.1 (2023), p. 182.
- [3] Netherton, Andrew M, Gao, Yun, Pestana, Noah, Bovington, Jock, and Bowers, John E. "Athermal, fabrication-tolerant Si-SiN FIR filters for a silicon photonics foundry platform". *Optics Express* 31.15 (2023), pp. 23952–23965.
- [4] Shu, Haowen, Chang, Lin, Tao, Yuansheng, Shen, Bitao, Xie, Weiqiang, Jin, Ming, Netherton, Andrew, Tao, Zihan, Zhang, Xuguang, Chen, Ruixuan, Bai, Bowen, Qin, Jun, Yu, Shaohua, Wang, Xingjun, and Bowers, John E. "Microcomb-driven silicon photonic systems". Nature 605.7910 (2022), pp. 457–463.
- [5] Yang, Ki Youl, Shirpurkar, Chinmay, White, Alexander D, Zang, Jizhao, Chang, Lin, Ashtiani, Farshid, Guidry, Melissa A, Lukin, Daniil M, Pericherla, Srinivas V, Yang, Joshua, Kwon, Hyounghan, Lu, Jesse, Ahn, Geun Ho, Van Gasse, Kasper, Jin, Yan, Yu, Su-Peng, Briles, Travis C, Stone, Jordan R, Carlson, David R, Song, Hao, Zou, Kaiheng, Zhou, Huibin, Pang, Kai, Hao, Han, Trask, Lawrence, Li, Mingxiao, Netherton, Andy, Rechtman, Lior, Stone, Jeffrey S, Skarda, Jinhee L, Su, Logan, Vercruysse, Dries, MacLean, Jean-Phillippe W, Aghaeimeibodi, Shahriar, Li, Ming-Jun, Miller, David A B, Marom, Dan M, Willner, Alan E, Bowers, John E, Papp, Scott B, Delfyett, Peter j, Aflatouni, Firooz, and Vuckovic, Jelena. "Multi-dimensional data transmission using inverse-designed silicon photonics and microcombs". Nature Communications 13.1 (2022), p. 7862.

- [6] Selvidge, Jennifer, Hughes, Eamonn T, Norman, Justin C, Shang, Chen, Kennedy, MJ, Dumont, Mario, Netherton, Andrew M, Zhang, Zeyu, Herrick, Robert W, Bowers, John E, and Mukherjee, Kunal. "Reduced dislocation growth leads to long lifetime InAs quantum dot lasers on silicon at high temperatures". Applied Physics Letters 118.19 (2021).
- [7] Xiang, Chao, Jin, Warren, Huang, Duanni, Tran, Minh A, Guo, Joel, Wan, Yating, Xie, Weiqiang, Kurczveil, Geza, Netherton, Andrew M, Liang, Di, et al. "High-performance silicon photonics using heterogeneous integration". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 28.3: Hybrid Integration for Silicon Photonics (2021), pp. 1–15.
- [8] Khope, Akhilesh SP, Liu, Songtao, Zhang, Zeyu, Netherton, Andrew M, Hwang, Rebecca L, Wissing, Aaron, Perez, Jesus, Tang, Franklin, Schow, Clint, Helkey, Roger, Alferness, Rod C, Saleh, Adel A M, and Bowers, John E. "2 λ switch". Optics Letters 45.19 (2020), pp. 5340–5343.
- [9] Piggott, Alexander Y, Ma, Eric Y, Su, Logan, Ahn, Geun Ho, Sapra, Neil V, Vercruysse, Dries, Netherton, Andrew M, Khope, Akhilesh SP, Bowers, John E, and Vuckovic, Jelena. "Inverse-designed photonics for semiconductor foundries". ACS Photonics 7.3 (2020), pp. 569–575.
- [10] Khope, Akhilesh SP, Saeidi, Mitra, Yu, Raymond, Wu, Xinru, Netherton, Andrew M, Liu, Yuan, Zhang, Zeyu, Xia, Yujie, Fleeman, Garey, Spott, Alexander, Pinna Sergioand Schow, Clint, Helkey, Roger, Theogarajan, Luke, Alferness, Rod C, Saleh, Adel A M, and Bowers, John E. "Multi-wavelength selective crossbar switch". Optics express 27.4 (2019), pp. 5203–5216.
- [11] Tong, Yeyu, Hu, Zhouyi, Wu, Xinru, Liu, Songtao, Chang, Lin, Netherton, Andrew, Chan, Chun-Kit, Bowers, John E, and Tsang, Hon Ki. "An experimental demonstration of 160-Gbit/s PAM-4 using a silicon micro-ring modulator". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 32.2 (2019), pp. 125–128.
- [12] Khope, Akhilesh SP, Hirokawa, Takako, Netherton, Andrew M, Saeidi, Mitra, Xia, Yujie, Volet, Nicolas, Schow, Clint, Helkey, Roger, Theogarajan, Luke, Saleh, Adel AM, et al. "On-chip wavelength locking for photonic switches". *Optics letters* 42.23 (2017), pp. 4934–4937.

Conference Publications

 Feng, Kaiyin, Koscica, Rosalyn, Shang, Chen, Skipper, Alec, Netherton, Andrew, Clark, Andrew, Ludewig, Peter, Harame, David, and Bowers, John E. "On-Chip Monolithic Integration of QD Lasers Coupled to Foundry-Processed SiN Waveguides on 300 mm SOI Wafer". 2024 IEEE Silicon Photonics Conference (SiPhotonics) (Accepted). IEEE. 2024, pp. 1–2.

- [2] Netherton, Andrew, Dumont, Mario, Nelson, Zachary, Jhonsa, Jinesh, Mo, Alice, Koo, Jahyun, McCarthy, David, Pestana, Noah, Deckoff-Jones, Skylar, Poulton, Christopher, Frankel, Michael, Bovington, Jock, Theogarajan, Luke, and Bowers, John. "Short-Reach Silicon Photonic Interconnects with Quantum Dot Mode Locked Laser Comb Sources". 2024 International Solid State Circuits Conference (ISSCC). IEEE. 2024, pp. 1–3.
- [3] Dong, Bozhang, Dumont, Mario, Terra, Osama, Wang, Heming, Netherton, Andrew, and Bowers, John E. "Broadband Quantum-Dot Frequency-Modulated Comb Laser Induced by Kerr Nonlinearity". 2023 IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC). IEEE. 2023, pp. 1–2.
- [4] Gao, Yun, Pestana, Noah, Deckoff-Jones, Skylar, Zheng, Jiajiu, Goldstein, Jordan, Netherton, Andrew, Shiue, Ren-Jye, Watts, Michael R., and Poulton, Christopher V. "Passive Integrated Athermal (De)Multiplexers on 300 mm Silicon Photonics Wafers". Optical Fiber Communication Conference. Optical Society of America. 2023, pp. M4I–3.
- [5] Yang, KY, Shirpurkar, C, White, AD, Zang, J, Chang, L, Ashtiani, F, Guidry, MA, Lukin, DM, Pericherla, SV, Yang, J, Kwon, H, Lu, J, Ahn, GH, Van Gasse, K, Jin, Y, Yu, SP, Briles, TC, Stone, JR, Carlson, DR, Song Hand Zou, K, Zhou, H, Pang, K, Hao, H, Trask, L, Li, M, Netherton, A, Rechtman, L, Stone, JS, Skarda, JL, Su, L, Vercruysse, D, MacLean, JPW, Aghaeimeibodi, S, Li, MJ, Miller, DAB, Marom, DM, Willner, AE, Bowers, JE, Papp, SB, Delfyett, PJ, Aflatouni, FA, and Vuckovic, J. "Optical data transmission using inverse-designed silicon multimode photonic circuits and spectrally flattened microcombs". *CLEO: Science and Innovations*. Optica Publishing Group. 2023, STh3J–3.
- [6] Shu, Haowen, Shen, Bitao, Chang, Lin, Tao, Yuansheng, Xie, Weiqiang, Jin, Ming, Netherton, Andrew, Zhang, Xuguang, Qin, Jun, Chen, Ruixuan, Yu, Shaohua, Wang, Xingjun, and Bowers, John E. "Microcomb based silicon photonics data link with 100Gbps/Lane PAM4 transmission". *CLEO: Science and Innovations*. Optica Publishing Group. 2022, SM5G–3.
- [7] Yang, KY, White, AD, Ashtiani, F, Shirpurkar, C, Pericherla, SV, Chang, L, Song, H, Zou, K, Zhou, H, Pang, K, Yang, J, Guidry, MA, Lukin, DM, Hao, H, Trask, L, Ahn, GH, Netherton, A, Briles, TC, Stone, JR, Rechtman, L, Stone, JS, Van Gasse, K, Skarda, JL, Su, L, Vercruysse, D, MacLean, JPW, Aghaeimeibodi, S, Li, MJ, Miller, DAB, Marom, DM, Papp, SB, Willner, AE, Bowers, JE, Delfyett, PJ, Aflatouni, FA, and Vuckovic, J. "Inverse-designed multi-wavelength, multi-mode optical interconnects using soliton microcombs". *CLEO: Science and Innovations*. Optica Publishing Group. 2022, STh4F–2.
- [8] Khope, Akhilesh SP, Liu, Songtao, Zhang, Zeyu, Netherton, Andrew M, Hwang, Rebecca L, Wissing, Aaron, Perez, Jesus, Tang, Franklin, Schow, Clint, Helkey, Roger, Alferness, Rod C, Saleh, Adel A M, and Bowers, John E. "PAM4 Transmis-

sion Experiment and Scalability Simulations on Multi-wavelength Selective Crossbar Switch". *CLEO: Science and Innovations*. Optica Publishing Group. 2021, STu2Q–6.

- [9] Malik, Aditya, Liu, Songtao, Timurdogan, Erman, Harrington, Mark, Netherton, Andrew, Saeidi, Mitra, Blumenthal, Daniel J, Theogarajan, Luke, Watts, Michael, and Bowers, John E. "Low power consumption silicon photonics datacenter interconnects enabled by a parallel architecture". Optical Fiber Communication Conference. Optica Publishing Group. 2021, W6A–3.
- [10] Yang, KY, White, AD, Ashtiani, F, Chang, L, Song, H, Zou, K, Zhou, H, Pang, K, Ahn, GH, Netherton, A, Skarda, JL, Su, L, Vercruysse, D, MacLean, JPW, Aghaeimeibodi, S, Willner, AE, Bowers, JE, Aflatouni, FA, and Vuckovic, J. "Inverse-designed optical link for chip-to-chip communication". 2021 Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO). IEEE. 2021, pp. 1–2.
- [11] Bowers, John E, Chang, Lin, Huang, Duanni, Malik, Aditya, Netherton, Andy, Tran, Minh, Xie, Weiqiang, and Xiang, Chao. "Terabit transmitters using heterogeneous III-V/Si photonic integrated circuits". Optical Fiber Communication Conference. Optica Publishing Group. 2020, W3F-1.
- [12] Brodnik, Grant M, Harrington, Mark W, Bose, Debapam, Netherton, Andrew M, Zhang, Wei, Stern, Liron, Morton, Paul A, Bowers, John E, Papp, Scott B, and Blumenthal, Daniel J. "Chip-scale, optical-frequency-stabilized PLL for DSP-free, low-power coherent QAM in the DCI". Optical Fiber Communication Conference. Optica Publishing Group. 2020, M3A–6.
- [13] Hirokawa, Takako, Netherton, Andrew, Saeidi, Mitra, Andrade, Hector, Theogarajan, Luke, Bowers, John E, Saleh, Adel AM, and Schow, Clint L. "An all-optical wavelength-selective O-band chip-scale silicon photonic switch". *CLEO: Science* and Innovations. Optica Publishing Group. 2020, SF1L–2.
- Khope, Akhilesh SP, Liu, Songtao, Netherton, Andy, Zhang, Zeyu, Khope, Sairaj, Helkey, Roger, Saleh, Adel AM, Alferness, Rod C, and Bowers, John E. "Experiments on multiwavelength selective crossbar switches". 2020 International Conference on Information Science and Communications Technologies (ICISCT). IEEE. 2020, pp. 1–5.
- [15] Netherton, Andrew M, Malik, Aditya, and Bowers, John E. "Characterization of Waveguide-Dopant Misalignment with Optical Measurements of Racetrack Microresonators". 2020 IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC). IEEE. 2020, pp. 1–2.
- [16] Hamdy, Shereen W, Hirokawa, Takako, Chan, Philip, Jin, Warren, Rosborough, Victoria, Stanton, Eric, Netherton, Andrew M, Garza, Marilyn, Ibsen, Wendy, John, Demis D, and Bowers, John E. "Light-based educational outreach activities for pre-university students". *Education and Training in Optics and Photonics*. Optica Publishing Group. 2019, 11143_71.

- [17] Piggott, Alexander Y, Su, Logan, Sapra, Neil V, Netherton, Andrew M, Khope, Akhilesh SP, Bowers, John E, and Vučković, Jelena. "Foundry-fabricated Inverse Designed Photonics". *Laser Science*. Optica Publishing Group. 2019, JW3A–20.
- [18] Khope, Akhilesh SP, Netherton, Andrew M, Hirokawa, Takako, Volet, Nicolas, Stanton, Eric J, Schow, Clint, Helkey, Roger, Saleh, Adel AM, Bowers, John E, and Alferness, Rod C. "Elastic WDM optoelectronic crossbar switch with on-chip wavelength control". *Photonics in Switching*. Optica Publishing Group. 2017, PTh1D– 3.

Abstract

Towards Terabit-Scalable Silicon Photonic Short-Reach Interconnects

by

Andrew Michael Netherton

This dissertation presents a path toward silicon photonic short reach dense wavelength division multiplexing interconnects capable of scaling to 1 Tbps with link energy consumption approaching 200 fJ/bit and areal densities exceeding 5 Tbps/mm² within ambient operating temperatures ranging from 20 to 80 °C. The system's architecture in the electronic and photonic domains, along with its evolution, are outlined with an emphasis on the photonic aspects. Such a transceiver photonic integrated circuit contains hundreds of photonic elements that have stringent performance requirements with regards to footprint, energy consumption, and fabrication reproducibility, among other things. As such, the measured performance of many of these photonic elements is detailed; further, methods are shown for modelling the performance of some of these components for practical design, namely elements formed using Mach-Zehnder interferometers and microring resonators.

Forming a system of that is appropriately electrically and optically interconnected to perform requires extensive packaging, which is outlined in this work with a focus on the silicon photonics chip. Co-packaging validation experiments are shown, building towards a demonstration of a discrete silicon photonic transceiver and a packaged mode-locked laser comb source at 27 Gbps per wavelength.

Finally, to further the goal of quantifying fabrication uncertainties and their impact on silicon photonic systems, this work also introduces an experimental methodology to estimate the lithographic overlay error between a waveguiding layer and another layer capable of perturbing the guided mode; steps capable of introducing perturbations include ion implantation, etching of the waveguide layer, and deposition of material layers within close proximity to the waveguide. Such a tool should allow for more precise uncertainty quantification in photonic elements such as modulators, photodiodes, and passive modeevolution based devices, which should in turn lead to more optimized component designs.

Contents

Ac	knov	wledgements	\mathbf{v}
Cu	irrici	ulum Vitae	viii
Ab	ostra	\mathbf{ct}	xiii
Lis	st of	Figures	viii
Lis	st of	Tables x	xvii
1	Intr 1.1 1.2 Refe	oduction System Overview Dissertation Overview rences	1 3 8 9
2	Ath 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 Refe	ermal, Fabrication-Tolerant Si-SiN InterleaverIntroductionAthermalized uMZI (De)-Interleaver Via Thermo-Optic CompensationFabrication Error Tolerance2.3.1Fabrication Phase Tolerance In Two Dimensions2.3.2Simultaneous Athermality And Fabrication Phase Tolerance2.3.3FSR StabilityDiscussionConclusionConclusion	12 12 14 21 23 25 27 30 33 33
3	Rin 3.1 3.2	g Resonators Introduction Modelling 3.2.1 Steady State 3.2.1.1 Travelling Wave Model 3.2.1.2	37 37 38 38 38 49

	3.2.1.3 Picking Between the Two Models	4
	3.2.2 Integrated Phase Shifters	5
	3.2.3 Large Signal Domain	2
	3.2.4 Small Signal Domain	'1
3.3	Device Design & Simulation	0
	3.3.1 Ring Modulator Design	0
	3.3.2 Design Considerations for Cascaded Rings	0
	3.3.3 Demux Filter Design	6
	3.3.4 Design Considerations for Electronic Copackaging 10	1
	3.3.5 Design Considerations for SISCAP/MOSCAP Phase Shifters 10	2
3.4	Conclusion	2
Refe	erences	3
Sys	tems 11	1
4.1	Introduction	1
4.2	Components	1
	4.2.1 Quantum Dot Mode Locked Laser Comb	2
	4.2.2 Silicon Photonics	4
	$4.2.2.1 \text{Edge Couplers} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots 11$	5
	4.2.2.2 Polarization Beam Splitter and Rotator	5
	$4.2.2.3 \text{Ring Resonators} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	6
	$4.2.2.4 \text{Variable Optical Attenuator} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots 12$	2
	$4.2.2.5 Photodetector \dots \dots$	3
	4.2.3 Electronics	4
	4.2.4 Forward Error Correction	8
	4.2.5 Packaging of 3D Integrated Transceiver	3
4.3	Subsystem Testing	9
	$4.3.1 \text{Ring Locking} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	9
	4.3.2 Discrete 1- λ Link with QD-MLL Source	:1
4.4	Results and Discussion	:3
4.5	Conclusion	:0
Refe	erences	:0
Lith	nographic Overlay Error Estimation14	9
5.1		:9
5.2	Ion Implantation Overlay Error Estimation	1 1
	$5.2.1 \text{Electrical Method} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	1 0
	5.2.2 Optical Method: Simplified	う E
БЭ	5.2.5 Optical Method: Reilley Etch and Decements Decima Optical	Э
0.3	lay Errors	9
5.4	Rotational Overlay Error Estimation 17	'1
	 3.3 3.4 Refe Sys 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 Refe Lith 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 	3.2.1.3 Picking Between the Two Models 5 $3.2.2$ Integrated Phase Shifters 5 $3.2.3$ Large Signal Domain 6 $3.2.4$ Small Signal Domain 7 3.3 Device Design & Simulation 8 $3.3.1$ Ring Modulator Design 8 $3.3.2$ Design Considerations for Cascaded Rings 9 $3.3.3$ Demux Filter Design 9 $3.3.4$ Design Considerations for Electronic Copackaging 10 $3.3.5$ Design Considerations for SISCAP/MOSCAP Phase Shifters 10 3.4 Conclusion 10 References 10 Systems 11 4.1 Introduction 11 $4.2.1$ Quantum Dot Mode Locked Laser Comb 11 $4.2.2.1$ Edge Couplers 11 $4.2.2.2$ Polarization Beam Splitter and Rotator 11 $4.2.2.3$ Ring Resonators 11 $4.2.2.4$ Variable Optical Attenuator 12 $4.2.3$ Electronics 12 $4.2.4$ Forward Error Correction 12<

6	Summary and Future Work	178
	References	175
	5.6 Conclusion \ldots	175
	5.5 Impact on Depletion p-n Ring Resonators	172

List of Figures

1.1	Diagram illustrating the photonic transceiver architecture of the system.	4
2.1	Schematic of an MZI deinterleaving an input comb of carrier channels onto two separate output waveguides. The interfering paths can consist of multiple core widths, core materials, and modes. The black box before	
2.2	the output is a 2x2 3 dB coupler	15
2.3	substrate at $\lambda = 1300$ nm	18
	a silicon substrate at $\lambda = 1300$ nm	18
2.4	Micrograph of the fabricated Si-SiN athermal interleaver (a) and its mea- sured spectral response over the application's spectral region of interest	
2.5	across the temperature range of interest (b)	19
2.6	maxmia and drift at +10 pm/K Estimated change in (a) silicon core thickness and (b) change nitride core thickness across one half of a 300 mm wafer. These waveguide varations result in the following computed TO drifts (c) in the athermal interleaver	20
0.7	and also its measured FSR changes (d)	22
2.7	Simulation results of the effective index change with core width (a) and thickness (b) perturbations of a 220 nm thick silicon waveguide with a top and bottom SiO ₂ cladding at $\lambda = 1300$ nm	ევ
2.8	Optimizing the compensating path for both waveguide core thickness and width fluctuations of an 800-nm wide TE ₀ Si 220 nm waveguide at $\lambda =$	20
	1300 nm	24

2.9	Simulation results of the effective index change with core width (a) and thickness (b) perturbations of a 220 nm thick silicon nitride waveguide with a top and bottom SiO ₂ cladding at $\lambda = 1300$ nm. Contour plot searching for the optimum core width for both the imbalancing and compensating paths to maximize $R_{\rm eff}$ (c)	95
2.10	Simulation results of the group index change with core width and thickness perturbations and temperature change of 220 nm thick silicon (a-c) and silicon nitride (d-f) waveguides with top and bottom SiO ₂ cladding and a silicon substrate at $\lambda = 1300$ nm	23 28
21	Schematic of an add drop ring resonator	30
3.1	Power (a) and phase (b) response an add-drop ring resonator for which	09
0.2	$\kappa_1 = 0.45$, $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, and $a = 0.95$.	40
3.3	Impact on the power (a) and phase (b) response of the drop port placement on an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_1 = 0.45$, $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, and $q = 0.95$.	42
3.4	Comparing the different expressions of the ϕ_{HM} of a ring resonator as a	12
	function of $ \sigma_1 $ and $ a_{eff} = \sigma_1 $.	44
3.5	Impact on the power (a & b) and phase (c & d) response of the through	
	(a & c) and drop $(b & d)$ ports when the cavity is undercoupled, critically	
	coupled, and overcouped on an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_2 =$	
	0.31, $a = 0.95$, and $\psi_a = \psi_\phi = 0.5$	45
3.6	Normalized effect length of the through (a) and drop (b) ports when the	
	cavity is undercoupled, critically coupled, and overcouped on an add-drop	
	ring resonator for which $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, $a = 0.95$, and $\psi_{\phi} = 0.5$	47
3.7	Input phase-dependent power buildup factor when the cavity is undercou-	
	pled, critically coupled, and overcouped on an add-drop ring resonator for	10
9 0	which $\kappa_2 = 0.31$ and $a = 0.95$.	48
3.8	Comparison of the power response an add-drop ring resonator for which	
	$\kappa_1 = 0.45, \kappa_2 = 0.31, a = 0.95, and \Delta \nu = 1.2$ THZ utilizing both the rate	ະຈ
2.0	equation and travening wave models as a function of $\phi = \frac{1}{\Delta \nu}$	52
5.9	comparing the travening wave model (1 W) expression of ϕ_{HM} to the two critically coupled limit cases of the rate equation model (BE) for an add	
	drop ring resonator (a). Quantifying the error between $ \sigma_1 $ values for a	
	given ϕ_{mur} between the travelling wave and rate equation models for the	
	two cases explored in the rate equation model (b)	53
3.10	Modelled effect of temperature on the magnitude of electrorefraction (a)	00
0.20	and electroabsorption (b) induced by electrons and holes via the free carrier	
	plasma dispersion effect for a dopant concentration $N = 1E + 18 \text{ cm}^{-3}$.	57
3.11	Modelled effect of strained SiGe alloys grown on Si on the magnitude of	
	electrorefraction (a) and electroabsorption (b) and bandgap narrowing (c)	
	induced by electrons and holes via the free carrier plasma dispersion effect	
	for a dopant concentration $N = 1E + 18cm^{-3}$ at room temperature	58

3.12	Cartoon illustrations of a p-n junction (left) and a SISCAP/MOSCAP	
	phase shifter (right).	60
3.13	Schematic of the dual-bus microring modulator for dynamic modelling in	
	which $\psi_{\tau} = \psi_L = \frac{1}{2}$	64
3.14	Example dynamic power response of the through (a) and drop (b) ports	
	due to loss and phase modulation from an integrated phase shifter	67
3.15	Example dynamic phase response of the through (a) and drop (b) ports	
	due to loss and phase modulation from an integrated phase shifter	67
3.16	Simulated frequency chirp (a) and chirp parameter (b) observed at the	
	add and ports due to loss and phase modulation from an integrated phase	
	shifter	68
3.17	Comparison of maximum relative error in magnitude (a) and phase (b) of	
	the large signal model through and drop response of the first 2^8 bits of a	
	27.5 Gbps $PRBS(2^{11} - 1)$ NRZ sequence and the expected degree of error	
	from a rate equation approximation.	69
3.18	Simulated stored energy during PAM-4 modulation and an input power of	
	1 mW	71
3.19	Simulated of voltage waveform illustrating distortion from its electrical	
	parasitics.	71
3.20	Estimated 3 dB bandwidth of the electro-optic frequency response of an	
	add-drop ring modulator for which $\tau_p \xi_1 \approx 0.92$ using the small signal	
	model (solid lines) and f_{3dBe} expressions (dashed lines) as a function of	
	$\Delta\omega\tau_p$	77
3.21	Simulated normalized electro-optic frequency responses of an add-drop	
	ring modulator in the optical power domain using the small signal model	
	(lines) and large signal model (solid dots) for various laser-ring frequency	
	detunings, along with the f_{3dB} estimation (triangle and hollow squares),	
	for both the through port (a & c) and the drop port (b & d) as well as for	
	positive (a & b) and negative (c & d) detunings. The hollow circles depict	
	the large signal model output for the in-cavity small signal response (b &	
	d), and the hollow squares indicate the 0 GHz frequency detuning case for	
	easier plot reading (a-d).	79
3.22	Contours of simulated of free carrier density (units cm^{-3}) in the phase	
	shifter at a 0 V bias (a) and the energy density of the optical mode (b).	82
3.23	Simulation of voltage-dependent effect index (a), propagation loss (b), and	
	capacitance (c) for a depletion-mode PN junction phase shifter on a silicon	
	photonics platform.	83

3.24	Simulation of electro-optic 3 dB bandwidth and ideal detuning (a), nor- malized steady state optical modulation amplitude (b), and $Q \& \mathcal{F}$ (c)	
	for a circular all-pass ring resonator with a bend radius of 9.74 μ m and	
	the depletion-mode phase shifter occupying its entire circumference. The	
	phase shifter is reverse biased at -0.6 V with a 1.2 V peak-to-peak mod-	
	ulation applied. The dashed black vertical lines in each plot indicate the	
	critical coupling point.	85
3.25	Simulation of the addition of a drop port to the ring modulator and its	
	impact on a few steady-state characteristics (a). Coupling coefficient mag-	
	nitudes of each port while maintaining the target electro-optic modulation	
	bandwidth (b). \ldots	86
3.26	Simulation of $ \kappa $ for a rib waveguide-based point coupler with a slab thick-	
	ness of 110 nm and a rib thickness of 220 nm as a function of wavelength	
	(a) and separation between the bus and ring waveguides (b) for an ideal,	
	vertical shallow etch and with perturbations from the ideal. The range of	
	variability in core width was assumed to be ± 4.25 nm, device thickness	
	± 4 nm, and shallow etch depth ± 10 nm. $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	87
3.27	Schematic depicting rings with straight point couplers (a) and pulley cou-	
	plers (b)	88
3.28	Simulated normalized optical eye diagrams for the through port (a) and	
	drop port (b) of the designed ring modulator. The driving voltage wave-	~ ~
0.00	form has a magnitude of 1.2 V	89
3.29	Baseband spectrum of the through port optical waveform.	90
3.30	Illustration of variation in resonance frequency in a series of rings on a bus	0.0
0.01	due to water-level dimension variations and spatial correlation.	93
3.31	Simulated frequency shift across a 4 V span for the simulated ring modulator.	93
3.32	Plots demonstrating now to keep the rings, interleaver, and QD-MLL	
	angled as the PIC temperature changes for the 3 regimes of as-comb ring	05
១	Simulated through and drop gradient for the given ving domust design with	95
J.JJ	0 V reverse bigs applied to the integrated phase shifter. The frequency	
	positions for the 0 aggressor carriers when the target channel being de	
	multiplayed is Channel 5 is overlaid onto the spectra	08
3 34	Simulated eve diagrams for the drop (a) and through (b) ports of the de-	30
0.01	signed ring demux filter receiving the ring modulator through port wave-	
	form on resonance	99
3.35	Baseband spectrum of the through port optical waveform before	100
3.36	Error rate estimation for the received eve at the demux filter drop port as	
	time decision level is swept and assuming Gaussian statistics to the symbol	
	levels (a). Coefficient of determination of the distributions at each symbol	
	compared to their Gaussian fits (b).	101

 4.1 Light-current output and wall plug efficiency of a QD-MLL (a). Optical spectrum Wall plug efficiency of generating the 20th comb line assuming 20 comb lines are used for data transmission (c). Comparison of the measured RIN for different comb lines in a QD-MLL spectrum (e). Colored spectra correspond to bandpassed individual comb lines measured in (d). Data courtesy of Mario Dumont and Boshang Dong	3.37	Plot of a simulated all-pass ring spectrum containing a SISCAP phase shifter as the amount of accumulated charge is increased	103
 in (d). Data courtesy of Mario Dumont and Bozhang Dong 113 300 mm wafer of silicon photonic transceivers (a). Micrograph of a silicon photonic 1 Tbps transceiver PIC (b)	4.1	Light-current output and wall plug efficiency of a QD-MLL (a). Optical spectrum Wall plug efficiency of generating the 20 th comb line assuming 20 comb lines are used for data transmission (c). Comparison of the measured RIN for different comb lines versus the entire spectrum (d). Comb state and RIN at 10 GHz for different comb lines in a QD-MLL spectrum (e). Colored spectra correspond to bandpassed individual comb lines measured	
 photonic 1 Tbps transceiver PIC (b)	4.2	in (d). <i>Data courtesy of Mario Dumont and Bozhang Dong.</i>	113
 (a). Measured transmission of edge coupler to SMF28 fiber (b). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics	4.3	photonic 1 Tbps transceiver PIC (b)	114
 4.4 Insertion losses of the silicon photonic polarization beam splitter and rotator (a). Measurement of polarization crosstalk for each path when the undesired input polarization is excited (b). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics		(a). Measured transmission of edge coupler to SMF28 fiber (b). <i>Data</i> courtesy of Analog Photonics	115
 tonics	4.4	Insertion losses of the silicon photonic polarization beam splitter and ro- tator (a). Measurement of polarization crosstalk for each path when the undesired input polarization is excited (b). <i>Data courtesy of Analog Pho-</i>	
 shifter is reverse biased (c). Measured electro-optic S₂₁ magnitude with the carrier +32 GHz detuned from resonance (d)	4.5	tonics	116
 4.6 Measured through, drop, and circulating inside cavity spectrum of a ring modulator with high input power	4.0	shifter is reverse biased (c). Measured electro-optic S_{21} magnitude with the carrier +32 GHz detuned from resonance (d).	117
 4.7 Resonance location of different ring channels (a). One line is a single reticle, showing strong correlation between different channels. Number of rings that can be tuned to the correct channel on each reticle (b). The maximum value is 10. Data courtesy of Analog Photonics	4.6	Measured through, drop, and circulating inside cavity spectrum of a ring modulator with high input power.	119
 4.8 Measured spectral response of RX ring drop and add ports (a). Backscatter sprectrum estimate from the drop and add responses (b)	4.7	Resonance location of different ring channels (a). One line is a single reticle, showing strong correlation between different channels. Number of rings that can be tuned to the correct channel on each reticle (b). The maximum value is 10. Data counters of Angles Photonics.	190
 ter sprectrum estimate from the drop and add responses (b)	4.8	Measured spectral response of RX ring drop and add ports (a). Backscat-	120
 4.10 Measured IV curve and optical attenuation of the variable optical attenuator (a). Measurement of clock signal using the VOA from 0.0 V to 0.8 V (b). EO bandwidth measurement of the VOA (c). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics. 4.11 OE bandwidth measurement of the receiver photodetector. Inset shows responsivity (a). Wafer-scale measurement of receiver dark current at 1 V reverse bias in nA (b). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics. 4.12 Overall Architecture of the driver IC. Image courtesy of Luke Theogarajan. 126 	4.9	ter sprectrum estimate from the drop and add responses (b) Measured spectral response a SISCAP ring resonator through response as it is forward biased (a). Instantaneous frequency detuning rate due to the	121
 V (b). EO bandwidth measurement of the VOA (c). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics	4.10	FCPDE (b) and the cumulative frequency detuning (c)	122
 4.11 OE bandwidth measurement of the receiver photodetector. Inset shows responsivity (a). Wafer-scale measurement of receiver dark current at 1 V reverse bias in nA (b). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics		V (b). EO bandwidth measurement of the VOA (c). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics.	123
4.12 Overall Architecture of the driver IC. Image courtesy of Luke Theogaraian. 126	4.11	OE bandwidth measurement of the receiver photodetector. Inset shows responsivity (a). Wafer-scale measurement of receiver dark current at 1 V receiver bias in $pA_{(h)}$. Data current of $A_{n}A_{n}$.	100
	4.12	reverse blas in nA (b). Data courtesy of Analog Photonics	123 126

xxii

4.13	The schematic of Control IC chip (a). Schematic of the photo current	
	sensing ADC (b). Image courtesy of Luke Theogarajan.	127
4.14	Micrographs of the control (a) and driver (b) ICs	128
4.15	Single channel, discrete component 10G link performance (a). Simulated	
	link performance comparison of idealized (Blue) and realistic (Red) optical	
	links (b); the yellow region is where the BCH(511, 484) FEC code can be	
	used to correct for all errors. Simulated FEC performance with simple	
	algebraic decoder compared with binomial approximation (c)	130
4.16	FEC latency with 20x interleaving of 511-bit blocks streamed through a	
	single wavelength channel operating at 26.4 Gbps. Courtesy of Mike Franke	1.131
4.17	FEC latency with 20x interleaving across 20 wavelengths and 26-way time-	
	domain interleaving of 511-bit blocks. Courtesy of Mike Frankel	132
4.18	Cross section diagram for a 1 Tbps system (a). Daughter card printed	
	circuit board for 1 Tbps system (b). Cross section diagram of simplified	
	25 Gbps system package (c). \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	134
4.19	Flow chart for assembling a packaged transceiver system	135
4.20	PIC pads that bond to the driver IC after plating and singulation (a). PIC	
	optical facet for fiber coupling after facet polishing (b). An assembled 25	
	Gbps package (c)	136
4.21	25 Gbps demo package after wire bonding (a). Fixing wire bond failures	
	with careful application of silver epoxy (b). SolidWorks model of the	
	packaged demonstrator test station (c). Side view (d) and front view (e)	
	of test station. Top-down view (f) and overhead microscope view (g) of	
4.00	25 Gbps demonstrator mounted to test station and fiber array aligned.	137
4.22	FAU attach hardware secured to a daughter card (a). Insertion loss	
	through FAU and PIC alignment loopback across wavelength and tem-	190
4 0.0	perature (b)	138
4.23	Micrographs of the flip chip bond pads of a PIC after it had detached	
	from an interposer. Gold-colored pads (like those in the red oval) indicate	
	regions of unsuccessful bonding, while darkened pads (like those in the	
	bonding	190
		190

4.24	Ring modulator fiber coupled and DC needle probed on its p-n junction	
	phase shifter and its monitor photodiode (a). The packaged control IC	
	chip (b). Ring frequency response shifting according to the applied bias	
	voltage change from the control IC (c). Scanning a ring modulator res-	
	onance by stepping the EO phase shifter bias and reading its monitor	
	photocurrent both with the contol IC (d). Locking a laser that begins on	
	the red side of a ring resonance to a photocurrent ADC value of 3600 (dot-	
	ted line) on the blue side of the resonance (e). Blue and red regions in (d)	
	and (e) indicate whether the laser is on the blue or red side of the ring's	
	resonance, respectively. While not recorded in this measurement, the time	
	step between samples is expected to be about 100 ms in (e), but that is	
	not known with enough certainty to warrant a time domain conversion of	
	the x axis; locking begins at sample 0	140
4.25	Link experiments and resultant eye diagrams. Elements enclosed within	
	a dashed box in (b), (c), and (d) indicate variations from the original	
	experimental setup in (a)	142
4.26	Energy budget extrapolations for a 1 Tbps system utilizing a QD-SOA. $\ .$	144
5.1	Schematic of overlay error affecting the placement of a mask	150
5.2	Plotting of the measured capacitance-voltage slope for a series of diodes	
	intended to estimate lithographic overlay error.	152
5.3	Schematic of racetrack resonator with red rectangles indicating ion-implanted	1
	regions. The case of ideal implant placement is shown in (a), while (b)	
	shows implant region placement with a die-level vertical misalignment to	
	the waveguide. The dark gray regions indicate full-thickness silicon, while	
	the light gray regions denote partially etched silicon	153
5.4	<i>FWHM</i> of the drop response of a racetrack resonator as a function of mask-	
	level (a) and corrected (c) separation between the nearest edges of the ion	
	implantation region and rib waveguide. Histogram of all misalignment	
	values extracted from fitting the implant window above the waveguide	
	dataset to the implant below dataset (b)	154
5.5	Illustration of a wafer implanted with a tilt angle θ and a twist angle φ	
	(a). Plot of simulation results showing the affect on relative twist angle	
	for an implant tilt angle of 7 degrees for a rib waveguide with a 220 nm	
	rib height, a 110 nm slab thickness, a 400 nm-wide core, and $\lambda = 1550$ nm	
	(b)	156

5.6Simulation and fitting to the normalized losses of a p-type implant step for forming a p-n junction overlapping with the waveguide and an implant twist angle of π (a). Plot illustrating the formation of the rectangular pulses for cross-correlation alignment using the logistic function fits to data (b). The pulses line color is linearly interpolated to aid in showing how it is stitched together, and an overlay error of 300 nm is applied between the two pulses. Comparing the cross-correlation alignment technique between datasets with twist angles of 0 and π for the implant to the actual input error (c). Normalized simulated loss curves with the crosscorrelation maximized overlay error translation applied (d); this is shown 157Simulation and fitting to the normalized losses of an Ohmic n-type im-5.7plant step overlapping with the waveguide and an implant twist angle of π (a). Comparing the cross-correlation alignment technique between datasets with twist angles of 0 and π for the high concentration implant to the actual input error for the two attempted fitting methods (b). Simulation of the degree effective index is perturbed for the Ohmic contact implant (c). Simulation of mode overlap of the Ohmic contact implanted 158Simulation, fitting, and sampling losses of an aligned implant loss curves 5.8with a tilt angle of 7 degrees for a fixed offset between the implant layer and the waveguide core as a function of twist angle (a). Plotting various ratios that can be constructed for a sine-like function (b). 159Plotting coefficient of determination contours while sweeping the align-5.9ment of the simulated loss curves for a variety of sine-like ratios and S = 1(a-c). Plotting of a composite contour of (b) and (c) (d). 1605.10 Illustration demonstrating how to translate the global maximum of the composite R^2 contour by adjusting the scaling factors of the constituent ratios that form the composite contour (a). Example of applying the scaling factors to translate the maximum of the contour to the location of 1615.11 Sketch of the shape of the ring resonator geometry utilized to test the refined theory of overlay error extraction of an implant dopant layer in the 1635.12 Experimental setup for measuring spectra of overlay error ring test structures (a). Resultant wavelength scan example (b). 1645.13 Fitting to the measured through and drop port with a split peak resonance.166 5.14 Depiction of how the extracted $|\sigma|$ can vary for an input M given an assumption of ψ_a (a). Reframing this in terms of the maximum expected

error in $|\sigma|$ extracted from the fitting when assuming $\psi_a = \frac{1}{2}$ (b)... 168

5.15	Extracted losses of a series of 84 ring resonators with ion implantation win-	
	dows stepped over the core in a series without an overlay error correction	
	applied	168
5.16	Plot of effective index perturbation of a 310-nm wide, 220-nm thick rect-	
	angular Si waveguide on 2 μ m-thick buried oxide as a 220-nm thick silicon	
	nitride particle of various widths is placed at different locations relative	
	to the silicon waveguide core center. The vertical separation between the	
	two material layers is 200 nm	170
5.17	Sketch of envisioning an overlay error of a circle as a rotational perturba-	
	tion of its radius.	172
5.18	Plot of intrinsic gap width and junction-core offset for a circular p-n junc-	
	tion phase shifter with perfectly horizontal charge depletion for which	
	$\mathcal{R}_{Out_0} = \mathcal{R}_{In_0} = \mathcal{R}_{Center}, \ \Delta x_{Out} = \Delta y_{Out} = \Delta x_{In} = 50 \text{ nm, and } \Delta y_{In}$	
	= -50 nm.	174

List of Tables

Chapter 1

Introduction

With the recent explosion in popularity of artificial intelligence and machine learning applications that will only continue to demand more compute power and energy as proliferation of increasingly more sophisticated models like Chat-GPT accelerates, one thing remains clear: in order to keep up with demand with minimal environmental impact, interconnects need to be able to transmit even more capacity with a lower energy footprint [1]. We are now in the Terabit Era.

Optical interconnects are the preferred means of transmitting data at distances in excess of 1 meter, but electrical interconnects are currently the better-suited choice from a cost perspective for on-board distances and very short lengths [2, 3]. Changing this paradigm requires the development of optical transceivers that are highly compact, scalable, energy efficient, low latency, and thermally robust in terms of the underlying constituent components: integrated photonics, multi-wavelength laser source, control and driving electronics, and packaging.

Developing short reach optical interconnects faces some fundamental problems, but there are established strategies that introduce some tradeoffs. For instance, energy efficiency encourages dense wavelength division multiplexing (DWDM) with lower baud rate and simpler modulation format [4]. Lower baud rates are preferred to an extent because current ASIC internal logic clock speeds are limited to approximately 3-5 GHz, and using a SERDES gearbox to convert from low rate ASICs to higher symbol rate consumes power at each gearbox stage. This ultimately results in an maximum data rate to target before the SERDES gets too hot and negatively impacts the energy per bit consumed. Additionally, 3D integration of electronics to photonics reduces parasitics between chips and preserves energy efficiency, and the underlying electronics must be simple to reduce power.

With regards to a multi-wavelength data carrier for DWDM links, quantum dot modelocked lasers (QD-MLLs) offer high wall plug efficiency, a flat comb, a fixed channel separation, a simple electrical pumping scheme, and a compactness that cannot be matched simultaneously by alternative options, namely distributed feedback laser (DFB) arrays and nonlinear optical frequency combs [5, 6, 7]. Some comb sources may also need to be thermally stabilized or require optical isolation; this adds to power consumption and may prevent integration of the light source onto a photonic integrated circuit (PIC) [8, 9, 10, 11]. Fiber comb sources also exist, but are comparatively much larger, require stabilization and a pump laser, and their repetition rates are too low to be practical for such an end use [12, 13].

Compactness encourages minimizing component size, placing components as close together as possible, and minimizing the number of components used. Maximizing the per-channel data rate within energy consumption limits aids compactness by reducing the number of transmit-receive unit cells needed in the system. Silicon photonics is a clear choice of platform for compact short-reach transceiver PICs due to its many features, including tight bends, high core confinement, phase shifters, modulators, photodetectors, and low-loss passive components, along with its cost effectiveness and scalability [14, 15, 16]. Key components in these silicon photonic PICs are wavelength-selective microring resonators used as modulators and WDM demux filters, as other components such as arrayed waveguide gratings and Mach-Zehnder modulators are easily orders of magnitude larger. Electronic unit cells for data encoding and reception must also be able to fit into a tight area constraint, and the 3D integration of the electronics and photonics must occur at relatively small flip chip pitches. Simple drivers with distributed logic for serialization is preferred over complex unit cells. Additionally, clocking and power distribution become challenging at tight pitches and need to be carefully managed.

Another aspect to consider is port count required to transport a given requisite capacity. Some may argue that it would be more energy efficient to have more parallel lanes and ports to cut out losses from WDM hardware. However, increasing the port count increases the footprint of the chip, and having more ports on such a short length scale can easily become unwieldy when the goal is within-the-package communications. Thus, there obviously exists a tradeoff between port count, number of channels per port, footprint, and energy efficiency. When the number of comb lines available from the laser source and the data rate per channel have reached their maximum limit, a port's capacity can be increased through multiplexing parallel data streams across fibers, polarization or modes of the fiber; polarization multiplexing comes with the benefits of using more commonly available single-mode polarization-maintaining fibers with considerably less coupling losses than compared to few mode fiber needed for mode division multiplexing [14, 17].

1.1 System Overview

Figure 1.1 illustrates the photonic architecture of the proposed transceiver. A 20wavelength O-band QD-MLL comb source with a channel separation of 60 GHz has its outputs coupled to two separate 1 Tbps (per direction) silicon photonic PICs; the 60



Figure 1.1: Diagram illustrating the photonic transceiver architecture of the system.

GHz channel separation chosen is set by the symbol rate to prevent cross-talk. The input comb power coupled to each PIC is split across two separate paths equally and is then deinterleaved into "odd" and "even" combs with 120 GHz channel separation that are then fed into micro-ring modulator (MRM) banks for data encoding. Deinterleaving is done both to reduce off-resonance losses by having fewer rings in series on the bus and to reduce inter-modulation crosstalk by increasing the spectral separation between channels [18, 19]. Each MRM operates at 26.4 Gbps NRZ with a 5.6 % forward error correction (FEC) overhead. A discussion on the case for FEC in compact, energy efficient links and its impact on link latency can be found in the following subsection. This modulation signal is provided by an electronic driver chip, and the ring resonances are stabilized by a controller IC. NRZ is the preferred modulation format over alternatives like PAM-4 because PAM formats are disadvantageous from energy perspective; their optical power penalty accumulates much faster than capacity gain. Coherent modulation formats are also possible to be encoded with ring modulators, but the receiver is too complex for high energy efficiency. Additionally, phase shift keying with ring modulators typically has a higher excess loss than amplitude modulation for the same ring modulator quality factor [20].

The modulated odd and even comb lines are interleaved together, and a shallow 209 MHz clock signal is encoded onto all channels for optical clock transmission via a variable optical attenuator (VOA). Optical clock transmission allows for simpler clock recovery circuitry and can reduce system power [21]. Prior proposals for optical clock transmission in similar links have allocated one of the optical channels for the data clock [22, 23]. A downside of this approach is the need for a dedicated ring site on the TX and RX that must align to one another — even when the TX and RX are at different temperatures and experienced different fabrication errors; this conflicts with the goal of minimizing power consumption introduced by DC tuning of rings.

The net-500G lanes then pass through off-chip quantum dot semiconductor optical amplifiers (QD-SOAs) before being polarization multiplexed onto a single 1T port for propagation over polarization-maintaining (PM) fiber using a polarization rotating beam combiner (PRBC); since the propagation distance is short and the carrier frequencies are in the O-Band, signal distortions due to chromatic dispersion and optical nonlinearity in fiber are negligible. It is optimal to place the optical amplification at this point in the link because it is energetically preferable to place it at a spot where optical power is already low, i.e. given desired target optical gain it will minimize optical output power which is proportional to electrical power consumption. While studies involving Mach-Zehnder modulators have shown that there are circumstances where the optical amplifier can be placed before the modulator to trade increased power consumption for a less distorted optical waveform, the power handling limits of ring modulators are likely to make this tradeoff less worthy of consideration [24, 25].

The receiver (RX) portion of the PIC first polarization demultiplexes the two 500G lanes with a polarization rotating beam splitter (PRBS); a small fraction of the power of each channel is sent to a photodiode (PD) that detects the clock signal for synchronization on the RX side of the driver IC. The rest of the power is deinterleaved, and then each individual 25G channel is demultiplexed by a ring resonator add-drop filter with a high-speed PD receiver on its drop port; the electrical output of the PD is connected to a receiver cell input on the driver IC.

As shown in the architecture, a complete optical link is composed of several photonic components that can potentially be at very different temperatures and come from different wafer fabrication lots. It is also noted that the laser, TX-side PIC and RX-side PIC can all be at physically different locations and may experience uncorrelated temperatures. However, components on the same PIC typically experience both highly correlated temperatures as well as correlated manufacturing deviations. Individual channels coming from a laser have to be aligned to the transmit side deinterleavers, modulators and interleavers, as well as to receiver side deinterleavers and channel drop filters. These have to be maintained over specified operating temperature range, which is specified for commercial grade optics as 0-70° C or a more relaxed 15-70° C [26]. Allocations must be made for fabrication-induced spread of initial component set points at a fixed temperature.

The integrated phase shifters commonly used for component alignment in silicon photonics is the heater, and it is recognized that reducing static link heater power consumption is a primary focus of increasing link efficiency [4]. There are ways to reduce static heater power consumption, such as substrate removal and optimized heater placement [27, 28]. Substrate removal may make the PIC more delicate and add complexity to packaging. Furthermore, it has recently been shown that the 3D integration of electronics onto silicon photonics with a flip chip pitch of 50 μ m degrades thermal tuning efficiency by 43.4% and increases the thermal crosstalk by 44.4% [29]. These thermal tuning performance metrics are expected to further degrade with tighter flip chip pitches in the aforementioned study. Another approach is index trimming by locally amorphizing and annealing the waveguide [30]; this allows for correcting of fabrication alignment errors, but not for thermal drifts. Athermalization of elements like the ring modulator using techniques like negative thermo-optic coefficient cladding are not worth the incurred penalty to performance from reduced core confinement [31]. Overall, the most effective way to eliminate heater power would be to eliminate the need for heaters, but phase shifters of some sort are still needed. Exploring this problem will be a recurring topic throughout this dissertation.

The lasers selected for our system also have three temperature-related effects that need to be considered. First, optical efficiency generally decreases with increasing temperature, impairing overall system efficiency. Second, optical gain shifts at a rate of roughly 80 GHz/° C for III/V material system. Third, optical channel frequencies shift at a rate of 18 GHz/° C due to III/V cavity optical length changes.

Given above considerations, we performed a detailed system energy efficiency analysis of various combinations for system thermal stabilization (including manufacturing offsets) and have selected the following combination as optimal for our system design. We implement athermal deinterleavers/interleavers, ensuring that TX and RX sides are well aligned. These serve as a thermally-invariant frequency reference for the optical link. The laser is designed to operate close to the system thermal range mid-point and a thermo-electric element stabilizes temperature either by cooling or heating, as needed. This provides a good trade-off between minimizing TEC power consumption and not penalizing laser efficiency at higher temperatures. Finally, ring modulators and demultiplexers are stabilized using the free carrier plasma dispersion effect (FCPDE, colloquially referred to as electro-optic or EO throughout this work), rather than with thermal heating. The trade-offs and design considerations are described in more detail in the following chapters.

This research and proposed architecture did not occur in a vacuum, and there are several other teams presently researching this topic [16, 14, 15]. There are some commonalities among the approaches and some marked differences. All use integrated silicon photonics, and in particular ring resonators, as a common core technology for modulation and demux. As a multiwavelength light source, some use DFB arrays [16], while others use integrated nonlinear frequency combs [14, 15]. Some comb sources have a broader repetition rate that encourages band interleaving rather than odd-even interleaving [15]. Some attempt to improve thermal tuning efficiency with techniques such as local thermal isolation [27], which serves as the basis for asserting later in this dissertation that even the most optimized heaters are not energy efficient enough to be used in this application. Some reduce port count with the use of multimode fiber and mode division multiplexing rather than wavelength interleaving [14]. Overall, the largest simultaneous system capacity demonstrated among these players in the present literature is 5.12 Tbps [32], and the lowest energy consumption is claimed to be less than 1 pJ/bit [15].

1.2 Dissertation Overview

This dissertation outlines work performed in the aim to practically realize the introduced architecture for dense, energy-efficient, high capacity links. The next two upcoming chapters will focus on the theory and design of three of the fundamental components: the athermal (de)-interleaver in the former and the ring resonator-based modulator & wavelength demultiplexing (demux) filter in the latter. Chapter 4 details the performance and theory of operation of each component in the system, outlines preliminary system integration experiments, benchmarks performance based upon those system tests, and proposes methods for making an even smaller, more energy efficient system. Chapter 5 discusses efforts to experimentally quantify lithographic overlay error in silicon photonics processes and their impact on device (and ultimately system) design and performance. Chapter 6 serves as a conclusion to the dissertation topic and proposes many avenues for future work.

References

- [1] Bolón-Canedo, Verónica, Morán-Fernández, Laura, Cancela, Brais, and Alonso-Betanzos, Amparo. "Green Machine Learning" ().
- [2] Keeler, Gordon A. "Optical Microsystem Technologies and Applications". *Optical Fiber Communication Conference*. Optical Society of America. 2021, M1A–1.
- [3] Miller, David AB. "Attojoule optoelectronics for low-energy information processing and communications". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 35.3 (2017), pp. 346–396.
- [4] Polster, Robert, Thonnart, Yvain, Waltener, Guillaume, Gonzalez, Jose-Luis, and Cassan, Eric. "Efficiency optimization of silicon photonic links in 65-nm CMOS and 28-nm FDSOI technology nodes". *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems* 24.12 (2016), pp. 3450–3459.
- [5] Dumont, Mario, Liu, Songtao, Kennedy, MJ, and Bowers, John. "High-efficiency quantum dot lasers as comb sources for DWDM applications". Applied Sciences 12.4 (2022), p. 1836.
- [6] Zheng, Xuezhe, Lin, Shiyun, Luo, Ying, Yao, Jin, Li, Guoliang, Djordjevic, Stevan S, Lee, Jin-Hyoung, Thacker, Hiren D, Shubin, Ivan, Raj, Kannan, et al. "Efficient WDM laser sources towards terabyte/s silicon photonic interconnects". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 31.24 (2013), pp. 4142–4154.
- [7] Lucas, Erwan, Yu, Su-Peng, Briles, Travis C, Carlson, David R, and Papp, Scott B. "Tailoring microcombs with inverse-designed, meta-dispersion microresonators". *Nature Photonics* (2023), pp. 1–8.
- [8] Buscaino, Brandon, Chen, Elizabeth, Stewart, James W, Pham, Thang, and Kahn, Joseph M. "External vs. integrated light sources for intra-data center co-packaged optical interfaces". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 39.7 (2021), pp. 1984–1996.
- [9] Zhang, Zeyu, Jung, Daehwan, Norman, Justin C, Chow, Weng W, and Bowers, John E. "Linewidth enhancement factor in InAs/GaAs quantum dot lasers and its implication in isolator-free and narrow linewidth applications". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 25.6 (2019), pp. 1–9.
- [10] Xiang, Chao, Jin, Warren, Guo, Joel, Peters, Jonathan D, Kennedy, MJ, Selvidge, Jennifer, Morton, Paul A, and Bowers, John E. "Narrow-linewidth III-V/Si/Si 3 N 4 laser using multilayer heterogeneous integration". Optica 7.1 (2020), pp. 20–21.
- [11] Huang, Duanni, Pintus, Paolo, and Bowers, John E. "Towards heterogeneous integration of optical isolators and circulators with lasers on silicon". *Optical Materials Express* 8.9 (2018), pp. 2471–2483.
- [12] Washburn, Brian R, Fox, Richard W, Newbury, Nathan R, Nicholson, Jeffrey W, Feder, K, Westbrook, Paul S, and Jørgensen, CG. "Fiber-laser-based frequency comb with a tunable repetition rate". *Optics Express* 12.20 (2004), pp. 4999–5004.
- [13] Newbury, Nathan R and Swann, William C. "Low-noise fiber-laser frequency combs". JOSA B 24.8 (2007), pp. 1756–1770.
- [14] Yang, Ki Youl, Shirpurkar, Chinmay, White, Alexander D, Zang, Jizhao, Chang, Lin, Ashtiani, Farshid, Guidry, Melissa A, Lukin, Daniil M, Pericherla, Srinivas V, Yang, Joshua, et al. "Multi-dimensional data transmission using inverse-designed silicon photonics and microcombs". *Nature Communications* 13.1 (2022), p. 7862.
- [15] Rizzo, Anthony, Novick, Asher, Gopal, Vignesh, Kim, Bok Young, Ji, Xingchen, Daudlin, Stuart, Okawachi, Yoshitomo, Cheng, Qixiang, Lipson, Michal, Gaeta, Alexander L, et al. "Massively scalable Kerr comb-driven silicon photonic link". *Nature Photonics* 17.9 (2023), pp. 781–790.
- [16] Hosseini, Kaveh, Kok, Edwin, Shumarayev, Sergey Y, Chiu, Chia-Pin, Sarkar, Arnab, Toda, Asako, Ke, Yanjing, Chan, Allen, Jeong, Daniel, Zhang, Mason, et al. "8 Tbps co-packaged FPGA and silicon photonics optical IO". 2021 Optical Fiber Communications Conference and Exhibition (OFC). IEEE. 2021, pp. 1–3.
- [17] Bian, Yusheng, Hirokawa, Takako, Karra, Vaishnavi, Dasgupta, Arpan, Lee, Won Suk, Aboketaf, Abdelsalam, Afzal, Francis, Sporer, Ryan, Nummy, Karen, Giewont, Ken, et al. "Monolithically integrated self-aligned SiN edge coupler with; 0.6/0.8 dB TE/TM insertion loss,j-39 dB back reflection and; 520 mW high-power handling capability". Optical Fiber Communication Conference. Optica Publishing Group. 2023, pp. M3C–3.
- [18] Padmaraju, Kishore, Zhu, Xiaoliang, Chen, Long, Lipson, Michal, and Bergman, Keren. "Intermodulation crosstalk characteristics of WDM silicon microring modulators". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 26.14 (2014), pp. 1478–1481.
- [19] James, Aneek, Novick, Asher, Rizzo, Anthony, Parsons, Robert, Jang, Kaylx, Hattink, Maarten, and Bergman, Keren. "Scaling comb-driven resonator-based DWDM silicon photonic links to multi-Tb/s in the multi-FSR regime". *Optica* 10.7 (2023), pp. 832–840.
- [20] Padmaraju, Kishore, Ophir, Noam, Xu, Qianfan, Schmidt, Bradley, Shakya, Jagat, Manipatruni, Sasikanth, Lipson, Michal, and Bergman, Keren. "Error-free transmission of microring-modulated BPSK". Optics express 20.8 (2012), pp. 8681–8688.

- [21] Georgas, Michael, Leu, Jonathan, Moss, Benjamin, Sun, Chen, and Stojanović, Vladimir. "Addressing link-level design tradeoffs for integrated photonic interconnects". 2011 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC). IEEE. 2011, pp. 1–8.
- [24] Nielsen, Mads L, Tsuruoka, Kiyotaka, Kato, T, Morimoto, T, Sudo, Shinya, Okamoto, Takeshi, Mizutani, Kenji, Sakuma, H, Sato, Kenji, and Kudo, Koji. "SOA-booster integrated Mach–Zehnder modulator: investigation of SOA position". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 28.5 (2010), pp. 837–846.
- [25] De Cea, Marc, Atabaki, Amir H, and Ram, Rajeev J. "Power handling of silicon microring modulators". Optics express 27.17 (2019), pp. 24274–24285.
- [27] Niekerk, Matthew van, Deenadalayan, Venkatesh, Rizzo, Anthony, Leake, Gerald, Coleman, Daniel, Tison, Christopher C, Fanto, Michael L, Bergman, Keren, and Preble, Stefan. "Wafer-scale-compatible substrate undercut for ultra-efficient SOI thermal phase shifters". 2022 Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics (CLEO). IEEE. 2022, pp. 1–2.
- [28] Ribeiro, Antonio, Declercq, Sibert, Khan, Umar, Wang, Mi, Van Iseghem, Lukas, and Bogaerts, Wim. "Column-row addressing of thermo-optic phase shifters for controlling large silicon photonic circuits". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 26.5 (2020), pp. 1–8.
- [29] Coenen, David, Kim, Minkyu, Oprins, Herman, Ban, Yoojin, Velenis, Dimitrios, Van Campenhout, Joris, and De Wolf, Ingrid. "Thermal modeling of hybrid threedimensional integrated, ring-based silicon photonic–electronic transceivers". Journal of Optical Microsystems 4.01 (2023).
- [31] Djordjevic, Stevan S, Shang, Kuanping, Guan, Binbin, Cheung, Stanley TS, Liao, Ling, Basak, Juthika, Liu, Hai-Feng, and Yoo, SJB. "CMOS-compatible, athermal silicon ring modulators clad with titanium dioxide". *Optics Express* 21.12 (2013), pp. 13958–13968.
- [32] Hosseini, Kaveh, Kok, Edwin, Shumarayev, Sergey Y, Jeong, Daniel, Chan, Allen, Katzin, Austin, Liu, Songtao, Roucka, Radek, Raval, Manan, Mac, Minh, et al. "5.12 Tbps co-packaged FPGA and silicon photonics interconnect I/O". 2022 IEEE Symposium on VLSI Technology and Circuits (VLSI Technology and Circuits). IEEE. 2022, pp. 260–261.

Chapter 2

Athermal, Fabrication-Tolerant Si-SiN Interleaver

2.1 Introduction

As mentioned in the previous chapter, requiring compact transceiver photonic integrated circuits (PICs) urges the use of ring resonator modulators and add-drop filters to avoid demultiplexing each individual spectral channel to its own separate waveguide with the use of bulky arrayed waveguide gratings (AWGs)[1]. However, an odd/even channel (de)-interleaver may still be an element required in these links to reduce crosstalk between neighboring channels from the low quality factors of the rings utilized. The most compact, low-loss, and low-power means of achieving a (de)-interleaver is an unbalanced Mach-Zehnder interferometer (uMZI). It is important that the free spectral range (FSR) of the uMZI appropriately matches the DWDM comb source channel spacing. The uMZI must also be aligned to a fixed spectral grid, and this alignment must be maintained in the presence of perturbations in temperature; this often requires the inclusion an integrated phase shifter in the device, such as a heater. An athermal uMZI would not require applying phase adjustments to the device as temperature changes due to the thermo-optic (TO) effect changing the phase between the arms [2], eliminating the need for a statically-on thermal phase shifter to correct for these thermal phase errors. To achieve athermality, approaches such as negative TO cladding have been demonstrated, but are not readily available in commercial silicon photonics foundry offerings and could degrade performance of other elements in the PIC, such as the high-speed RF modulators due to changing the core confinement [3, 4]. Many commercial foundry platforms include the potential for utilizing both silicon and silicon nitride waveguides [5, 6, 7, 8], so thermo-optic drifts can be reduced by designing passive elements like the uMZI in the silicon nitride waveguide, which has a TO coefficient about an order of magnitude smaller than that of silicon [9]. However, this is only a relative mitigation of thermal drift and is not capable of a true athermalization.

Additionally, these uMZIs are sensitive to waveguide fabrication errors that lead to accumulated phase offsets and require phase correction. These waveguide dimension fluctuations also introduce changes in group length imbalance that cause changes in FSR. A technique commonly leveraged to mitigate these fabrication tolerance issues is to widen the waveguide core to reduce the change in waveguide effective and group indices with core width and thickness fluctuations; however, once again, mitigation is not equivalent to achieving true fabrication invariance, and this does not offer a remedy for the magnitude of effective index change introduced by waveguide thickness fluctuations, which is relatively constant as a function of waveguide width [10].

A promising technique utilized in finite impulse response filters (in particular, uMZIs and AWGs) to ensure athermality or improved fabrication tolerances is to use dissimilar waveguides to form the interfering paths (either through different waveguide dimensions, different materials, or different modal excitations) to ensure an accumulated optical path length difference remains constant between paths of different physical lengths [11, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17]. Previous works have described how to achieve this compensation technique for at most two dimensions of interest at once and therefore would still require an integrated phase shifter [14, 15].

This work describes the compensation technique and its limits in detail, and measurements will be shown of an athermal Si-SiN uMZI deinterleaver on a 300 mm wafer in a silicon photonics foundry process. These devices achieve 6 times better athermality than has been previously demonstrated using a hybrid Si-SiN material system [17]. Further, this work proposes that simultaneous use of multiple core widths, materials, and modes allows for compensation of up to five dimensions of fluctuations simultaneously; this is sufficient to not require integrated phase shifters in the device if the resultant variations in FSR are within tolerances for the target application. Finally, this work outlines an approach for achieving athermal FIR filters on a silicon photonics foundry platform with FSRs sufficiently stable across a 300 mm wafer for next-generation DWDM interconnects.

2.2 Athermalized uMZI (De)-Interleaver Via Thermo-Optic Compensation

An example of a Mach-Zehnder interferometer with one input port and two output ports is shown in Figure 2.1. In the ideal case, the spectral response of an MZI in the electric field domain is a sinusoidal function impacted by the phase difference between the two interfering paths $\Delta \phi$ [18], and the two outputs will be 90° out of phase with one another:

$$\frac{E_{Out,1}}{E_{In}} \propto \cos(\frac{\Delta\phi}{2}) \tag{2.1.a}$$

$$\frac{E_{Out,2}}{E_{In}} \propto \sin(\frac{\Delta\phi}{2}) \tag{2.1.b}$$

$$\Delta \phi = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda} \Delta L_{eff} = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda} (n_{eff,1} L_1 - n_{eff,2} L_2)$$
(2.2)

In Equation (2.2), λ is the vacuum wavelength of the input light, n_{eff} is the effective index of a path within the MZI, and L_k is the length of one of the two interfering paths. Interfering paths with dissimilar lengths or group indices n_g will typically introduce a periodic frequency dependence on $\Delta \phi$; this period is the FSR, $\Delta \nu$:

$$\Delta \nu = \frac{c}{\Delta L_g} = \frac{c}{n_{g,1}L_1 - n_{g,2}L_2} > 0$$
(2.3)

Achieving an MZI deinterleaver like the one shown in Figure 2.1 requires $\Delta \phi$ to be an integer multiple of π radians at the wavelengths of the input comb source and for the frequency separation between neighboring channels in the input comb source to be $\frac{\Delta \nu}{2}$. If these circumstances are not fulfilled, a DWDM link can incur penalties from the subsequent increased crosstalk, losses, and signal distortion.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of an MZI deinterleaving an input comb of carrier channels onto two separate output waveguides. The interfering paths can consist of multiple core widths, core materials, and modes. The black box before the output is a 2x2 3 dB coupler.

Both Equation (2.2) and Equation (2.3) involve on an optical path length difference between two interfering paths: the effective length ΔL_{eff} in the former and the group length ΔL_g in the latter. Additionally, the inequality in Equation (2.3) is a convention that requires L_1 to represent the path with the longer group length in cases of finite FSR. This work will commonly refer to this as the imbalancing path throughout and refer to the other, whose length is represented by L_2 , as the compensating path.

The n_{eff} and n_g of a waveguide can be susceptible to perturbations in its core geometry and temperature, leading to changes in ΔL_{eff} and ΔL_g . When temperature fluctuates, ΔL_{eff} responds in the following manner:

$$\frac{\partial \Delta L_{eff}}{\partial T} = \left(\frac{\partial n_{eff,1}}{\partial T} + n_{eff,1}\alpha_{Sub}\right)L_1 - \left(\frac{\partial n_{eff,2}}{\partial T} + n_{eff,2}\alpha_{Sub}\right)L_2 = A_1L_1 - A_2L_2 \quad (2.4)$$

The term α_{Sub} in Equation (2.4) represents the linear coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) of the substrate and accounts for changes in the physical lengths of the paths over temperature [19]. A maximally imbalanced MZI ($L_2 = 0$) acts as one of two bounds on $\frac{\partial \Delta L_{eff}}{\partial T}$, which is A_1L_1 m/K. When the paths are instead balanced ($n_{g,1}L_1 = n_{g,2}L_2$), the other bound of the range appears: $\left(A_1 - \frac{n_{g,1}}{n_{g,2}}A_2\right)L_1$ m/K. These bounds aid in establishing criteria on whether a particular MZI can achieve the desired tailored thermal response; in the case of athermalization ($\frac{\partial \Delta L_{eff}}{\partial T} = 0$ m/K), there are two criteria:

$$\left|A_{1}\right| \leq \left|\frac{n_{g,1}}{n_{g,2}}A_{2}\right| \tag{2.5.a}$$

$$A_1 A_2 \ge 0 \tag{2.5.b}$$

The length ratio of viable paths that will achieve the targeted compensation in the case of athermalization, referred to as a thermal compensation ratio R_T in this work, is:

$$\frac{L_1}{L_2} = \frac{A_2}{A_1} = R_T \ge \frac{n_{g,2}}{n_{g,1}}$$
(2.6)

Equation (2.6) demonstrates that a long path with a small thermal drift coefficient can be thermally compensated by a proportionally shorter path with a comparatively larger thermal drift coefficient so that ΔL_{eff} remains constant with temperature. As long as this length ratio between the two paths is greater than the balanced MZI condition, a uMZI with the target FSR can be made with the desired thermal response using Equation (2.3). Additionally, if an athermal uMZI is achievable, inverting the sign of the thermal phase drift is possible with a smaller R_T than is needed for athermality. In other words, if the original uMZI response would red shift with increasing temperature, it could be designed to blue shift to some extent. Another observation is that a balanced MZI can be designed with an arbitrary nonzero thermal phase drift coefficient, which could be leveraged to produce a broadband optical thermometer with varying thermal sensitivity. This varying thermal sensitivity would be achieved by proportionally increasing the lengths of the paths to preserve the balanced MZI state while accumulating more effective length difference for the same amount of temperature change; an effective figure of merit for such a device would be $T_{\pi}L_1$ (where T_{π} is the temperature change needed induce a π phase shift), similar to the driving voltage figure of merit used for Mach-Zehnder modulators.

Designing a component to have a compact footprint is typically valued, as doing so enables more dense photonic integration and can minimize optical losses. The most compact means to achieve the target FSR is without utilizing any compensation ($L_2 = 0$), and any tailoring of the thermal phase drift through compensation expands device footprint. A figure of merit that indicates how much L_1 increases relatively to an uncompensated design with the same FSR, denoted by ϵ , is as follows:

$$\epsilon = \frac{L_1|_{L_2 = \frac{L_1}{R_T}}}{L_1|_{L_2 = 0}} = \frac{n_{g,1}}{n_{g,1} - \frac{n_{g,2}}{R_T}}$$
(2.7)

Equation (2.7) shows high R_T will result in a more compact design, which in turn



Figure 2.2: Simulation results of the effective index (a), the normalized effective optical length change with temperature (b), and the group index (c) of a 220 nm thick silicon waveguide with a top and bottom SiO₂ cladding and a silicon substrate at $\lambda = 1300$ nm.

relies on having highly dissimilar thermal drift coefficient magnitudes in the compensating and imbalancing paths. Other contributing factors that will aid in this endeavor are a high $n_{g,1}$ and a low $n_{g,2}$. However, the lower bound on Equation (2.6) suggests that R_T may be larger when the opposite trend of group indices is present.



Figure 2.3: Simulation results of the effective index (a), the normalized effective optical length change with temperature (b), and the group index (c) of a 220 nm thick silicon nitride waveguide with a top and bottom SiO₂ cladding and a silicon substrate at $\lambda = 1300$ nm.

Figure 2.2 shows the Lumerical MODE simulation results for a 220 nm thick silicon waveguide needed to design an athermal uMZI for the TE₀, TM₀, and TE₁ modes. This data shows that achieving a large R_T can be challenging to do by solely utilizing different core widths and/or modes in the same waveguide material; reaching a compensation ratio of at least 2 could be possible if the imbalancing path is in a low-confinement waveguide. As mentioned previously, many silicon photonics platforms introduce a secondary silicon nitride layer for low-loss waveguiding and improved edge coupling to an optical fiber mode, and the thermo-optic coefficient of nitride is 7.8 times smaller than that of silicon [9, 2]. The simulation results shown in Figure 2.3 suggest an athermal device consisting of a silicon nitride imbalancing path that is compensated with a silicon path can be made in which $\epsilon = 1.04$ when $R_T = 10.22$ using a nitride core width of 1200 nm and a silicon core width of 400 nm. Additionally, Figure 2.2.b and Figure 2.3.b show that the CTE term is a noticeable contribution to changes L_{eff} in silicon nitride, unlike in silicon.



Figure 2.4: Micrograph of the fabricated Si-SiN athermal interleaver (a) and its measured spectral response over the application's spectral region of interest across the temperature range of interest (b).

Figure 2.4.a shows a microscope view of a Si-SiN thermally compensating uMZI fabricated on a 300 mm silicon photonics foundry platform with $R_T = 10.48$, and the measured spectra of such a Si-SiN athermal uMZI across temperature between 20 to 80 °C is plotted in Figure 2.4.b [20]; it is expected that this device was made with a nitride core width of 1200 nm and a silicon core width of 400 nm due to this being the default foundry waveguide core widths. This particular measured device exhibits extinction ratios greater than 20 dB, an FSR of 119 GHz, and an estimated wavelength drift is about +0.5 pm/K, showing that the chosen R_T is slightly too large in this design, as predicted previously. This magnitude of wavelength drift is about 20 times smaller than what would be achievable in a standard silicon nitride uMZI (see Figure 2.5), and the measured wavelength drift aligns well with the theoretical expectation of +0.47 pm/K. Test structures on the reticle allow for the extraction of the silicon and silicon nitride core waveguide thickness fluctuations across the wafer, the results of which are shown for half of a 300 mm wafer in Figure 2.6.a & b. The silicon waveguide thickness varies by about 4.4 nm across the wafer and the nitride layer varies by 23.7 nm. Figure 2.6.c also illustrates the computed thermal wavelength drift across the wafer in the presence of these waveguide dimension perturbations is rather stable, indicating the practicality of this compensation technique to achieve athermal interleavers at wafer-scale.



Figure 2.5: Measured spectral response across temperature for a pure silicon nitride uMZI with 11 silicon ring resonators on its output port (identified by the overlaid black dashed lines). The red lines in the trace correspond uMZI maxmia and drift at +10 pm/K.

Despite this benefit of reduced thermal phase drifts, phase changes from both of these waveguide dimensions are estimated to exceed 1 radian/nm, and phase errors from core width fluctuations are of a similar strength. Therefore, an integrated phase shifter is required in this design to meet a specified spectral grid. Additionally, these waveguide dimension tolerances introduce FSR variability, as shown in Figure 2.6.d. The measured FSR varies by 3.3 GHz across the wafer with a mean value of 117.9 GHz. In a DWDM link application targeting 120 ± 0.6 GHz, the observed amount of FSR variation requires matching a comb source with the appropriate channel spacing to minimize the impact on signal integrity of the link. Since the channel spacing of the comb source is defined by the physical dimensions of the comb source cavity and is not easily adjusted [21], this would prohibit monolithic integration of the comb source onto the PIC. Therefore, in the name of compactness and energy efficiency, a means of mitigating the fabrication errors on system performance requires investigation.

2.3 Fabrication Error Tolerance

Utilizing the same approach to achieve athermalization in the previous section to eliminate the change in effective path length difference in the presence of waveguide core width fluctuations requires that:

$$\frac{L_1}{L_2} = \frac{\frac{\partial n_{eff,2}}{\partial w}}{\frac{\partial n_{eff,1}}{\partial w}} = R_w \tag{2.8}$$

Figure 2.7.a shows how the effective index in a silicon waveguide is perturbed by core width changes. The data suggests it is possible to compensate core width changes with a high R_w by creating the path imbalance with a wide waveguide and compensating it with a narrow one [10]. This can be done by utilizing a single mode, such as the TE₀.

Similarly, compensating for effective path length changes due to change in core thickness h would require to achieving the following:



(a) Si Thickness Variation [nm] (b) SiN Thickness Variation [nm]

Figure 2.6: Estimated change in (a) silicon core thickness and (b) change nitride core thickness across one half of a 300 mm wafer. These waveguide variations result in the following computed TO drifts (c) in the athermal interleaver and also its measured FSR changes (d).

$$\frac{L_1}{L_2} = \frac{\frac{\partial n_{eff,2}}{\partial h}}{\frac{\partial n_{eff,1}}{\partial h}} = R_h \tag{2.9}$$

In this case study of the TE_0 mode in the silicon waveguide, Figure 2.7.b shows there is not as appreciable of a change in $\frac{\partial n_{eff}}{\partial h}$ across the range of explored core widths as there is in $\frac{\partial n_{eff}}{\partial w}$, so compensation could not be achieved with a large R_h . However, it



Figure 2.7: Simulation results of the effective index change with core width (a) and thickness (b) perturbations of a 220 nm thick silicon waveguide with a top and bottom SiO_2 cladding at $\lambda = 1300$ nm.

is possible to get a compensation ratio of about 2-4 by compensating a TE_0 imbalance with a TM_0 path. This can be readily achieved with the use of integrated polarization rotators [22, 23].

2.3.1 Fabrication Phase Tolerance In Two Dimensions

Attempting to ensure a constant effective length difference in the presence of both core width and thickness fluctuations would require $R_w = R_h = R_{Fab}$. This can be done in the silicon waveguide by compensating an imbalance in a wide TE₀ core (Path 1) with a comparatively narrower TM₀ core width (Path 2) at a compensation ratio of about 3. To refine the similarity of the width and height compensation ratios even further, the compensating length could utilize a small amount of one or more additional modes to create a more tailored composite drift coefficient for the overall path. Additionally, since $\frac{\partial n_{eff}}{\partial h}$ is relatively stable with respect to core width in the simulated range, there are many potential TE₀/TM₀ core width pairs that should yield similar values of $R_{Fab,Si}$. For example, Figure 2.8 shows it is possible compensate for the fabrication errors in phase of a 800 nm wide Si imbalance waveguide propagating the TE₀ mode by utilizing a composite compensating of 99.8 percent of a 480 nm wide waveguide propagating the TM₀ mode and the remainder as a 280 nm wide waveguide propagating the TE₀ mode with an $R_{Fab,Si} = 2.96$.



Figure 2.8: Optimizing the compensating path for both waveguide core thickness and width fluctuations of an 800-nm wide TE₀ Si 220 nm waveguide at $\lambda = 1300$ nm.

In the case of the silicon nitride waveguide, Figure 2.9.a & b illustrate that compensating either one of these waveguide fluctuations at one time is possible utilizing a single mode. However, compensating for both dimensions simultaneously would again require utilizing multiple modes. The simplest means of doing so appears to be to compensate an imbalance in a TM₀ waveguide with a primarily TE₀ compensation path. Unlike in silicon, there is only a small range over which a compensation ratio between 2 and 3 is achievable, as shown in Figure 2.9.c. Specifically, the data suggests it is possible to create the imbalance with a 500 nm wide waveguide propagating the TM₀ mode which is compensated by a composite path consisting of 98.3 percent 700 nm wide waveguide propagating the TE₀ mode and the remainder in the TM₀ mode of a 2554 nm wide waveguide. The $R_{Fab,SiN}$ of this system is about 2.41. In this regime of maximum compensation ratio, both the compensating and imbalancing paths are noticeably unconfined, which could introduce substrate coupling losses; a localized substrate etch could potentially be leveraged to mitigate these losses [24]. Alternatively, a thicker cladding could be utilized.



Figure 2.9: Simulation results of the effective index change with core width (a) and thickness (b) perturbations of a 220 nm thick silicon nitride waveguide with a top and bottom SiO₂ cladding at $\lambda = 1300$ nm. Contour plot searching for the optimum core width for both the imbalancing and compensating paths to maximize $R_{Fab,SiN}$ (c)

2.3.2 Simultaneous Athermality And Fabrication Phase Tolerance

Attempting to achieve athermality and fab phase tolerance in a singular material like silicon would introduce even stricter constraints on the device design, as it would require achieving three simultaneously equal compensation ratios between the two arms in a singular waveguide core material (i.e., $R_w = R_h = R_T$). Referring back to Figs. 2.2.b & 2.7.a, the TO coefficient exhibits the opposite trend of the width fluctuations where more tightly confined modes exhibit a larger slope; therefore, the silicon-only compensation ratio that achieves this goal would likely be ≈ 1 . An alternative solution is to again utilize a second material to aid in achieving the athermality while compensating for waveguide dimension changes within each material layer. It is assumed the waveguide dimension changes will not necessarily be strongly correlated with one another and therefore it is not possible to compensate for the dimension errors of one waveguide layer in the other waveguide layer. This fabrication tolerant and athermal approach can be done with the same silicon-silicon nitride material system utilized throughout the work with the modes and waveguide dimensions utilized in the previous subsection to achieve waveguide core dimension compensations, along with their dictated fabrication compensation ratios. The resulting uMZI would look similar to the one shown in Figure 2.1 except with differences in mode utilization. A silicon nitride fabrication imbalancing path is present in Path 1 which is compensated in Path 2; the path assignments are reversed for the silicon waveguide fabrication compensation. Overall, Path 1 acts as the thermal compensation's imbalancing path and Path 2 as its compensation path. The corresponding path lengths would be as follows:

$$L_1 = \frac{L_{Si}}{R_{Fab,Si}} + L_{SiN}$$
(2.10.a)

$$L_2 = \frac{L_{SiN}}{R_{Fab,SiN}} + L_{Si} \tag{2.10.b}$$

Revisiting Equation (2.6) shows that athermality requires the following material length ratio to hold:

$$\frac{L_{SiN}}{L_{Si}} = \frac{A_{Si,2} - \frac{A_{Si,1}}{R_{Fab,Si}}}{A_{SiN,1} - \frac{A_{SiN,2}}{R_{Fab,SiN}}}$$
(2.11)

To clarify Equation (2.11), $A_{Si,1}$ is the weighted average thermal effective length scaling factor for all silicon waveguides present in Path 1. The composite TO coefficients from fabrication compensation lead to a thermal compensation ratio of about 2.22 with composite group indices $n_{g,1} = 1.6186$ and $n_{g,2} = 2.0036$. These parameters show that while simultaneous athermalization and fabrication compensation is possible in this design, there is a considerable thermal compensation ratio penalty compared to solely achieving athermalization. This is due to the fact that the ratio between L_{SiN} and L_{Si} is about 24.18 compared to 10.48 in the measured athermal-only devices; the comparatively low $R_{Fab,SiN}$ leads to the TO compensation being primarily conducted in the nitride waveguide rather than in silicon, expanding device footprint.

2.3.3 FSR Stability

An important constraint on DWDM (de)-interleavers is a precisely-fabricated FSR to match the data carrier frequency separation. Although phase changes at one instantaneous wavelength are designed to be appropriately compensated in the uMZI outlined in the previous section, this does not necessarily imply the compensation stabilizes the group length path difference, as it is also affected by how the waveguide dispersion changes with these fluctuating parameters. Analyzing how one of these variables of concern, such as nitride waveguide core thickness, contributes to FSR instability can be done via the following:

$$\frac{\partial \Delta \nu}{\partial h_{SiN}} = \frac{-\Delta \nu^2}{c} \frac{\partial \Delta L_g}{\partial h_{SiN}} \tag{2.12}$$

Figure 2.10 shows the simulation results for group length scaling factors with perturbations in both silicon and silicon nitride. Thermal expansion of the substrate is once again accounted for with changes in temperature as in the effective path length case; its impact on silicon is negligible, but it is a noticeable contribution to the silicon nitride waveguide.

Table 2.1 summarizes both phase and FSR variability due to perturbations in waveguide dimensions and temperature for a series of interleaver designs, both uncompensated and compensated in the ways previously outlined in this work; the uncompensated Si and SiN results utilize the TE₀ mode with core widths of 0.4 and 1.2 μ m, respectively, and $L_2 = 0$. For the outlined simultaneously athermal and fabrication phase-tolerant design at the target FSR of 120 GHz, the estimates of variable-dependent FSR drift indicate that the primary concern is nitride waveguide thickness, which is also true in the solely



Figure 2.10: Simulation results of the group index change with core width and thickness perturbations and temperature change of 220 nm thick silicon (a-c) and silicon nitride (d-f) waveguides with top and bottom SiO₂ cladding and a silicon substrate at $\lambda = 1300$ nm

athermal design in previous sections and the uncompensated nitride-only uMZI. The table also shows that introducing fabrication phase tolerance increased the magnitude of the nitride thickness FSR drift by 14 percent relative to the athermal design and by 45 percent of the uncompensated design, which could be sufficient for some applications. However, the target application requires the containment of FSR fluctuations to accumulate overall less than 600 MHz; given the estimates of waveguide thickness fluctuations in Figure 2.6.a & b, that is unlikely to be assured across a 300 mm wafer without changing the design approach and instead compensating for group length differences rather than effective length differences. Figure 2.10.e shows that the modes selected for phase compensation in Section 3.1 are not a viable choice for a high compensation ratio for FSR stability. Instead, compensating either a TE₀ or TM₀ imbalance with a TE₁ waveguide section should be able to achieve compensation ratios as high as about 2.7 and 3.5, respectively.

The performance of an interleaver where the imbalancing nitride path utilizes the TM_0 mode compensated primarily by TE_1 is outlined in the final entry of Table 2.1. Since there are now phase fluctuations due to nitride thickness tolerances of about 1.7 radians/nm and it is estimated the nitride thickness can vary by 23.7 nm across a wafer (as this was the absolute range of thickness on the wafer measured in this study), the phase of this device has once again become highly fabrication sensitive. Therefore, there is not a need for phase compensation for waveguide dimensions in the silicon, especially when device compactness is a concern. Such a device has an FSR which is suitably stable for the target application, and there is not a need to revise the design to compensate for FSR changes due to silicon waveguide dimensions. However, as noted, the stability of the phase response with waveguide dimensions is lost in the process; phase errors can be fixed with an integrated phase shifter but FSR errors cannot, so it makes sense to prioritize FSR stability. The downside is the continued incursion of an integrated phase shifter with a static power draw unless a means like waveguide index trimming is utilized [25], or unless a lower-power phase shifter technology is introduced [26]; however, the latter option is likely more disruptive to an established process than the former while also potentially requiring external feedback loops and having a limited tuning range. For future DWDM links with highly stringent energy budgets, any use of a heater is too energy consumptive, as some of the most efficient heaters would require allocating up to 7.2 percent of the entire system energy budget solely to tuning uMZIs in some architectures when energy consumption is limited to 0.1 pJ/bit [1, 27, 28]. Regardless of method implemented to overcome the fabrication-induced phase error hurdle, care will need to be taken to ensure this does not introduce a new means of FSR or TO phase fluctuations.

Athermal, Fabrication-Tolerant Si-SiN Interleaver

$\begin{array}{c} \text{Material}(s) \\ Compensated \ Variable(s) \end{array}$	$\frac{\partial \Delta \phi}{\partial T}$ (rad/K)	$\frac{\partial \Delta \phi}{\partial w}$ (rad/nm)	$\frac{\partial \Delta \phi}{\partial h}$ (rad/nm)	$\frac{\partial \Delta \nu}{\partial T}$ (MHz/K)	$\frac{\partial \Delta \nu}{\partial w}$ (MHz/nm)	$\frac{\partial \Delta \nu}{\partial h}$ (MHz/nm)
Si	0.62	5.8	9.3	6.2	-66	-2.9
SiN	0.14	0.4	6.0	2.1	1.8	110
$\mathrm{Si}/\mathrm{SiN}\ \Delta\phi(T)$	0.0047*	-1.7 0.6	-2.7 7.7	1.0	19 2.4	0.8 140
$\frac{\text{Si}/\text{SiN}}{\Delta\phi(T, w_{Si}, h_{Si}, w_{SiN}, h_{SiN})}$	0	0 0	0 0	1.1	1.9 40	9.7 160
$\frac{\text{Si}/\text{SiN}}{\Delta\phi(T), \ \Delta\nu(w_{SiN}, h_{SiN})}$	0	-0.1 0.5	-1.7 1.7	-1.0	1.8 0	-1.4 0

Table 2.1: A comparison of various modelled 120 GHz FSR interleaver designs and their susceptibility to phase and FSR deviations in the presence of changes in temperature and waveguide dimensions. An asterisk denotes a value taken from measurement. In an interleaver design with multiple materials, a bolded value in some fields denotes the parameter in silicon nitride. The compensation ratios, modes, materials, and core widths utilized for each device are listed throughout this work.

2.4 Discussion

This compensation technique as outlined has the narrow focus of compensating perfectly at one wavelength of interest; the quality of the compensation will degrade for large offsets from the target wavelength due to dispersion. In a DWDM system occupying approximately 1.2 THz of spectral bandwidth, this is not a primary concern, as demonstrated in the spectra shown in Figure 2.4. In circumstances where a broader wavelength span is needed, compensating for FSR drifts and phase errors simultaneously would aid in making the compensation's effects more broadband, and the limiting factor for spectral stability of the compensation would become second order dispersion. Alternatively, it may be possible to compensate for phase drifts at more than one wavelength by utilizing a wider linear combination of slightly different waveguide cores for each mode. However, both of these approaches are likely to result in a degradation in compensation ratio in the process.

Another caveat is the analysis assumes a uniform field of change. In a practical system, it is possible to have a non-uniform heating or a non-uniform device dimension fluctuation across the uMZI. A maximally compact implementation of the device results in the uniformity approximation being more valid, but there may be circumstances under which compactifying will not mitigate non-uniform perturbations, especially when it comes to temperature. Since different waveguide materials and geometries will have different thermal impedances and time constants, the various distinct regions of the device could be at different temperatures; since the model predicts the measured wavelength drift in the fabricated device rather well, this does not seem to be an issue within these measurements. However, this effect could be more pronounced in a time-varying temperature field and increasing the thermal time constant of the waveguides through substrate isolation [28]. Self-heating of the waveguides could also occur when the input power is high and approaching its power handling limits, which is likely to occur at lower powers in silicon than silicon nitride due to the relatively large two photon absorption coefficient in silicon [29, 30]; for example, a 2 pm red shift was observed in the spectrum of the measured device when the input power was 20 mW. In cases of high input power, it is expected to merely behave as a phase offset relative to low power and can be accounted for in circumstances when the time-average input power is stable relative to the thermal time constant of the device (e.g., CW inputs and high-speed amplitude modulation interconnnects) and nonlinear loss thresholds have not been achieved. Overall, extensive modelling and statistical simulation may yield more accurate results for a particular application[31]. Additional phenomena that would potentially be of interest to introduce in a more detailed model include verticality of waveguide sidewalls and the stress-optic effect [32, 19].

Successful utilization of path imbalance compensation with the means outlined in this

work hinges on maintaining pure polarization states in multimode waveguides and conducting mode conversions in compact footprints with low loss and sufficiently broadband response. Compact bends in the required modes are also of interest to reduce device footprint. Advances in optimization techniques will likely aid in improving these factors [33, 34].

The transitions between waveguide layers is done via evanescent couplers between both material layers, and some of the other required mode transitions also benefit from being comprised of multiple waveguide layers. These elements could be susceptible to errors introduced by fluctuations in the oxide thickness between the two waveguide layers along with overlay error between the two layers [35]; this in turn can lead to variability in their L_{eff} and L_g . It is therefore possible that an optimal approach to placing mode converters would be to locate those of a similar type (i.e., all requisite silicon TE₀ to silicon nitride TE₀ converters) as close to each other as possible and oriented along the same axis so that their group and phase lengths are as close to identical as possible, minimizing their impact on the device response.

Finally, there may be degrees of freedom remaining to be leveraged for improved performance that went unexplored in this work. For example, hybrid modes that use both core materials would produce a mode that is susceptible to changes in both material layers; however, as mentioned during discussion of multi-waveguide mode converters, this raises the possibility of susceptibility to intermediate cladding material thickness and inter-waveguide overlay error variations that would possibly also require compensation if utilized. Secondly, if a stable, uniform shallow etch is available, waveguide thickness could become an added dimension to leverage.

2.5 Conclusion

An exploration was conducted of the theory of engineering phase and group length imbalance within an uMZI to achieve a targeted performance in the presence of changes in temperature and waveguide dimensions via use of different waveguide geometries, excited modes, and core materials; additionally, leveraging a combination of these methods simultaneously has been proposed to allow for compensating for changes in up to five of these dimensions at the same time with greater ease. The model utilized accounts well for the thermal phase drifts measured in a fabricated device. Further, with a minor amount of process development, an outline is provided on how one might achieve simultaneously athermal and fabrication-tolerant FIR filters suitable for highly energy efficient and compact DWDM links on a 300 mm silicon photonics foundry platform.

References

- [1] Malik, Aditya, Liu, Songtao, Timurdogan, Erman, Harrington, Mark, Netherton, Andrew, Saeidi, Mitra, Blumenthal, Daniel J, Theogarajan, Luke, Watts, Michael, and Bowers, John E. "Low power consumption silicon photonics datacenter interconnects enabled by a parallel architecture". *Optical Fiber Communication Conference*. Optica Publishing Group. 2021, W6A–3.
- [2] Frey, Bradley J, Leviton, Douglas B, and Madison, Timothy J. "Temperaturedependent refractive index of silicon and germanium". *Optomechanical technologies* for Astronomy. Vol. 6273. SPIE. 2006, pp. 790–799.
- [3] Raghunathan, Vivek, Winnie, N Ye, Hu, Juejun, Izuhara, Tomoyuki, Michel, Jurgen, and Kimerling, Lionel. "Athermal operation of silicon waveguides: spectral, second order and footprint dependencies". Optics express 18.17 (2010), pp. 17631– 17639.
- [4] Feng, Shaoqi, Shang, Kuanping, Bovington, Jock T, Wu, Rui, Cheng, KT, Bowers, John E, and Yoo, SJB. "Athermal characteristics of TiO 2-clad silicon waveguides at 1.3 μm". 2014 IEEE Photonics Conference. IEEE. 2014, pp. 116–117.
- [5] Siew, Shawn Yohanes, Li, Bo, Gao, Feng, Zheng, Hai Yang, Zhang, Wenle, Guo, Pengfei, Xie, Shawn Wu, Song, Apu, Dong, Bin, Luo, Lian Wee, et al. "Review of silicon photonics technology and platform development". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 39.13 (2021), pp. 4374–4389.

- [6] Fahrenkopf, Nicholas M, McDonough, Colin, Leake, Gerald L, Su, Zhan, Timurdogan, Erman, and Coolbaugh, Douglas D. "The AIM photonics MPW: A highly accessible cutting edge technology for rapid prototyping of photonic integrated circuits". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 25.5 (2019), pp. 1– 6.
- [7] Giewont, Ken, Nummy, Karen, Anderson, Frederick A, Ayala, Javier, Barwicz, Tymon, Bian, Yusheng, Dezfulian, Kevin K, Gill, Douglas M, Houghton, Thomas, Hu, Shuren, et al. "300-mm monolithic silicon photonics foundry technology". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 25.5 (2019), pp. 1–11.
- [8] Rahim, Abdul, Goyvaerts, Jeroen, Szelag, Bertrand, Fedeli, Jean-Marc, Absil, Philippe, Aalto, Timo, Harjanne, Mikko, Littlejohns, Callum, Reed, Graham, Winzer, Georg, et al. "Open-access silicon photonics platforms in Europe". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 25.5 (2019), pp. 1–18.
- [9] Arbabi, Amir and Goddard, Lynford L. "Measurements of the refractive indices and thermo-optic coefficients of Si 3 N 4 and SiO x using microring resonances". *Optics letters* 38.19 (2013), pp. 3878–3881.
- [10] Yen, Tzu-Hsiang and Hung, Yung-Jr. "Fabrication-tolerant CWDM (de) multiplexer based on cascaded Mach–Zehnder interferometers on silicon-on-insulator". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 39.1 (2021), pp. 146–153.
- [11] Guan, Xiaowei and Frandsen, Lars H. "All-silicon thermal independent Mach-Zehnder interferometer with multimode waveguides". 2016 IEEE 13th International Conference on Group IV Photonics (GFP). IEEE. 2016, pp. 8–9.
- [12] Tanobe, H, Kondo, Y, Kadota, Y, Yasaka, H, and Yoshikuni, Y. "A temperature insensitive InGaAsP-InP optical filter". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 8.11 (1996), pp. 1489–1491.
- [13] Uenuma, Mutsunori and Motooka, Teruaki. "Temperature-independent silicon waveguide optical filter". *Optics letters* 34.5 (2009), pp. 599–601.
- [14] Trita, Andrea, Thomas, Abu, and Rickman, Andrew. "CMOS compatible athermal silicon photonic filters based on hydrogenated amorphous silicon". Optics Express 30.11 (2022), pp. 19311–19319.
- [15] Dwivedi, Sarvagya, D'heer, Herbert, and Bogaerts, Wim. "Maximizing fabrication and thermal tolerances of all-silicon FIR wavelength filters". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 27.8 (2015), pp. 871–874.
- [16] Tanobe, H, Kondo, Y, Kadota, Y, Okamoto, K, and Yoshikuni, Y. "Temperature insensitive arrayed waveguide gratings on InP substrates". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 10.2 (1998), pp. 235–237.
- [17] Hiraki, Tatsurou, Fukuda, Hiroshi, Yamada, Koji, and Yamamoto, Tsuyoshi. "Small sensitivity to temperature variations of Si-photonic Mach–Zehnder interferometer using Si and SiN waveguides". *frontiers in Materials* 2 (2015), p. 26.

- [18] Chrostowski, Lukas and Hochberg, Michael. Silicon photonics design: from devices to systems. Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- [19] Bovington, Jock, Wu, Rui, Cheng, Kwang-Ting, and Bowers, John E. "Thermal stress implications in athermal TiO 2 waveguides on a silicon substrate". *Optics express* 22.1 (2014), pp. 661–666.
- [20] Gao, Yun, Pestana, Noah, Deckoff-Jones, Skylar, Zheng, Jiajiu, Goldstein, Jordan, Netherton, Andrew, Shiue, Ren-Jye, Watts, Michael R., and Poulton, Christopher V. "Passive Integrated Athermal (De)Multiplexers on 300 mm Silicon Photonics Wafers". Optical Fiber Communication Conference. Optical Society of America. 2023, pp. M4I–3.
- [22] Wang, Linghua, Peng, Hejie, Zheng, Langteng, Chen, Huaixi, Zhang, Yazhen, Huang, Jiwei, Zhang, Xinbin, Feng, Xinkai, Wei, Rongshan, Wang, Shaohao, et al. "Broadband and CMOS-compatible polarization splitter and rotator built on a silicon nitride-on-silicon multilayer platform". Applied Optics 62.4 (2023), pp. 1046–1056.
- [23] Ruan, Xiaoke, Li, Hao, and Chu, Tao. "Inverse-Designed Ultra-Compact Polarization Splitter–Rotator in Standard Silicon Photonic Platforms With Large Fabrication Tolerance". Journal of Lightwave Technology 40.21 (2022), pp. 7142–7149.
- [24] Snyder, Bradley, Lepage, Guy, Balakrishnan, Sadhishkumar, De Heyn, Peter, Verheyen, Peter, Absil, Philippe, and Van Campenhout, Joris. "Ultra-broadband, polarizationinsensitive SMF-28 fiber edge couplers for silicon photonics". 2017 IEEE CPMT Symposium Japan (ICSJ). IEEE. 2017, pp. 55–58.
- [25] Jayatilleka, Hasitha, Frish, Harel, Kumar, Ranjeet, Heck, John, Ma, Chaoxuan, Sakib, Meer N, Huang, Duanni, and Rong, Haisheng. "Post-fabrication trimming of silicon photonic ring resonators at wafer-scale". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 39.15 (2021), pp. 5083–5088.
- [26] Jin, Warren, Polcawich, Ronald G, Morton, Paul A, and Bowers, John E. "Piezoelectrically tuned silicon nitride ring resonator". *Optics Express* 26.3 (2018), pp. 3174– 3187.
- [29] Xiang, Chao, Jin, Warren, Guo, Joel, Williams, Coleman, Netherton, Andrew M, Chang, Lin, Morton, Paul A, and Bowers, John E. "Effects of nonlinear loss in high-Q Si ring resonators for narrow-linewidth III-V/Si heterogeneously integrated tunable lasers". Optics Express 28.14 (2020), pp. 19926–19936.
- [30] Singer, Stefan, Trocha, Philipp, Zwickel, Heiner, Kieninger, Clemens, Kemal, Juned, Kaschel, Mathias, Menzel, Christoph, Randel, Sebastian, Freude, Wolfgang, and Koos, Christian. "Nonlinear Loss and Damage Threshold in Silicon Photonic Waveguides: Modelling and Experimental Verification". *CLEO: Science and Innovations*. Optica Publishing Group. 2022, SF3O–4.

- [31] Bogaerts, Wim, Xing, Yufei, and Khan, Umar. "Layout-aware variability analysis, yield prediction, and optimization in photonic integrated circuits". *IEEE Journal* of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 25.5 (2019), pp. 1–13.
- [32] Xing, Yufei, Dong, Jiaxing, Dwivedi, Sarvagya, Khan, Umar, and Bogaerts, Wim.
 "Accurate extraction of fabricated geometry using optical measurement". *Photonics Research* 6.11 (2018), pp. 1008–1020.
- [33] Siriani, Dominic F and Tambasco, Jean-Luc. "Adiabatic guided wave optics-a toolbox of generalized design and optimization methods". *Optics Express* 29.3 (2021), pp. 3243–3257.
- [34] Piggott, Alexander Y, Ma, Eric Y, Su, Logan, Ahn, Geun Ho, Sapra, Neil V, Vercruysse, Dries, Netherton, Andrew M, Khope, Akhilesh SP, Bowers, John E, and Vuckovic, Jelena. "Inverse-designed photonics for semiconductor foundries". ACS Photonics 7.3 (2020), pp. 569–575.
- [35] Netherton, Andrew M, Malik, Aditya, and Bowers, John E. "Characterization of Waveguide-Dopant Misalignment with Optical Measurements of Racetrack Microresonators". 2020 IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC). IEEE. 2020, pp. 1–2.

Chapter 3

Ring Resonators

3.1 Introduction

Silicon photonic microring resonators are of great interest due to their compact size, low power consumption, and scalability into wavelength division multiplexed (WDM) transceiver PICs. This chapter first serves as a tutorial for the fundamentals of ring resonator properties, as much of the outstanding literature does not unify variable definitions or outline what concepts are based on approximations and the limits of the validity of expressions. Integrated phase shifters for high speed communication applications will then be discussed. While several works have explored means to accurately model single-bus ring modulators, describing microring modulators with a drop port has received significantly less focus [1]; this chapter remedies this by developing both large signal and small signal models that capture the effects of the drop port. The model equations will guide a design flow of both a ring modulator and wavelength demux filter based on a process in a silicon photonics foundry MPW offering; considerations will be made for both individual rings in isolation and their interactions with each other in a system outlined in the introduction chapter.

3.2 Modelling

This section outlines the expressions and methodologies used to describe the ring resonator and its figures of merit in general and specifically to their use communication links. Since there are two main methods to derive a description of a ring resonator, this section will discuss the applicability of each to particular problems. This section will also cover modelling of integrated phase shifters and their impact on device performance.

3.2.1 Steady State

First, the behavior of the ring resonator will be explored in the simplest case: when all the input parameters are time-invariant. Such a scenario is illustrated in Figure 3.1. A ring resonator is at its core a directional coupler (with field transmission coefficient σ and coupling coefficient κ) that has one of its outputs connected to an input [2]. This produces feedback of light coupled into the cavity, accumulating phase ϕ and loss *a* while propagating around the ring, that interferes with transmitted light when coupled back onto the other output port. The ring can have more than one coupler connected to it (commonly referred to as an add-drop ring resonator); the extra coupler provides additional utility to the ring by allowing light to be diverted to another waveguide path ("dropped" when taken off a primary path and "added" when placed onto one). Adddrop ring resonators, their utility to drop light, and how the addition of the drop port perturbs established models will be of primary focus for this chapter.

3.2.1.1 Travelling Wave Model

The transmission function for a ring resonator can be derived by adding together all the paths light can take to reach the same spot in the system [3]. For the through port response, some light initially is not coupled into the ring, and some fraction of the light



Figure 3.1: Schematic of an add-drop ring resonator.

that was coupled into the cavity is attenuated by losses and accumulates phase from a traversal of the cavity, partially coupled onto the drop port, and partially coupled back out onto the through port; since some ever-shrinking fraction of light will always remain in the cavity after each pass around the ring, this summation is an infinite series. To aid in simplifying the expression for the though port response, the couplers are assumed to be lossless such that $|\kappa|^2 + |\sigma|^2 = 1$ [2]; it should be noted that the lossless coupler approximation breaks down for rings formed with tight bend radii and with small separations between the bus and ring waveguides in the coupling sections [4].

$$\frac{E_{Through}}{E_{In}} = \sigma_1 - |\kappa_1|^2 \,\sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi})^k = \frac{\sigma_1 - \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}}{1 - \sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}} \tag{3.1.a}$$

$$\frac{E_{Drop}}{E_{In}} \approx -\kappa_1^* \kappa_2^* \sqrt{a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi})^k = \frac{-\kappa_1^* \kappa_2 \sqrt{a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}}}{1 - \sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}}$$
(3.1.b)

$$\frac{E_{Circ}}{E_{In}} \approx -\kappa_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi})^k = \frac{-\kappa_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}}{1 - \sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}}$$
(3.1.c)

$$a = e^{\frac{-\alpha L}{2}} \tag{3.1.d}$$

In Equation 3.1.d, α is the waveguide loss in units of m⁻¹.

The power and phase response of the through and drop ports are plotted in Figure 3.2. In terms of power, it is a Lorentzian lineshape function that is spectrally periodic with ϕ that has a free spectral range $\Delta \nu$, much like the unbalanced MZI discussed in Chapter 2. In a ring resonator, $\Delta \nu$ is proportional to the group length of the path around the ring rather than to the difference of group lengths between two paths; in the point coupler approximation, the group length difference can be thought of as the group length of the resonator interfering with the transmitted light of the point coupler that has travelled no additional distance. Generally speaking, κ , σ , and a are also wavelength dependent; κ typically increases for longer wavelengths in the same waveguide geometry due to decreased core confinement [5].



Figure 3.2: Power (a) and phase (b) response an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_1 = 0.45$, $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, and a = 0.95.

The square root term in the drop port field response reveals an additional assumption: that the drop coupler is placed halfway along the circumference of the ring away from the input coupler. More generally, the transfer function can be written as:

$$\frac{E_{Drop}}{E_{In}} = \frac{-\kappa_1^* \kappa_2 a^{\psi_a} \mathrm{e}^{j\psi_\phi \phi}}{1 - \sigma_1^* \sigma_2^* a \mathrm{e}^{j\phi}} \tag{3.2}$$

$$\psi_a = \frac{1}{\ln(a)} \int_0^{L_{Drop}} \frac{\alpha(L)dL}{2}$$
(3.3)

$$\psi_{\phi} = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda\phi} \int_{0}^{L_{Drop}} n_{eff}(L) dL \tag{3.4}$$

An interesting observation is that if the drop coupler were placed closer to the input coupler, the drop spectrum would experience less attenuation. This is shown in Figure 3.3.a, in which there is up to 0.25 dB extra power to collect at the drop port than if it is located at the half-loss accumulation point for a = 0.95; of course, the benefit of this technique will be greater for lossier cavities and have diminishing returns for those with low round-trip losses. For photonic integrated circuits that prioritize energy efficiency and have exhausted all other modes of optimization, this opens up an additional avenue for shrinking power consumption a bit more. The drawback in making this choice is that the loss to the drop port is proportionally increased for the counterpropagating direction, which could hinder performance when light is intentionally coupled into both the clockwise and counterclockwise directions of the cavity. There may also be footprint-related issues in relocating the drop port coupler in another position in highly dense photonic integrated circuits. Figure 3.3.b shows how to drop port output phase relationship is also perturbed by drop port placement. In general, it appears coupler placement is an additional degree of freedom by which a designer can tailor the spectral response of the ring for the target application and should be aware of.

In the event where there is not a drop port coupler present (commonly referred to



Figure 3.3: Impact on the power (a) and phase (b) response of the drop port placement on an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_1 = 0.45$, $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, and a = 0.95.

as an all-pass resonator), $\sigma_2 = 1$ and $\kappa_2 = 0$; the through port representation and all-pass resonator is shown in Equation 3.5.

$$\frac{E_{Through,All-Pass}}{E_{In}} = \frac{\sigma_1 - ae^{j\phi}}{1 - \sigma_1^* ae^{j\phi}}$$
(3.5)

When comparing Equation 3.5 to Equation 3.1.a, it can be seen that the drop port coupler effectively acts an extra loss term on the through port response; having a drop port is indistinguishable from having more waveguide loss when looking at only the through response. $a_{eff} = \sigma_2^* a$. Equation 3.6 therefore represents the power response of the through port for both all-pass and add-drop rings.

$$\frac{P_{Through}}{P_{In}} \propto \frac{I_{Through}}{I_{In}} = \left|\frac{E_{Through}}{E_{In}}\right|^2 = \frac{|a_{eff}|^2 - 2|\sigma_1||a_{eff}|\cos(\phi) + |\sigma_1|^2}{1 - 2|\sigma_1||a_{eff}|\cos(\phi) + (|\sigma_1||a_{eff}|)^2}$$
(3.6)

One key aspect of describing the Lorentzian shape of the resonance is its full width at half of its maximum in the power domain, *FWHM*. Some approximations are available in literature [6, 7], but an exact solution can be found by applying Equation 3.7.a to $\frac{P_{Drop}}{P_{In}}$ to solve for ϕ_{HM} .

$$\frac{P_{Out}(\phi = \phi_{HM}) - P_{Out}(\phi = \pi)}{P_{Out}(\phi = 0) - P_{Out}(\phi = \pi)} = \frac{1}{2}$$
(3.7.a)

$$\phi_{HM} = \cos^{-1} \left(\frac{2 |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a}{(|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2 + 1} \right) \approx \cos^{-1} \left(1 - \frac{(1 - |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2}{2 |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a} \right) \approx \frac{(1 - |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)}{\sqrt{|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a}}$$
(3.7.b)

$$FWHM = \frac{\Delta\nu}{\pi}\phi_{HM} \tag{3.7.c}$$

Figure 3.4 plots the various expressions for ϕ_{HM} across the full range of losses a ring can experience. While all three expressions are valid under typical circumstances, exploring the extreme cases can provide interesting insight to the functioning of the device. It intuitively makes sense that ϕ_{HM} should be less than π for a function that reaches its minimum at $\pm \pi$ (by definition not half the maximum prominence of the lineshape) and that the two approximations are incorrect in regimes that defy this intuition. Using this exact expression, a fundamental upper limit can be placed on the full width at half maximum: $FWHM \leq \frac{\Delta \nu}{2}$.

While the output phase of the transfer function can be extracted from each point of the transfer function, generalized expressions for Φ of the through and drop ports can be produced by quantifying the contributions of each term of Equation 3.1.a and Equation 3.2. To simplify the expressions, the coupling and transmission coefficients can be rewritten as phasors and the imaginary part of σ_i is assumed to be negligible $(\sigma_i = |\sigma_i| e^{j\phi_{\sigma_i}} \approx |\sigma_i| \text{ and } \kappa_i = |\kappa_i| e^{j\phi_{\kappa_i}}).$



Figure 3.4: Comparing the different expressions of the ϕ_{HM} of a ring resonator as a function of $|\sigma_1|$ and $|a_{eff}| = |\sigma_1|$.

$$\Phi_{Through} \approx -\tan^{-1} \left(\frac{|\sigma_2| \, a \sin(\phi)}{|\sigma_1| - |\sigma_2| \, a \cos(\phi)} \right) + \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{|\sigma_1| \, |\sigma_2| \, a \sin(\phi)}{1 - |\sigma_1| \, |\sigma_2| \, a \cos(\phi)} \right) \tag{3.8}$$

$$\Phi_{Drop} \approx \psi_{\phi}\phi - \phi_{\kappa_1} + \phi_{\kappa_2} + \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \sin(\phi)}{1 - |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi)}\right)$$
(3.9)

When on resonance, no light will be output if the light that was not coupled into the ring at the input port perfectly destructively interferes with the light that has circulated around the cavity (o.e., $|\sigma_1| = |a_{eff}|$); this phenomenon is referred to as critical coupling. The other two cases $(|\sigma_1| < |a_{eff}| \text{ and } |\sigma_1| > |a_{eff}|)$ are respectively referred to as overcoupling and undercoupling; the more dissimilar $|\sigma_1|$ and $|a_{eff}|$ are, the more the extinction ratio of the resonance is degraded. The output phase relationship also changes. In the circumstance of an add-drop ring, critical coupling can also roughly occur also when the coupling coefficients of the input and drop port are the same and $a \approx 1$. When attempting to maximize the amount of power received at the drop port, it is key to maximize the coupling strength of both couplers and to also maximize a while preserving critical coupling. These statements are validated in Figure 3.5, along with showing that



 $\Phi_{Through}$ has a much more limited range when undercoupled.

Figure 3.5: Impact on the power (a & b) and phase (c & d) response of the through (a & c) and drop (b & d) ports when the cavity is undercoupled, critically coupled, and overcouped on an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, a = 0.95, and $\psi_a = \psi_{\phi} = 0.5$.

There are some good insights to be made about coherent modulation formats with rings given these equations and plots. Φ changes most quickly around $\phi = 0$, so the carrier should be aligned to the resonance. There is a specific phase difference that leads to a π phase shift with equal amplitudes, which is what is sought for BPSK, if the ring is critically or overcoupled on the through port. Only BPSK is really possible with one ring due to only having 2 equal-amplitude points for any available phase separation. For the drop port, a π phase difference of the output levels is always possible regardless of coupling conditions as long as $\psi_{\phi} > \frac{1}{2}$; more strongly undercoupled rings with larger ψ_{ϕ}
have an advantage at reducing the difference between ϕ levels to get a π phase shift output at the cost of reduced peak output power on resonance; if the reduction in outweighs the amount of drop loss introduced (like in Figure 3.3), an overall increase in amplitude at the π -separated points may occur. A similar situation is present for the through port: by overcoupling the resonator, a BPSK signal with lower insertion loss can be generated if a larger phase shift between levels can be achieved. Therefore, the competition between insertion loss and available phase shifting range should be considered one of the fundamental tradeoffs for ring-based BPSK.

This large change in Φ near resonance can be reframed as a wavelength-dependent effective length enhancement of the resonator, which has applications in using rings for dispersion compensation and designing lasers with external cavity mirrors containing rings [8, 9].

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}_{eff,Through} &= \frac{\partial \Phi_{Through}}{\partial \beta} = L \frac{\partial \Phi_{Through}}{\partial \phi} \\ \approx -L \left(\frac{(|\sigma_2| a)^2 - |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi)}{(|\sigma_2| a)^2 - 2 |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi) + |\sigma_1|^2} + \frac{1 - |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi)}{(|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2 - 2 |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi) + 1} - 1 \right) \end{aligned}$$
(3.10)

$$\mathcal{L}_{eff,Drop} \approx L\left(\frac{1 - |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi)}{(|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2 - 2 |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi) + 1} + \psi_{\phi} - 1\right)$$
(3.11)

Some popular formulations of effective length in the literature differ in their expression by including a $\frac{-1}{2}$ scaling factor [10]. Both formulations are application-specific, in that scaling factor is for computing the effective length of a reflective element to account for the π phase shift of the reflection and for propagating through the element between the input and the reflection twice. When dealing with a transmissive propagation, the scaling factor should not be included [11].

Figure 3.6 shows how L_{eff} is affected by the coupling conditions. As anticipated, effective length is of greatest magnitude on resonance. As critical coupling is approached from both the undercoupling and overcoupling regimes, the lineshape narrows and the magnitude increases. Undercoupled through port effective lengths are negative near the resonance. Additionally, the more strongly undercoupled the cavity is, the greater the drop port effective length. It should be noted that the drop port effective length is offset by $L\psi_{\phi}$ and will converge to $L\left(\psi_{\phi}-\frac{1}{2}\right)$ off-resonance.



Figure 3.6: Normalized effect length of the through (a) and drop (b) ports when the cavity is undercoupled, critically coupled, and overcouped on an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, a = 0.95, and $\psi_{\phi} = 0.5$.

The resonant behavior of rings also enhances field amplitude in the cavity along with imparting a strong phase shift. In this way, ring resonators and other optical cavities can be thought of as energy storage devices.

$$\mathcal{B} = \left| \frac{E_{Circ}}{E_{In}} \right|^2 \approx \frac{|\kappa_1|^2 |\sigma_2|^2 a^2}{1 - 2 |\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a \cos(\phi) + (|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2}$$
(3.12)

Figure 3.7 shows how \mathcal{B} is influenced by the coupling conditions. Much like the drop

port power response, the buildup factor is maximized on resonance and when critically coupled.



Figure 3.7: Input phase-dependent power buildup factor when the cavity is undercoupled, critically coupled, and overcouped on an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_2 = 0.31$ and a = 0.95.

There is discrepancy in the literature about the definition of Equation 3.1.c and therefore \mathcal{B} [3, 12]. Field amplitude is not necessarily uniform inside the cavity when losses and coupling is large enough, and therefore \mathcal{B} should be considered more of a sampling at a particular point in the cavity; this work has chosen to define \mathcal{B} for the point at the end of the propagation about the cavity whereas others choose the start. The ability to quantify buildup factor accurately at any point in the cavity is muddied further by the fact that coupling is distributed and would factor into buildup nonuniformity as well [6]. By including the accumulation of losses around the cavity can be computed with the following expression.

$$U \approx \frac{P_{In}\tau |\kappa_1|^2}{1 - 2|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a\cos(\phi) + (|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2} \left[\psi_L \frac{a^{2\psi_a} - 1}{2\ln(a)} + |\sigma_2|^2 (1 - \psi_L) \frac{a^2 - a^{2\psi_a}}{2\ln(a)}\right] \approx \mathcal{B}P_{In}\tau$$
(3.13.a)

$$\tau = \frac{L}{v_g} = \frac{1}{\Delta\nu} \tag{3.13.b}$$

$$\psi_L = \frac{L_{Drop}}{L} \tag{3.13.c}$$

In the above equations, τ is the round-trip transit time for a pulse travelling around the cavity. Calculating U with the highest degree of accuracy would also require integrating across the frequency span of the input power spectrum (e.g., finite carrier linewidth, data bands, multiple input carrier tones, amplified spontaneous emission).

3.2.1.2 Rate Equation Model

A second way to derive the expressions related to ring resonators is to instead frame the parameters in terms of the rate at which energy exits and enters the cavity [13, 14, 15, 16]. $|A|^2$ represents the amount of energy stored in the cavity, and the units of Aare \sqrt{J} [13]. This rate equation for A in the simplest add-drop ring resonator case is provided in Equation 3.14.a.

$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial t} = \left(j\omega_0 - \frac{1}{\tau_p}\right)A - j\mu_1 E_{In} \tag{3.14.a}$$

$$E_{Through} = E_{In} - j\mu_1 A \tag{3.14.b}$$

$$E_{Drop} = -j\mu_2 A \tag{3.14.c}$$

$$E_{Circ} = \frac{A}{\sqrt{\tau}} \tag{3.14.d}$$

$$\tau_{e_i} = \frac{2L}{v_g |\kappa_j|^2} = \frac{2\tau}{1 - |\sigma_i|^2}$$
(3.14.e)

$$\tau_l = \frac{2\tau}{1-a^2} \approx \left. \frac{2}{v_g \alpha} \right|_{a\approx 1} \tag{3.14.f}$$

$$\mu_i = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\tau_{e_i}}} \tag{3.14.g}$$

$$\frac{1}{\tau_p} = \frac{1}{\tau_l} + \frac{1}{\tau_{e_1}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{e_2}}$$
(3.14.h)

The τ_p term in the above expressions is referred to as the photon lifetime, and it represents how long energy is stored in the cavity before decaying by e^{-1} of its original value; its constituent terms are decay rates related to propagation losses and coupler transmission coefficient attenuation of the amplitude. μ_i is referred to as the mutual coupling rate and is used to describe coupling between the cavity and the through and drop ports.

The rate equation has the same form for all-pass and add-drop cases, just different photon lifetime contributions. Unlike in the travelling wave case, being able to approximate an add-drop cavity using the all-pass photon lifetime with an a_{eff} substitution only introduces no additional error in particular circumstances (e.g., if either $|\sigma_2| = 1$ which is not an add-drop ring by definition — or a = 1 — a perfectly lossless cavity).

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{l,eff}} = \frac{1}{\tau_l} + \frac{1}{\tau_{e_2}} \iff 1 - a^2 - |\sigma_2|^2 + a^2 |\sigma_2|^2 = 0$$
(3.15)

By representing A as a phasor, a solution can be found for the differential equation in 3.14.a.

$$A = |A| e^{j\omega t} \tag{3.16.a}$$

$$A = \frac{-j\mu_1 E_{In}}{j\Delta\omega + \frac{1}{\tau_n}} \tag{3.16.b}$$

$$\Delta \omega = \omega - \omega_0 \tag{3.16.c}$$

$$\frac{E_{Through}}{E_{In}} = \frac{j\Delta\omega + \frac{1}{\tau_p} - \frac{2}{\tau_{e_1}}}{j\Delta\omega + \frac{1}{\tau_p}}$$
(3.16.d)

$$\frac{E_{Drop}}{E_{In}} = \frac{-\mu_1 \mu_2}{j \Delta \omega + \frac{1}{\tau_n}}$$
(3.16.e)

Figure 3.8 show the through power response for a critically coupled add-drop ring derived from the rate equation and travelling wave models. The most obvious difference between the two spectra is that the output of the rate equation model is not periodic like the travelling wave model is (and how real devices are). On resonance, the two models do appear to agree well with each other.

Since the rate equation model spectrum is nonperiodic, the minimum value of $A(\omega) =$ 0. The *FWHM* can then be derived from Equation 3.16.b.

$$FWHM = \frac{1}{\pi\tau_p} = \frac{|\kappa_1|^2 + |\kappa_2|^2 + 1 - a^2}{2\pi\tau} = \frac{\Delta\nu}{\pi} \frac{3 - (|\sigma_1|^2 + |\sigma_2|^2 + a^2)}{2}$$
(3.17.a)

$$\tau_p = \frac{\tau}{\phi_{HM}} \tag{3.17.b}$$



Figure 3.8: Comparison of the power response an add-drop ring resonator for which $\kappa_1 = 0.45$, $\kappa_2 = 0.31$, a = 0.95, and $\Delta \nu = 1.2$ THz utilizing both the rate equation and travelling wave models as a function of $\phi = \frac{\Delta \omega}{\Delta \nu}$.

When examining Figure 3.9.a, it is clear the above expression for FWHM clearly does not match the one from the previous sub-subsection for all coupling coefficients and losses; however, there is agreement when $|\sigma_1| \approx |\sigma_2| \approx a \approx 1$ (i.e., when $\phi_{HM} \approx 0$). As shown in Figure 3.9.b, less than one percent error can be expected for $\phi_{HM} \leq 0.186$. This degradation of accuracy with higher losses is due to another limitation of this model: it assumes that the energy is evenly stored in the cavity such that $U = |A|^2 = P_{Circ}\tau$ [13, 17]; as established in the previous sub-subsection, the accuracy of this assumption is reduced as losses increase and photon lifetime decreases. One outcome of the low loss assumption failing is Equation 3.17.a underestimates the *FWHM* when losses are high. Another strange implication of the rate equation is that the upper bound of *FWHM* effectively depends on the number of constituent loss terms in the photon lifetime.

Since there is a limit on accuracy of the results the rate equation model can provide, establishing figures of merit that aid in determining the trustworthiness of the rate equation model's results would be of value, especially if they can be quantified in terms of parameters easily extracted from a wavelength scan. Two such contenders are finesse (\mathcal{F}) and Q, defined below.



Figure 3.9: Comparing the travelling wave model (TW) expression of ϕ_{HM} to the two critically-coupled limit cases of the rate equation model (RE) for an add-drop ring resonator (a). Quantifying the error between $|\sigma_1|$ values for a given ϕ_{HW} between the travelling wave and rate equation models for the two cases explored in the rate equation model (b).

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{\Delta\nu}{FWHM} = \frac{\pi\tau_p}{\tau} = \frac{\pi}{\phi_{HM}}$$
(3.18.a)

$$Q = \frac{\omega_0}{2\pi FHWM} = \frac{\omega_0 \tau_p}{2} \tag{3.18.b}$$

Revisiting definitions of τ and τ_P , finesse appears to be proportional to the number of revolutions energy takes around the cavity before decaying by e^{-1} . To that effect, finesse is a figure of merit of how well energy is stored in the cavity. Q is proportional to how many oscillations occur in the resonant frequency during the time it takes for energy in the cavity to decay by e^{-1} . Q is slightly simpler to collect from a measurement and is usually the reported value about a ring, but finesse serves as the more direct measured figure of merit regarding how well the rate equation model will accurately represent the system. It appears that in the travelling wave model, which does not include the photon lifetime, ϕ_{HM} serves as surrogate parameter for energy storage; the travelling wave model asserts a fundamental lower bound of finesse in ring resonators: $\mathcal{F} \geq 2$.

One way to reconcile the uniform energy distribution assumption, the nonperiodicity of the output function, and the disagreement in ϕ_{HM} with the travelling wave model is that the rate equation model is describing a travelling wave expression for which L = 0. In other words, the cavity is envisioned as a singular point in space in the rate equation model. This would require energy storage to be uniform, the presense of only one resonance in the frequency domain, and effectively force $\phi_{HM} = 0$.

3.2.1.3 Picking Between the Two Models

While the previous sub-subsection may appear to have been highly critical of the rate equation model, it most certainly has value. When describing more complicated scenarios than a single ring operated in a linear, cold cavity regime that does not exhibit any backscatter, the simplicity inherent to introducing these advanced phenomena into the rate equation model makes it an attractive choice [13, 14, 18, 19]; however, this does not mean implementations for a travelling-wave based model do not exist for similar scenarios [20, 21, 12]. Many of these approaches are focused in a high Q resonator regime and therefore are minimally impacted by the assumptions built into the rate equation model.

Another benefit inherent to the rate equation model comes from its usefulness in parameter extraction [14]. As mentioned previously, $|\sigma_1|$ and $|a_{eff}|$ are effectively indistinguishable in the rate equation model; this makes determining contributions from cavity losses and coupling from a measured power spectrum of a ring resonator tricky. However, when fitting to that same power spectrum with the rate equation model, each term can be identified because the effect of coupling appears in both the photon lifetime and the mutual coupling rate. In high-speed communication applications, the finesse of some rings may be low enough that using the rate equation model introduces some error to the design that is greater than the designer's tolerance, especially at progressively higher baud rates. Under these circumstances, best practice would call for establishing as many models that are needed from a travelling wave foundation; when making a travelling wave model would be too complex or cumbersome to implement, a rate equation approach could be leveraged, especially if there is a travelling-wave-based test to verify using a rate equation-based approach is not distorting the conclusions of the model.

3.2.2 Integrated Phase Shifters

At their essence, phase shifters operate by applying a perturbation field to a waveguide. The primary focus of this perturbation field for a phase shifter is to perturb the refractive indeces of the materials that form the waveguide by Δn , but losses can also be affected ($\Delta \alpha$). Change in waveguide effective index and loss can be determined by computing the overlap between the optical mode and the index and loss perturbation fields [5, 10].

$$n_{eff} = n_{eff_0} + \frac{\int \int E^*(x, y) \Delta n(x, y) E(x, y) dx dy}{\int \int E^*(x, y) E(x, y) dx dy}$$
(3.19.a)

$$\alpha = \alpha_0 + \frac{\int \int E^*(x, y) \Delta \alpha(x, y) E(x, y) dx dy}{\int \int E^*(x, y) E(x, y) dx dy}$$
(3.19.b)

In the above equations, n_{eff_0} and α_0 are the unperturbed effective index and loss of the waveguide mode under investigation, and E(x, y) is the electric field profile of the mode.

The perturbation to index and loss could be from any sort of available physical mech-

anism, such as a changing temperature field. The perturbative phenomenon of particular interest for high-speed communications in silicon photonics is the free carrier plasma dispersion effect (FCPDE), in which the displacement of free carriers changes the refractive index and loss of the material [22].

$$\Delta n = \frac{-q^2 \lambda^2}{8\pi^2 c^2 \epsilon_0 n} \left(\frac{\Delta N_e}{m_{c,e}^*} + \frac{\Delta N_h}{m_{c,h}^*} \right)$$
(3.20.a)

$$\Delta \alpha = \frac{q^3 \lambda^2}{4\pi^2 c^3 \epsilon_0 n} \left(\frac{\Delta N_e}{m_{c,e}^{*2} \mu_e} + \frac{\Delta N_h}{m_{c,h}^{*2} \mu_h} \right)$$
(3.20.b)

In the above equations, q is the elementary charge, ϵ_0 is the vacuum permittivity, ΔN is the concentration of displaced free carriers, m_c^* is the carrier conductivity effective mass, μ is the carrier mobility, and subscripts e and h denote carrier type (electron or hole, respectively). As can be seen in the above equations, the displacement of free carriers induces a local perturbation in the refractive index and loss. For example, as charge is accumulated, effective index decreases, resulting in a blue shift when this occurs inside a ring resonator; this is accompanied by an increase in losses, which can make the ring more undercoupled. As can also be deduced from these expressions, displaced holes and electrons impart different magnitudes of index and charge change; under most circumstances, a displaced concentration of holes with perturb index more and loss less than the same concentration of displaced electrons [5]. Further, the magnitude of the index and loss perturbations increases as wavelength increases. Displacing more charge increases the magnitude of the loss and index changes, though there is a regime for dopant concentrations around $1E+18 \text{ cm}^{-3}$ in which a significant fraction of carriers will not be ionized due to the dopant band still being separated from the conduction/valence band and not enough thermal energy to ionize all the dopants (reducing the amount of available free carriers) [23].

Another avenue for enhancing the magnitude of effective shift is to change the carrier transport properties of the waveguide materials. One method that would do so is increasing temperature, which will perturb many of the terms in the free carrier plasma dispersion effect equations, including material refractive index, carrier mobility, conductivity effective mass, and the fraction of ionized charge [24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 23]. Figure 3.10 shows the index changes between room temperature and 80° C can be about 10 percent for holes, and losses for holes can increase by about 30 percent. Separately from a mechanism to leverage, this temperature-dependent performance should be kept in mind when designing devices that operate across a broad temperature range to ensure adequate performance throughout the entire temperature span.



Figure 3.10: Modelled effect of temperature on the magnitude of electrorefraction (a) and electroabsorption (b) induced by electrons and holes via the free carrier plasma dispersion effect for a dopant concentration $N = 1\text{E}+18\text{cm}^{-3}$.

An additional means to affect carrier transport would be to change the material composition or introduce strain (which is induced when dissimilar materials are grown on one another); one commonly proposed method is to use $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ alloys to enhance hole mobility and reduce effective mass [29, 28, 30]. To explore the potential value, a model was constructed to estimate how alloy fraction may enhance the free carrier

plasma dispersion effect magnitude at room temperature compared to pure Si [29, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38], and the results are plotted in Figure 3.11. It can be seen that the anticipated loss increase from displaced electrons is disproportionate to magnitude of index perturbation, and therefore introducing SiGe would only be worthwhile for enhancing hole displacement. The maximum alloy fraction allowed would depend on operating wavelength due to bandgap narrowing introducing absorption. While certainly not trivial to introduce into a foundry process, the boost to tuning efficiency strained SiGe phase shifters could bring combined with the relatively low cost to do so compared to other materials (such as III-V) may make it an appealing option to realize compact and energy efficient links of the future.



Figure 3.11: Modelled effect of strained SiGe alloys grown on Si on the magnitude of electrorefraction (a) and electroabsorption (b) and bandgap narrowing (c) induced by electrons and holes via the free carrier plasma dispersion effect for a dopant concentration $N = 1\text{E}+18\text{cm}^{-3}$ at room temperature.

Commonly-available device structures for leveraging the free carrier plasma dispersion effect are the p-n junction, metal-insulator-semiconductor capacitor (MOSCAP), and semiconductor-insulator-semiconductor capacitor (SISCAP) [39]; illustrations of both devices are shown in Figure 3.12. It is also possible to induce electrostatic doping with a large substrate or gate bias [40, 41], but this will not be a primary feature of the discussion.

Phase shifter based on p-n junctions can displace charge either in forward bias by

injecting carriers or depleting carriers in reverse bias; carrier depletion is typically a weaker phenomenon than injection, but injection is much slower due to being limited by the minority carrier lifetime [42]. Depletion-based ring modulators have been demonstrated at data rates in excess of 100 GBaud [43]; since the p-n junction is formed via ion implantation, complex cross-sectional geometries can be formed to maximize the charge displacement overlap with the optical mode [44, 45]. Periodically interdigitated p-n junctions can also be formed to introduce displacement in the longitudinal dimension, but the junction profile formed is sensitive to effects like lithographic resolution limits and the lateral spreading of the implanted dopants [46, 47].

MOSCAP/SISCAP phase shifters are usually operated in accumulation mode and are typically able to displace more charge than a depletion-mode phase shifter, but they are typically more complicated to manufacture due to needing to form a thin gate dieletric between the two electrodes. There are multiple waveguide geometries (with either vertical or horizontal capacitor interfaces) and material systems to pair with silicon photonics to achieve these device structure, such as deposited polycrystalline silicon or bonded III-V material [30, 48, 49, 50]. Polycrystalline silicon has the advantage of being more easily integrated into a foundry process than bonded III-V material, but its higher losses and worse carrier transport properties could induce a performance penalty compared to using III-V as the second terminal of the capacitor. However, the enhanced carrier recombination rates of polycrystalline silicon may improve its power handling capabilities, as self-heating is enhanced by two-photon absorption induced free carrier absorption [18, 12]. Finally, the amount of total charge these acccumulation mode devices can displace is limited by dielectric breakdown voltage of the capacitor. Using a gate dielectric with a high relative permittivity ϵ_r such as HfO₂ would increase the breakdown voltage limit and allow for greater accumulation of charge at the cost of increased capacitance [39].

Most ring modulator phase shifters are small enough to be approximated as a lumped



Figure 3.12: Cartoon illustrations of a p-n junction (left) and a SISCAP/MOSCAP phase shifter (right).

electrical element. The depletion-mode p-n junction phase shifter and the MOSCAP/SISCAP devices have a similar equivalent circuit: a load capacitance C with a parasitic series resistance R_S . Capacitance can be defined as follows:

$$C = \left| \frac{\partial Q}{\partial V} \right| \approx \frac{\epsilon_0 \epsilon_r A}{d} \tag{3.21}$$

In the above expression, Q is total charge, A is the surface area of a parallel plate capacitor approximation, and d is the gap between parallel plates. Since the amount of charge displaced is voltage-dependent for both depletion p-n junctions and MOSCAP/SISCAP devices, the capacitance is also voltage dependent; to first order, this can be modelled as a parallel plate capacitor with a voltage-dependent gap between the electrodes [39]. However, built into the parallel plate capacitor approximation requries that the gap between the electrodes is significantly smaller than the width and length of the parallel plates; this does not always hold true in these phase shifter elements, and fringing fields can contribute a noticeable additional fraction to the capacitance [51].

The series resistance of a circular arc of phase θ can be described with the following equations:

$$R_{S,Circular} = \frac{R_{\Box}}{\theta} \ln\left(\frac{r_{Out}}{r_{In}}\right)$$
(3.22.a)

$$R_{\Box} = \frac{1}{\int_{0}^{h} \frac{1}{\rho(x)} dx}$$
(3.22.b)

$$\frac{1}{\rho} = q(N_e\mu_e + N_h\mu_h) \tag{3.22.c}$$

In the above equations, R_{\Box} is the sheet resistance, r_{Out} and r_{In} are the out and inner radius of the circular arc, h is the thickness of the implanted region, and ρ is the resistivity of the implanted region. Ion implantation means the charge distribution is not uniform because ion implantation profiles typically have a spatial Gaussian distribution associated with them [52]. Overall, the best results for modelling charge displacement and electrical parasitics will come from finite element modelling [5]. Like the FCPDE magnitude, series resistance is also temperature dependent due to changes in carrier mobility [25, 26].

The more fundamental expression of capacitance above also reveals a tradeoff of FCPDE-based phase shifters: developing a stronger phase shift for the same magnitude of applied voltage requires increasing $\frac{\partial Q}{\partial V} = C$. Therefore, more efficient FCPDE phase shifters typically have higher capacitance.

Since what is of primary concern is maximizing the change in effective index, manipulating the waveguide geometry can also be leveraged to maximize phase shift efficiency. This is done by ensuring that the charge displacement is occurring at the peak intensity of the optical mode and designing a waveguide cross section that tightly confines the mode and enhances peak intensity. In rib waveguides, one method that can be used to increase confinement is to increase the depth of the shallow etch that forms the rib [51]. Depending on the curvature of the waveguide, the peak intensity of the mode may not be at the same position it would be at in a straight waveguide [53]. Some manipulations intended to enhance effective index change could also increase electrical parasitics. For example increasing the shallow etch depth to form a rib waveguide increases core confinement, but also increases series resistance [51].

A more complete electrical model would include electrical parasitics from the pads, vias, interconnects, and substrate to increase the accuracy [54]. Modelling the SISCAP structure accurately would also require knowledge of the electrical and optical characteristics of polycrystalline silicon. Finally, a more complete description of the magnitude of refractive index change these phase shifters induce would include secondary phenomena such as the DC Kerr effect [55, 56].

3.2.3 Large Signal Domain

Describing the large signal response is not of import solely for modulators, but also rings who optical input is time-domain varying such as the WDM demux filter. Passive time-invariant filters in a cold cavity regime can use simple rational models [57] or take the Fourier transform of the input signal to the filter function; something gained from using a dynamic large signal model such as the one in this subsection instead would be to include effects that typically might be ignored, such as the impact on signal integrity that the a stabilizing circuit has on a ring-based demux filter undergoing temperature variations [58].

Since it has been shown in the previous subsection that the rate equation model may not be the most accurate choice for cavities with high losses (such as high speed ring modulators and WDM demux filters), the travelling wave model will be the basis of the large signal domain modelling in this chapter rather than the rate equation model (though there are also implementations of simulating ring modulators with a rate-equation based large signal model [1, 59]). Several assumptions are in place in the current model: that there is no field present at the add port, that there is no backscatter or backcoupling, that there is no loss associated with the couplers such that $\sigma_j^2(t) = 1 - \kappa_j^2(t)$, that the coupling occurs at an instantaneous point in space, and that the two bus waveguides coupled to the ring are placed apart such that the time difference between the two ports normalized to round trip transit time τ , ψ_{τ} , is rational. The significance of the final assumption is that it allows for discretizing the ring into even segments in the time domain; in the simplest case, $\psi_{\tau} = \frac{1}{2}$, and that is what will primarily be used in this chapter; temporal discretization is a feature introduced into this model that was absent from prior work to be able to introduce a drop port. As shown in Figure 3.13, the round-trip phase and propagation loss is discretized for the two distinct sections between the bus waveguides (expressed as $\phi_k(t)$ and $\alpha_k(t)$ for phase and loss, respectively, and k is an integer denoting the corresponding subsection of the ring); it is suspected that further discretization could aid in more advanced modelling scenarios, such as a cavity with more than two couplers, couplers placed at irregular intervals, pulley couplers, backscatter, backcoupling, segmented phase shifters, coupled cavities, nonuniformity of refractive index and loss distributions, nonlinearities, and capturing any potential phenomena with time constants much smaller than τ .

Let us consider the impact of what happens when the drop port is placed such that it is not $\frac{\tau}{2}$ away in time from the input port (which, once again, is not necessarily $\frac{L}{2}$ away in physical distance) with a ring that has been discretized into two regions. Much like how the add-drop model would be affected in terms of accumulated loss and phase distribution, this model can be affected by a simultaneously nonuniform and asymmetric group index distribution across the cavity in that one segment would take longer than $\frac{\tau}{2}$ to traverse one segment and shorter than $\frac{\tau}{2}$ for the other if the discretization were placed halfway around the physical length rather than the group length. Further, if higher levels of discretization are employed, these segments should be evenly distributed in time rather than space. Finally, it is assumed that the changes in group index negligibly perturb τ such that it can be assumed constant rather than also a time-varying parameter; if this did not hold, the K spatial discretizations employed would need to move dynamically such that their temporal separation remained $\frac{\tau(t)}{K}$.

The large signal model for the through port, much like the steady state travelling wave model, can be constructed by tracking the accumulated loss, phase, coupling, and transmissions that occur during a revolution around the ring and relating the circulating field amplitude to the input and transmitted values [60, 2]. This leads to the dynamic response of the present being dependent on the dynamic response in the past. The solution can be found by using the Fredholm integral of the second kind [42].



Figure 3.13: Schematic of the dual-bus microring modulator for dynamic modelling in which $\psi_{\tau} = \psi_L = \frac{1}{2}$.

$$T_{Through}(t) = \frac{E_{Through}(t)}{E_{In}(t)}$$

= $\sigma_1(t) - \frac{\kappa_1(t)}{\kappa_1(t-\tau)} \sigma_2^*(t-(1-\psi_{\tau})\tau) a(t) e^{j\phi(t)} \frac{E_{In}(t-\tau)}{E_{In}(t)} [\sigma_1^*(t-\tau)T_{Through}(t-\tau) - 1]$
(3.23.a)

$$T_{Through}(t) \approx \Xi(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[\frac{\kappa_1(t)\Xi(t-n\tau)}{\kappa_1^*(t-n\tau)} \times \prod_{m=0}^{n-1} \sigma_1^*(t-(m+1)\tau)\Upsilon(t-m\tau) \right]$$
(3.23.b)

$$\Xi(t) = \sigma_1(t) - \frac{\kappa_1(t)}{\kappa_1(t-\tau)}\Upsilon(t)$$
(3.23.c)

$$\Upsilon(t) = \sigma_2^*(t - (1 - \psi_\tau)\tau)a(t)e^{j\phi(t)}\frac{E_{In}(t - \tau)}{E_{In}(t)}$$
(3.23.d)

$$\psi_{\tau} = \frac{1}{c\tau} \int_0^{L_{Drop}} n_g(L) dL \qquad (3.23.e)$$

$$a(t) = \prod_{k=1}^{K} a_k \left(t - \frac{(K-k)\tau}{K} \right)$$
(3.23.f)

$$\phi(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \phi_k (t - \frac{(K-k)\tau}{K}), \qquad (3.23.g)$$

In the steady state circumstance, Equation 3.23.a reduces to Equation 3.1.a as expected. This large signal function accounts for temporal fluctuations in the coupling and round-trip propagation terms as well as the input field, and this inclusion allows for modelling of laser carrier relative intensity noise and phase noise, as well as inter-channel crosstalk in the case of a WDM transmitter with several modulators in series. The dynamic transfer function of the drop port can be related to the through port response by:

$$T_{Drop}(t) = \frac{\kappa_2(t)}{\kappa_1^*(t - \psi_\tau \tau)} a_{Drop}(t) e^{j\phi_{Drop}(t)} \left(\sigma_1(t - \psi_\tau \tau) T_{Through}(t - \psi_\tau \tau) - \frac{E_{In}(t - \psi_\tau \tau)}{E_{In}(t)} \right).$$
(3.24.a)

$$a_{Drop}(t) = \prod_{k=1}^{\frac{K}{\psi_{\tau}} - 1 = K'} a_k(t - \frac{(K' - k)\tau}{K})$$
(3.24.b)

$$\phi_{Drop}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{K'} \phi_k (t - \frac{(K' - k)\tau}{K})$$
(3.24.c)

Figure 3.14 shows the through and drop power response with a short input NRZ data sequence, and Figure 3.15 shows the time dependent output phase for that same simulation. It shows that the large signal model captures phenomena that a steady state model could not, such as the gradual rise and fall from one amplitude level to another and the peaks and dips in amplitude and phase at level transitions. This peaking or ringing is introduced by the change in Φ and \mathcal{B} changing the interference condition with the input coupler and how much energy can be stored in the cavity. The degree of peaking experienced is influenced by many factors, including the loaded Q of the cavity, whether the ring is undercoupled, overcoupled, or critically coupled, the amount of frequency detuning between the carrier and the resonance, and the speed of the transition [1, 17].

The fact that this ringing effect is onset by sudden changes in power and output phase implies the onset of another impacting factor: frequency chirp. Chirp can be a limiting factor in optical links limited by chromatic dispersion, and ring modulators typically exhibit higher levels of chirp than MZI-based devices (though the magnitude and sign of chirp can be controlled via coupling conditions) [61]; chirp can be quantified in terms of



Figure 3.14: Example dynamic power response of the through (a) and drop (b) ports due to loss and phase modulation from an integrated phase shifter.



Figure 3.15: Example dynamic phase response of the through (a) and drop (b) ports due to loss and phase modulation from an integrated phase shifter.

the instantaneous frequency change Δf or the chirp parameter a_{Chirp} [62, 10].

$$\Delta f_{Through}(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\partial \Phi_{Through}(t)}{\partial t} = \frac{\alpha_{Chirp}(t)}{4\pi P_{Through}(t)} \frac{\partial P_{Through}(t)}{\partial t}$$
(3.25)

Figure 3.16 depicts the instantaneous frequency chirp and chirp parameter for the through and drop port for the dynamic responses shown in Figure 3.14. It appears that

the drop response exhibits much higher chirp than the through response and with an opposite polarity.



Figure 3.16: Simulated frequency chirp (a) and chirp parameter (b) observed at the add and ports due to loss and phase modulation from an integrated phase shifter.

Revisiting Equation 3.23.b, an approximation symbol is used to underscore the fact that this method truncates an infinite series into a finite summation. N should then be a significantly large integer to approximate an infinite arithmetic series with minimal relative error. However, it would be rather beneficial to know how much error a particular choice of N can introduce into the result, since using a smaller value of N will reduce runtime of the simulation. A simple way to think about this is the truncation of the integral from an infinite series down to N amounts to erasing knowledge of energy from the cavity once its field amplitude has decayed by $e^{-\frac{N\tau}{\tau_p}}$ in the rate equation model. Therefore, the maximum relative error in the magnitude and phase of T(t) associated with a particular selection of N can be expected to be:

$$\delta |T|_{max} \approx \delta \Phi_{max} \approx e^{-\frac{N\tau}{\tau_p}} \approx e^{-\frac{N\pi}{\mathcal{F}}}.$$
 (3.26)

The validity of the approximation is tested in Figure 3.17, which compares the max-

imum relative error predicted in Equation 3.26 to the relative error in amplitude and phase of the through and drop response in a datastream modelled with varying degrees of N normalized to the output when N = 1000; there is clearly good agreement between the simulation and the equation. An interesting outcome is that a cavity with a higher \mathcal{F} requires a larger N to achieve the same degree of accuracy in the simulation result, and perhaps reformulating Equation 3.26 in terms of \mathcal{F} can allow for using travelling wave definition of FWHM and improve the maximum error expectation in cavities with low finesse. Additionally, time varying propagation losses or coupling coefficients imply a time varying finesse, and the maximum expected error should then use the highest finesse to get a more accurate upper bound. Finally, beginning a simulation requires providing initial conditions of the time dependent variables in the system for $N\tau \leq t < 0$; for example, once can assume the cavity was in a steady state before t = 0.



Figure 3.17: Comparison of maximum relative error in magnitude (a) and phase (b) of the large signal model through and drop response of the first 2^8 bits of a 27.5 Gbps PRBS($2^{11} - 1$) NRZ sequence and the expected degree of error from a rate equation approximation.

The technique of using the through port dynamic response as the basis of analyzing another region of the cavity can also be used to describe the transfer function at the start of each time discretization of the cavity, the energy stored in each discretization, and the total energy stored in the cavity (allowing for future expansions of the model to include nonlinear phenomena).

$$T_{Circ_{k}}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa_{1}(t)} \left[\sigma_{1}^{*}(t)T_{Through}(t) - 1\right], & \text{if } k - 1 = 0\\ a_{k-1}(t)e^{j\phi_{k-1}(t)}T_{Circ_{k-1}}(t - \frac{\tau}{K}), & \text{if } 0 < \frac{k-1}{K} < \psi_{\tau} \\ \sigma_{2}^{*}(t)a_{k-1}(t)e^{j\phi_{k-1}(t)}T_{Circ_{k-1}}(t - \frac{\tau}{K}), & \text{if } \psi_{\tau \leq \frac{k-1}{K} < 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.27.a)

$$U(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} U_k (t - \frac{(K-k)\tau}{K}), \qquad (3.27.b)$$

$$U_k(t) = |T_{Circ_k}(t)|^2 P_{In}(t) \frac{\tau}{K} \frac{a_k(t) - 1}{\ln(a_k(t))},$$
(3.27.c)

An example of the computed stored energy of a ring during modulation with 1 mW input power is shown in Figure 3.18. Previous studies have shown that self-heating and other nonlinear phenomena can occur with peak stored energies in the cavity of about 30 fJ or less [18].

For a typical ring modulator, both the phase and losses in the cavity vary with time due to the input voltage waveform to the integrated phase shifter, and the coupling coefficients are assumed to be static. The driving waveform can be distorted by the parasitics of the phase shifter and therefore distort the optical waveform. Since the capacitance of the phase shifter (and, to a lesser extent, its series resistance) is voltagedependent, its impedance is time-varying as well [63].

$$\frac{\partial V_j(t)}{\partial t} = \frac{V_{In}(t) - V_j(t)}{R_S(t)C(t)}$$
(3.28)

Figure 3.19 shows an example of how the parasitic electrical characteristics can affect



Figure 3.18: Simulated stored energy during PAM-4 modulation and an input power of 1 mW.

the driving voltage waveform. It effectively increases the rise and fall transition time between amplitude levels, which negatively impacts the fidelity of the transmitted signal.



Figure 3.19: Simulated of voltage waveform illustrating distortion from its electrical parasitics.

3.2.4 Small Signal Domain

While a large signal model is a highly useful tool for accurately evaluating how datastreams are encoded and filtered by a ring resonator, it does not really provide sufficient intuition on what makes a good ring modulator on its own; it also is the most computationally expensive analysis tool available. Therefore, it would be beneficial to have access to comparatively cheap computation tools that enhance our intuition about optimizing device performance, and small signal analysis is a critical part of this toolbox. Small signal models, as the name suggests, apply a small-magnitude sinusoidal perturbation of modulation angular frequency ω_m to the system; it is assumed that the perturbation amplitude is small enough that the system remains in a linear regime, and therefore no additional tones are generated. While small signal analysis equations can be derived from large signal travelling wave models, prior work has done so for only one degree of modulation at a time (i.e., index modulation, loss modulation, or coupling modulation) without a high degree of agreement betwen the large signal and small signal results [60]. Instead, the rate equation model will be used as the basis for deriving the transfer function and its validity will be tested by sending a small signal through our large signal travelling wave model and comparing the performance between the two. In context of a modulator with an integrated phase shifter, a small signal driving voltage induces a small signal perturbation in the cavity's round trip phase and losses, which ultimately perturbs the resonance frequency, the photon lifetime, and A.

$$V_{In}(t) = V_{DC} + \delta v \sin(\omega_m t) \tag{3.29.a}$$

$$\omega_0(t) = \omega_0 + \delta\omega_0 \sin\left(\omega_m t\right) \tag{3.29.b}$$

$$\tau_p(t) = \tau_p + \delta \tau_p \sin\left(\omega_m t\right) \tag{3.29.c}$$

$$A(t) = A + \delta A \sin(\omega_m t) \tag{3.29.d}$$

Previous works have developed small signal modulation expressions for all-pass ring modulators [17, 15]. By following the derivation in those works for the add-drop resonator rate equation model and following similar rules (second order small signal terms neglected, $\frac{\delta \tau_p}{\tau_P} \approx 0$), the small signal response of add-drop device can be expressed:

$$H_{EO,Through}(\omega_m) = \eta \left[j\omega_m \left(\zeta \xi_2 - \Delta \omega\right) - 2\Delta \omega \xi_1 - \zeta \left(\Delta \omega^2 - \frac{\xi_2}{\tau_p}\right) \right]$$
(3.30.a)

$$H_{EO,Drop}(\omega_m) = \eta \mu_2^2 \left(\Delta \omega - \zeta \left(\frac{1}{\tau_p} + j \omega_m \right) \right)$$
(3.30.b)

$$\eta = \frac{2\mu_1^2 P_{In} \left(-\frac{\omega_0}{n_g} \left. \frac{\partial n_{eff}}{\partial v} \right|_{V_{DC}} \right)}{\left(\frac{1}{\tau_p^2} + \Delta \omega^2 \right) \left(-\omega_m^2 + \frac{2}{\tau_p} j\omega_m + \Delta \omega^2 + \frac{1}{\tau_p^2} \right)}$$
(3.30.c)

$$\zeta = \frac{\frac{\partial (1/\tau_p)}{\partial v}\Big|_{V_{DC}}}{-\frac{\omega_0}{n_g} \frac{\partial n_{eff}}{\partial v}\Big|_{V_{DC}}}$$
(3.30.d)

$$\xi_1 = \frac{1}{\tau_p} - \frac{1}{\tau_{e_1}} \tag{3.30.e}$$

$$\xi_2 = \frac{1}{\tau_p} - \frac{2}{\tau_{e_1}} \tag{3.30.f}$$

The terms responsible for introducing the effects of the perturbation of the cavity dynamics are ζ and the term in parentheses in the numerator of η . They are written in such a way that both small signal index and loss perturbations can be accounted for, but

are incomplete in describing small signal coupling modulation due to not incorporating perturbations to the mutual coupling rates $\delta \mu_i$. Those wishing to capture simultaneous coupling, index, and loss modulation would need to run through the derivation in [17] with those added terms.

$$H_{EO+\delta\kappa,Through}(\omega_m) = \mu_1 \Re \left[\left(\frac{E_{Through}^* \left(\delta\omega_0 A - \delta\mu_1 E_{In} - j\frac{\delta\mu_1}{\mu_1} A \left(\frac{1}{\tau_p} + j(\Delta\omega + \omega_m) \right) \right)}{\frac{1}{\tau_p} + j(\Delta\omega + \omega_m)} + \frac{E_{Through} \left(\delta\omega_0^* A^* - \delta\mu_1 E_{In}^* + j\frac{\delta\mu_1}{\mu_1} A^* \left(\frac{1}{\tau_p} - j(\Delta\omega - \omega_m) \right) \right)}{\frac{1}{\tau_p} - j(\Delta\omega - \omega_m)} \right] e^{j\omega_m t} \right]$$
(3.31.a)

$$H_{EO+\delta\kappa,Drop}(\omega_m) = \mu_2 \Re \left[\left(\frac{E_{Drop}^* \left(\delta\omega_0 A - \delta\mu_1 E_{In} - j\frac{\delta\mu_2}{\mu_2} A \left(\frac{1}{\tau_p} + j(\Delta\omega + \omega_m) \right) \right)}{\frac{1}{\tau_p} + j(\Delta\omega + \omega_m)} + \frac{E_{Drop} \left(\delta\omega_0^* A^* - \delta\mu_1 E_{In}^* + j\frac{\delta\mu_2}{\mu_2} A^* \left(\frac{1}{\tau_p} - j(\Delta\omega - \omega_m) \right) \right)}{\frac{1}{\tau_p} - j(\Delta\omega - \omega_m)} \right] e^{j\omega_m t} \right]$$
(3.31.b)

$$\delta\mu_i = \left.\frac{\partial\mu_i}{\partial v}\right|_{V_{DC}} \tag{3.31.c}$$

However, the ring modulators of interest in this thesis do not need to account for coupling modulation effects, so simplifying the above expressions in the vein of [15] is left as an exercise for the reader. These transfer functions are electro-optic small signal responses (i.e., the output is relative to the optical field amplitude) [15]. Since the spectral response of the received electrical signal is typically of concern in communication links, this requires converting the response from optical amplitude to electrical amplitude (proportional to optical power); the fact that these small signal transfer functions are not in terms optical power is confusing due to the many indications in the derivation that they would be, but comparing the results of these expressions to the output of the travelling wave large signal model with a small signal input seems to verify this. Additionally, these transfer functions are not normalized to DC (i.e., $\omega_m = 0$). With these considerations in mind, 3 dB bandwidths in the electrical domain can be defined by identifying the ω_m for which the normalized small signal transfer functions equal $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$.

$$f_{3dBe,PSK} = \frac{1}{2\pi\tau_p} \tag{3.32.a}$$

$$f_{3dBe,ASK,Through} \approx \frac{1}{4\pi\tau_p^2\xi_1}\sqrt{1+2\Delta\omega^2\tau_p^2 - 4\tau_p^2\xi_1^2 + \Delta\omega^4\tau_p^4 + 4\Delta\omega^2\tau_p^4\xi_1^2 + r_A} \quad (3.32.b)$$

$$r_A = \sqrt{1 + 4\Delta\omega^2 \tau_p^2 - 8\tau_p^2 \xi_1^2 + 6\Delta\omega^4 \tau_p^4 - 8\Delta\omega^2 \tau_p^4 \xi_1^2 + 32\tau_p^4 \xi_1^4 + 4\Delta\omega^6 \tau_p^6 + r_B} \quad (3.32.c)$$

$$r_B = 8\Delta\omega^4 \tau_p^6 \xi_1^2 + \Delta\omega^8 \tau_p^8 + 8\Delta\omega^6 \tau_p^8 \xi_1^2 + 32\Delta\omega^4 \tau_p^8 \xi_1^4$$
(3.32.d)

$$f_{3dBe,ASK,Drop} \approx \frac{1}{2\pi\tau_p} \sqrt{\Delta\omega^2 \tau_p^2 - 1 + \sqrt{2\Delta\omega^4 \tau_p^4 + 2}}$$
(3.32.e)

For applications in which the laser is not detuned from the ring's resonance (such as phase shift keying), the ring's electro-optic bandwidth is best represented by $f_{3dB,PSK}$ for both the through and the drop response. Mainly a function of $\Delta \omega \tau_p$, which can be used as the parameter to . For small positive $\Delta \omega \tau_p$ products ($0 < \Delta \omega \tau_p \ll 1$), both expressions are bad at predicting the response bandwidth due to the proximity to the zero in each transfer function ($\Delta\omega\tau_p = \zeta$ for the drop and $\Delta\omega\tau_p \approx \frac{\sqrt{\xi_1^2\tau_p^2 + \zeta^2\xi_2\tau_p - \xi_1\tau_p}}{\zeta}$ for the through) This error comes from the fact these ASK bandwidth expressions are extracted from the transfer functions with the simplifying assumption that $\zeta \approx 0$. Since there is a single zero, the bandwidth curves are asymmetric about the $\Delta\omega\tau_p = 0$ line. No assumptions are made regarding coupling ratio in the bandwidth estimates, whereas previous works assumed critical coupling for simplifying the transfer function even further [15].

An important insight gained from these modulation bandwidth expressions is that ring modulators with shorter photon lifetimes will be capable of larger modulation bandwidths. This makes sense, as cavities with lower photon lifetimes are able to change their state more quickly because they do not store energy for as long. However, as photon lifetime is reduced, the *FWHM* increases, effectively reducing the amount of amplitude modulation experienced for the same magnitude of phase shift difference between levels. The tradeoff between modulation depth and modulation bandwidth is one of the fundamental design choices for resonant amplitude modulators and makes their design very application-specific [64]. For example, a ring modulator optimized to operate at 56 Gbps will never outperform one designed for 10 Gbps if both are operated at 10 Gbps.

Maximizing modulation depth is critical for optimum link performance and is what typically defines the optimum detuning of a design of an IM-DD application. In cases of small refractive index modulations, the optimum detuning point is therefore the region of the resonance with the largest $\frac{\partial P_{Out}}{\partial \phi}$ [17]. However, in large signal cases that have large enough modulations that this degree of detuning is not large enough to avoid crossing over the resonance (reducing modulation depth), the detuning should be increased accordingly; some additional detuning buffer may be preferred to avoid the zero point.



Figure 3.20: Estimated 3 dB bandwidth of the electro-optic frequency response of an add-drop ring modulator for which $\tau_p \xi_1 \approx 0.92$ using the small signal model (solid lines) and f_{3dBe} expressions (dashed lines) as a function of $\Delta \omega \tau_p$

$$\Delta\omega_{ASK} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\tau} \cos^{-1} \left(\frac{-1 - (|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2 + \sqrt{1 + 34(|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^2 + (|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)^4}}{(|\sigma_1| |\sigma_2| a)} \right) \approx \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\tau_p}, & \text{if } \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\tau_p} > \frac{\phi_{Max} - \phi_{Min}}{2\tau} \\ \frac{\phi_{Max} - \phi_{Min}}{2\tau}, & & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.33)$$

If the ring resonance is perfectly symmetric, detuning the carrier by $-\Delta\omega_{ASK}$ from would be an equally valid choice. However, since silicon ring amplitude modulators typically are not operating in a cold cavity regime in practice, it is preferential for the carrier to be blue shifted to minimize the extent of signal distortion from nonlinear phenomena [59].

Figure 3.21 shows the normalized frequency response of add-drop modulator design with equal coupling to the input and drop bus waveguides ($\mathcal{F} = 33.7$ and Q = 6780), simulated with both the dynamic large signal model and the small signal transfer function. It can be seen from this figure that these two models agree very well with each other, allowing for the most time-efficient model to be utilized in a design-space exploration with confidence that the choice of model does not impact the outcome of the simulation for this value of finesse and higher. Small degrees of detuning dampen high frequencies compared to on resonance, and there is a peaking effect introduced from sufficiently large detuning (typically for $\Delta\omega\tau_p > 1$); prominent peaks from large detuning have their maximum response near $\Delta\omega$. Frequency responses for the same magnitude and opposite polarity become more similar for larger detuning values; the highest disparity in frequency response by changing the polarity occurs around the zero in each transfer function (in which the positive detuning experiences a peak around $\frac{1}{2\pi\tau_p}$). It is also shown in these plots that the frequency responses of the through and drop ports exhibit similar trends but are not the same; the drop port experiences less peaking than the through port. Many of these conclusions are anticipated from Figure 3.20. Additionally, the modulation bandwidth estimation equations match as well in the given detuning ranges (as expected).

Out of the sake of curiosity, the in-cavity large signal model was also run to glean any insight on its small signal response; intuition suggests its normalized small signal response would match that of the drop port, and that is verified in Figure 3.21. Therefore, the f_{3dBe} expressions derived for the drop port also apply to the cavity, and its small signal response is a linear scaling factor of the drop response.

$$H_{EO,Circ}(\omega_m) = \frac{\eta}{\tau} \left(\Delta \omega - \zeta \left(\frac{1}{\tau_p} + j\omega_m \right) \right) = \frac{1}{\mu_2^2 \tau} H_{EO,Drop}(\omega_m)$$
(3.34)

Finally, the overall transfer function of the device needs to include the small signal response of the electrical parasitics.

$$H_{Total} = H_{EO} H_{RC} \tag{3.35.a}$$



Figure 3.21: Simulated normalized electro-optic frequency responses of an add-drop ring modulator in the optical power domain using the small signal model (lines) and large signal model (solid dots) for various laser-ring frequency detunings, along with the f_{3dB} estimation (triangle and hollow squares), for both the through port (a & c) and the drop port (b & d) as well as for positive (a & b) and negative (c & d) detunings. The hollow circles depict the large signal model output for the in-cavity small signal response (b & d), and the hollow squares indicate the 0 GHz frequency detuning case for easier plot reading (a-d).

$$H_{RC}(\omega_m) = \frac{1}{1 + j\omega_m R_S C} \tag{3.35.b}$$

This returns the overall device 3 dB bandwidth [65].

$$f_{3dB} \approx \frac{f_{3dB_{RC}} f_{3dB_{EO}}}{\sqrt{f_{3dB_{RC}}^2 + f_{3dB_{EO}}^2}}$$
 (3.36.a)

$$f_{3dB_{RC}} = \frac{1}{2\pi R_S C}$$
(3.36.b)

It can be seen from the above equation that a higher phase shifter capacitance and resistance will lower the bandwidth of the modulator and limit the maximum data rate of the device. Therefore, there exist tradeoffs between the electrical, optical, and electrooptical aspects of the device to get the best overall performance.

3.3 Device Design & Simulation

This section will put together what was learned in the previous section and apply it to the design of both ring modulators and demultiplexing filters; this section will focus on devices with integrated depletion-mode p-n junction phase shifters. Parameters relevant to the characteristics of an individual ring will be considered along with extra considerations when cascading many rings on the same bus (as what would occur in a practical WDM system). First, an individual ring modulator will be designed. Its performance as a bus will then be explored, and then a ring demux filter will be designed. It should be noted that the designs outlined in this section were not actually produced; this section merely serves as an exercise for ring-based design.

3.3.1 Ring Modulator Design

The first step into defining a ring resonator with an integrated FCPDE phase shifter is defining a waveguide geometry for the bus and ring waveguides. The waveguide geometry selected for the ring waveguide has several requirements. First, it must be able to achieve a small enough bend radius to achieve the target free spectral range; for this project, a free spectral range of 1.2 THz is needed, which corresponds to a circle with a bend radius between 9 and 10 μ m for most silicon photonics platforms. This bend radius is not too demanding for a typical p-n junction phase shifter-based silicon photonics platform, so a rib waveguide geometry can be leveraged. Even tighter bend radii could prevent the use of a shallow etch on the outer diameter of the ring waveguide because it would allow the mode to leak out of the core too much and be lossy; mitigating this risk results in a more microdisk-like modulator that would require both the phase shifter anode and cathode have their via contact points be within the inner diameter of the ring, which would likely increase the electrical parasitics of the device [66, 67]. This transitions to the second aspect of ring waveguide geometry selection: minimizing electrical parasitics for the high speed phase shifter. The rib waveguide geometry is selected because of the aforementioned reasoning, although the best candidate in this regard may be a disklike structure with a shallow etch on the outer diameter so the anode and cathode are still not introducing additional parasitics and the inner diameter electrode can have less series resistance between it and the junction [42]. The third consideration is core width. Increasing the core width (which in the extreme case becomes a microdisk) could also increase confinement to the core overall, but the mode may also spread out more and weaken the overall FCPDE for a fixed junction design; this could also add extra electrical parasitics to the junction design. Additionally, a widened core could become a multimode waveguide that requires extra care when designing the couplers, and any transitions in the cavity would need to be adiabatic to prevent higher order mode excitation. Widened cores typically also have lower coupling coefficients for the same core separation between the ring and bus waveguides, and this could also complicate coupler design.

The bus waveguide must also achieve many of the same goals as the ring waveguide geometry. Typically, the geometry chosen should be appropriately phase matched to the
ring waveguide to excite coupling to the correct mode of the ring, must not constrain the implementation of the integrated phase shifter, and must be able to produce a coupler with strong enough coupling coefficients for the design while fitting into the unit cell's allocated footprint.

For both the ring and bus waveguide in this design section, a rib geometry will be selected. The device layer thickness is nominally 220 nm with a 60 nm slab thickness. The simulated energy density of the fundamental mode at a wavelength of 1300 nm is shown in Figure 3.22.b. This passive waveguide has a group index of about 4.0805 with a bend radius of 11 μ m, suggesting a bend radius of about 9.74 μ m to achieve a free spectral range of 1.2 THz.



Figure 3.22: Contours of simulated of free carrier density (units cm^{-3}) in the phase shifter at a 0 V bias (a) and the energy density of the optical mode (b).

Next, an integrated phase shifter design must be chosen. When utilizing a foundry MPW offering, the ion implantation profiles are typically fixed, so this is more a matter of tailoring the FCPDE magnitude to the target application by adjusting the placement of these fixed layers and juggling it against the resultant electrical parasitics. For this particular process under exploration, the "F"-shaped junction showed in Figure 3.22.a seemed likely to maximize charge displacement with its extensive length of the depletion region that is located at the peak intensity of the optical mode. It is clear that this advanced junction shape requires finite element analysis to accurately model depleted



charge as the bias voltage changes.

Figure 3.23: Simulation of voltage-dependent effect index (a), propagation loss (b), and capacitance (c) for a depletion-mode PN junction phase shifter on a silicon photonics platform.

Some of the electro-optic and electrical simulation results are shown in Figure 3.23; in this simulation, the anode is on the outer diameter of the ring. For comparison, this junction design is capable of about 3.3 times greater change in effective index over 4 V of applied bias with much less induced free carrier absorption when using the provided implant steps to make a more traditional phase shifter with a depletion region running straight up and down the core with charge depleted only laterally. However, this phase shifter design could still likely be outperformed by a SISCAP/MOSCAP phase shifter by a factor of 3.3 in terms of index perturbation over the same voltage range, but at the expense of more wildly varying free carrier absorption losses across that voltage span. Additionally, the change in effective index with applied voltage is not linear, which can result in uneven optical levels with even voltage levels in modulation formats with more than two symbol levels. That nonlinearity might motivate uneven spacing between driving voltage levels or split MSB and LSB phase shifters to produce a PAM-4 link with a more evenly spaced optical domain eye diagram [68, 69, 70].

The capacitance-voltage curve shown in Figure 3.23.c drops precipitously for reverse bias magnitudes greater than 1 V, suggesting that the thinner regions of free carriers that form the junction are fully depleted at about that point. The simulated series resistance is approximately 4.85 k Ω - μ m at room temperature. This series resistance and capacitance lead to a parasitic electrical 3 dB bandwidth of 14.9 GHz, which may be a bit too low for a modulator targeting operation at about 27 Gbps; an overall device bandwidth closer to 20 GHz may be desired, which could be achieved with equal electrical and electro-optic bandwidths of about 30 GHz each. While the capacitance of the junction cannot be modified without affecting the index perturbation strength, there is quite a bit of room to drop the series resistance of the device. In this simulation, the Ohmic contact ion implantation layer is 1.4 μ m away from the edge of the core on each side of the waveguide. The sheet resistance should lower by a factor of 7.0 on the anode side and a factor of 4.2 on the cathode side, and the original sheet resistance of the anode without the Ohmic implant is roughly twice that of the cathode without the Ohmic implant. Therefore, one way the series resistance can be roughly halved is if the Ohmic contact implant separation was reduced on each side from 1.4 μm to about 550 nm away from the edge of the core on each side. This would introduce additional free carrier absorption; looking ahead to Figure 5.5.b (although for a slab thickness of 110 nm in the C-Band instead of 60 nm in the O-Band, so an overestimate for this scenario) that tens to potentially 100 dB/cmadditional free carrier absorption could be introduced by moving the implants equally. In practice, the bent waveguide will also increase free carrier absorption further on the outer diameter and reduce it on the inner diameter because the mode is pushed outward, so a lower loss penalty could be received by bringing the inner diameter Ohmic contact implant closer to the core and pulling the outer diameter implant further away to achieve the same reduction in series resistance; since the anode introduces more series resistance, this could be a strong counter-argument against having the anode on the outer diameter for FCPDE enhancement. An alternative approach to achieving the overall bandwidth target that would introduce less loss is to increase the target electro-optic bandwidth and lower the electrical bandwidth target; for example, an electro-optic bandwidth of at least 36 GHz reduces the electrical bandwidth requirement to about 24 GHz, which can be achieved with both Ohmic implants placed about 765 nm away from the edge of the core. Using Figure 5.5.b again as a rough guide, it is assumed that the additional free carrier absorption loss is small enough to be considered a negligible contribution for this device and will be ignored.



Figure 3.24: Simulation of electro-optic 3 dB bandwidth and ideal detuning (a), normalized steady state optical modulation amplitude (b), and $Q \& \mathcal{F}$ (c) for a circular all-pass ring resonator with a bend radius of 9.74 μ m and the depletion-mode phase shifter occupying its entire circumference. The phase shifter is reverse biased at -0.6 V with a 1.2 V peak-to-peak modulation applied. The dashed black vertical lines in each plot indicate the critical coupling point.

Now that the target electro-optic bandwidth is known, a sweep of some of the steady state and small signal expressions listed in the previous section can be conducted to find the right coupling coefficients to optimize modulator performance; since it is assumed that the drop port coupling magnitude will be much smaller than the through port to drop the amount of power needed for the control circuitry to align the ring, an all-pass ring will be first explored, and later including the drop port will serve as an exercise on how this perturbs performance. Additionally, it is assumed that the entire circumference of the ring resonator will contain the phase shifter and that the passive waveguide loss adds an additional 3 dB/cm of loss to the active regions of the cavity. The results are shown in Figure 3.24. Achieving the target electro-optic bandwidth requires $|\kappa_1| \approx 0.35$ and results in a normalized optical modulation amplitude ($OMA = P_1 - P_0$ for NRZ) of about -4.65 dB in the steady state; normalized OMA_{SS} peaks at about -4.33 dB for $|\kappa_1| \approx 0.285$ which is slightly undercoupled (as expected). In an ideal circumstance, in order to maximize OMA_{SS} , the coupling point would be chosen at this point if the overall device bandwidth would not be hindered. Therefore, it is much better to be in a condition where there is plenty of available electrical parasitic modulation bandwidth so that a coupling coefficient with a lower electro-optic bandwidth but higher OMA_{SS} can be selected. a = 0.9475, which means some tenths of dB can be gained at the drop port by pulling it closer to the through port when it is added. For the target coupling strength, the ring has a Q of about 5000 and a finesse of about 26.



Figure 3.25: Simulation of the addition of a drop port to the ring modulator and its impact on a few steady-state characteristics (a). Coupling coefficient magnitudes of each port while maintaining the target electro-optic modulation bandwidth (b).

By now examining the small signal and steady-state equations for an add-drop ring resonator, the ideal drop port coupling strength can be chosen given the tradeoffs presented. The main utility that must be achieved in this design is providing the expected peak dropped power that the electronic controller is expecting (about 2 μ W with an input power of about -5 dBm). As shown in Figure 3.25.a, this is achieved for a drop port to input port coupling magnitude ratio $R_{\kappa} = \frac{|\kappa_2|}{|\kappa_1|}$ of about 0.09 (or $|\kappa_2| \approx 0.03$ from Figure 3.25.b). Figure 3.25.a also shows that such a small R_{κ} selection does not really affect normalized *OMA* or $|\kappa_1|$ for this design, but increasing R_{κ} does generally degrade *OMA*. This is because there is an interplay in R_{κ} and maintaining the same modulation bandwidth, where higher R_{κ} produce a less overcoupled/more undercoupled cavity (approaching an *OMA* maximum if overcoupled at $R_{\kappa} = 0$) but also increase the *FWHM* (decreasing the maximum achievable *OMA*). Increasing the *FWHM* also increases the maximum input power before (expressed as $R_U = \frac{U(R_{\kappa}=0)}{U(R_{\kappa})}$), which could enhance the maximum achievable *OMA* in certain circumstances (albeit by accepting a proportional energy efficiency reduction); to see this added benefit, the initial all-pass ring must be strongly overcoupled.



Figure 3.26: Simulation of $|\kappa|$ for a rib waveguide-based point coupler with a slab thickness of 110 nm and a rib thickness of 220 nm as a function of wavelength (a) and separation between the bus and ring waveguides (b) for an ideal, vertical shallow etch and with perturbations from the ideal. The range of variability in core width was assumed to be ± 4.25 nm, device thickness ± 4 nm, and shallow etch depth ± 10 nm.

With the target coupling coefficients in mind, couplers must be designed with the selected ring and bus waveguide geometries. Designing the couplers usually requires

FDTD simulation, though there are analytical methods for estimating expected κ for various coupler geometries [6]. Figure 3.26 depicts the FDTD simulated coupling coefficient magnitudes for a straight bus waveguide "point" coupler (Figure 3.27.a) for a thicker slab width (for showing trends but not picking an exact value). The coupling coefficient can change dramatically over 200 nm of wavelength bandwidth, but the narrow spectral regime of this project (1.2 THz ≈ 6.76 nm in the O-Band) makes this not a primary concern. However, the fabrication error corner cases could contribute a stronger effect on device performance [71]; the simulations suggest $|\kappa|$ decreases most when the device layer thickness and the shallow etch depth increase (both increase core confinement without affecting gap width). Since the simulated point coupler with a slab thickness of 110 nm is only barely sufficient to achieve the needed κ_1 for the device being designed, it is likely that the target waveguide geometry with a slab thickness of 60 nm will not be able to make the through port coupler unless the gap between the bus and ring waveguide can be made smaller. If that is not possible, coupling can be enhanced by tapering the core width at the coupling region [66] or increase the interaction length of the coupler with a pulley design (Figure 3.27.b).



Figure 3.27: Schematic depicting rings with straight point couplers (a) and pulley couplers (b).

With all of the parts of the design cornered down, the large signal model can be used to simulate the cold-cavity output optical waveform. A PRBS7 sequence is generated with the help of a linear feedback shift register program [72]. The eye diagrams of the through and drop ports are plotted in Figure 3.28. Beyond the previously-observed opposite magnitude of ringing causing differences in the output eye for the through and drop response, the drop port eye seems to be a bit offset in time from the through port eye.



Figure 3.28: Simulated normalized optical eye diagrams for the through port (a) and drop port (b) of the designed ring modulator. The driving voltage waveform has a magnitude of 1.2 V

Figure 3.29 depicts the additional spectral content centered around the carrier frequency that modulation introduced. One interesting observation is that the magnitude of the negative frequencies appears to be greater than their positive counterparts.

While a similar ring modulator design was laid out on a silicon photonics foundry MPW run 18 months prior to the writing of this thesis, the manufactured device was not available for testing prior to writing. Tests to validate models using this device will be treated as future work.



Figure 3.29: Baseband spectrum of the through port optical waveform.

3.3.2 Design Considerations for Cascaded Rings

There are many aspects of design that become more complicated when considering the design of a series of rings on a common bus. A more mundane factor common to any dense PIC is placement of the overall unit cell (ring, drop port photodiode(s), add port waveguide termination, ring coupler-to-bus transitions, etc.). With a high local area bandwidth density of 5 Tbps/mm² leading to a flip chip pitch of 36 μ m, the unit cell would ideally fit into a footprint of 36 $\mu m \ge 72 \mu m$. This could be difficult to manage without introducing unwanted design penalties or adding complexity to metal routing of the low-speed signals out of the dense RF region (ring DC biasing, monitor photodiode electrodes). If such dense placement is too burdensome, the unit cell can be distributed over a larger area just as long as the RF region of the cell (TX modulator phase shifter and RX photodetector) is located in the high-density area to reduce high-speed signal degradation; distributing the unit cell could cost extra waveguide routing losses, however. Another thing worth considering with regards to placement is that a sudden index change at the ring coupler could introduce a weak reflection on the bus waveguide [73, 74]; cascading multiple rings together could effectively make a series of weak Fabry-Pérot cavities that could distort the optical spectrum and introduce amplitude noise as the temperature of each of these cavity fluctuates (commonly referred to as multipath interference) [75, 76, 77].

A critical aspect to the cascaded rings is that each element is appropriately aligned to the spectral grid of the system; for the target application of this dissertation, that means within a bank of 10 rings having an even resonance separation of 120 GHz to match a deinterleaved QD-MLL comb. Further, that ring "comb" needs to be aligned correctly in frequency to either the odd or even deinterleaved QD-MLL sub-comb; correct alignment is the OMA-maximizing detuning point for modulators and on resonance for demux filters. The ring ring comb in the alternate deinterleaved path must be 60 GHz offset from this comb to appropriately receive its QD-MLL sub-comb as well. Further confounding this alignment problem is that every set of odd-even and TX-RX pairs of ring buses that share a QD-MLL comb source must meet these alignment criteria at the same time to achieve the full capacity of the system. Much like as was described for the deinterleavers in the previous chapter, a ring's resonance placement in the frequency domain can be perturbed by changes in the effective length of the cavity.

$$\Delta f_0 = \Delta \nu \frac{\Delta \phi}{2\pi} = \frac{f_0}{n_g} \left(\Delta n_{eff} + n_{eff} \frac{\Delta L}{L} \right)$$
(3.37)

One energy efficient way to introduce passive offsets between the rings is to perturb each ring to achieve the correct resonance offset needed for the grid. This can be done by slightly changing the waveguide cross section to change the effective index or slightly changing the physical path length; it should be noted that because rings must include bends to complete the cavity, changing the path length (either through changing bend radius or including a racetrack section with varying lengths) always perturbs the average effective index too [53]. For example, if the ring modulator designed had its waveguide cross section remain the same but its radius was changed from 9.74 μ m, a 60 GHz offset could be produced with a change in radius of about 3.94 nm. Unfortunately, most masks do not have sufficiently fine resolution to hit that exact target, so some manipulation of the waveguide cross section will be needed to deal with this quantization error present from the mask minimum address unit. Ideally, minimally perturbing the free spectral range in the process of changing the resonance frequency is important because it affects the required ring tuning ranges and interaction between neighboring channels. For example, applying the +3.94 nm change in radius to achieve the +60 GHz resonance frequency shift decreased the free spectral range by about 0.49 GHz, so the free spectral range would vary by about 9.8 GHz across all 20 devices with slightly different radii.

While perturbations to the effective path length was framed as a means to reduce energy consumption for grid alignment, it is also one of the fundamental hurdles to utilizing rings in PICs: their susceptibility to changes in temperature and waveguide dimension fluctuations. Since rings are infinite impulse response filters, they cannot be compensated in the same way that the deinterleaver can. The waveguide cross section can be adjusted to be more robust to these issues, but this is usually at the expense of performance [66, 78, 79]. Because of this, the rings will need some phase correction to form the spectral grid and to compensate for thermal drifts. One fortunate feature is that rings placed close to each other in the reticle are much more likely to encounter the same degree of perturbation in each dimension, so relative passive offsets like those described in the previous paragraph are relatively stable [80].

Figure 3.30 illustrates the problem outlined in the previous paragraph. If the resonance frequency of each ring design were measured across the wafer and plotted as a histogram, a distribution of resonant frequencies of each device will be present that reflects the degree of wafer-scale waveguide dimension fluctuations. The neighboring rings will have their resonances spatially correlated to the first measured device, but they will likely not exactly be located on the idealized grid separation that they were designed for. Therefore, some degree of DC tuning will be needed to first correct for the error



Figure 3.30: Illustration of variation in resonance frequency in a series of rings on a bus due to wafer-level dimension variations and spatial correlation.

in the grid separation, and more tuning will be needed to align that comb of rings to the QD-MLL grid and maintain that grid placement as temperature drifts; over a 60 °C temperature span, the rings would experience roughly a π phase shift that must be handled. As will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 4, utilizing the FCPDE instead of thermo-optic phase shifters as the means for DC correction of the resonances is the preferred choice in current silicon photonics foundry offerings for a barrel shifting approach to ring alignment from an energy efficiency perspective if it can supply a sufficient degree of phase shift [81, 82].



Figure 3.31: Simulated frequency shift across a 4 V span for the simulated ring modulator.

Figure 3.31 shows the expected DC tuning range of the integrated modulator is about

20 GHz, which greatly falls short of what is needed to fully realize the implementation. In general, this is not a positive sign for using standard foundry MPW offerings to make p-n junction phase shifters with the performance needed for this application; either a custom process is needed or a foundry offering with a stronger FCPDE magnitude phase shifter technology like SISCAP should be sought. In order to bridge the gap between the ideal circumstance when there is enough remaining FCPDE DC tuning range to handle all thermal drifts with just ring correction (Figure 3.32.a), the grid can be dynamically adjusted by changing the tuning of the QD-MLL and interleaver (albeit there is a much larger latency penalty for doing things this way). It is important to keep in mind that there are 16 banks of 10 rings in the proposed 2 Tbps system that must align to the same QD-MLL grid, and the the ring comb with the smallest degree of as-comb DC frequency tuning range defines that range for the whole 2 Tbps system. When that as-comb tuning range is less than an uninterleaved QD-MLL carrier separation (Figure 3.32.b), the interleavers and QD-MLL must be offset in frequency when the ring range is exhausted so that the rings can stay on the dynamic grid; if there is no as-comb ring tuning range, the interleavers and QD-MLL must be tuned continuously. When the as-comb tuning range is in between the uninterleaved and interleaved QD-MLL carrier separation (Figure 3.32.c), the QD-MLL can be left stable, and a π phase shift can be applied to the interleavers to perform a sort of cross-bar switch operation.

While the appropriately-aligned grid of ring resonators will have only 1 carrier overlap strongly with the intended resonance, there is still some steady state off-resonance loss penalty from the other 9 rings due to the normalized intensity lineshape converging to a value less than 1 at $\phi = \pi$. This leads to the other 9 resonance lineshapes on a bus of 10 ring modulators acting as "aggressors" to the "victim" carrier frequency. All ring modulators should experienced roughly equal off-resonance losses, but the demux filters will not– the first demux ring in the bus experiences no off-resonance losses, the



Figure 3.32: Plots demonstrating how to keep the rings, interleaver, and QD-MLL aligned as the PIC temperature changes for the 3 regimes of as-comb ring bank DC tuning range.

second ring experiences 1 off-resonance loss, and so on. The amount of off resonance loss each sequential demux filter receives depends on the order of channels dropped. The ring modulator designed in this section should expect about 0.53 dB overall off-resonance loss, and the maximum amount of off-resonance loss for the demux filter will be discussed in the next subsection.

Beyond the static power penalties incurred from off-resonance losses, there are also four forms of crosstalk the rings can induce: dropped power at the modulator, encoding by modulator, dropped power at receiver, and filtering of through response of the aggressor demux filters along the path of being dropped at its own demux filter [83, 84]. As will be shown in more detail in Chapter 4, fully quantifying dropped power-based modes of crosstalk can be difficult to estimate because it depends on the prominence of the drop resonance passband relative to the noise floor, which can be limited by things like minute coupling of higher order modes into the cavity and unguided light scattering around the PIC. The two demux filter-based crosstalk methods are in part affected by the shape of the filter response and will be a topic for the next subsection. One simple way to estimate the intermodulation crosstalk from the aggressor rings on the victim channel is to compare their cumulative aggressor OMA_{SS} to that intended from the victim channel.

$$XTalk_{TX,Interchannel} \approx \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N_{Channels}-1} OMA_{SS,Aggressor_k}}{OMA_{SS,Victim}}$$
(3.38)

By this estimate, the designed ring modulator is expected to encounter about -12.5 dB of interchannel crosstalk under ideal circumstances, which is concerningly high. Generally speaking, most of these forms of crosstalk will be enhanced when FWHM increases, the number of channels increases, or the frequency separation between channels decreases.

3.3.3 Demux Filter Design

While the primary tradeoff for ring modulator design is to balance maximizing *OMA* against having sufficient modulation bandwidth, the design challenge for the ring-based demux filter is to redirect the target data channel to the filter's drop port photoreceiver with minimal signal losses and signal distortion while also maximally rejecting the signals of the aggressor channels. In the interest of not introducing a thermo-optic phase shifter into the ring from an energy efficiency perspective, the same depletion-mode p-n junction phase shifter design will be utilized in the development of this demux filter to apply the needed frequency corrections.

Though the EO tuning electrical circuit consumes less power than the thermo-optic solution, introducing the integrated p-n junction phase shifter into the ring introduces more round-trip losses and degrades cavity Q. This Q spoiling is not an insurmountable issue for the RX ring since the Q of devices with a *FWHM* required to adequately demultiplex a 26.4 Gbps channel is a similarly low value as that required by the modulator [85]. However, if the filter bandwidth is too large, more inter-channel crosstalk can be picked up by the filter; this can be corrected for by reducing the coupling coefficients of the rings to target at the expense of less demultiplexed power received at the drop port of the ring. Thus, there are trade-offs between tuning range, filter drop bandwidth, induced optical loss, and crosstalk.

The round-trip losses of an RX filter can be much less than those of a modulator since the time constants associated with thermal drifts are much slower than the target channel rate; this allows for changing the integrated phase shifter design by pulling high concentration implants away from the core at the expense of increased series resistance and a slower RC time constant. While this phase shifter design already has the Ohmic implants far away from the junction, losses can be driven down a bit further in this design by not running the mid level P+ and N+ implant layers to their electrodes as they currently are (they are technically just needed to form the junction). Since the same amount of charge is still depleted at the junction, these devices should have the same frequency tuning performance as the TX modulators. Additionally, forming the demux filter out of multiple cascaded rings(either as isolated or coupled cavities) can produce a flatter passband, but doing so increases the complexity of the locking circuitry, electronic and photonic footprint, and drop port losses [7, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90]; therefore, a design featuring a single ring to form each filter was selected.

After the waveguide geometries have been selected, the next task is to select the design target FWHM; intuition would suggest it should be at least twice the data rate to reduce filtering of the intended demultiplexed channel, but a more refined answer can be determined with system level link simulations in which FWHM of the demux filter is swept to find an optimum. System simulations suggested FWHM should be about 60 GHz to maximize signal integrity. Since it was established in the modelling section that maximizing dropped power occurs when critically coupled, determining the input and drop port coupling coefficients of a single-ring demux filter is a simple matter once the finesse and a targets of the design have been chosen.

$$|\sigma_1|^2 = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - \cos^2\left(\frac{\pi}{\mathcal{F}}\right)}}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{\mathcal{F}}\right)} \tag{3.39.a}$$

$$|\sigma_2| = \frac{|\sigma_1|}{a} \tag{3.39.b}$$

The result is a ring for which $|\kappa_1| \approx 0.38$, $|\kappa_2| \approx 0.22$, and $Q \approx 3800$ (lower than the Q of the modulator). It is likely the input port would need to be achieved with a pulley coupler, and a point coupler could be sufficient for the drop port. For $\psi_a = 0.5$, the excess loss penalty at the resonance of the drop port is 5.0 dB, and the maximum off-resonance loss that the last demux filter on the bus experiences is expected to be about 0.87 dB. The through and drop response of this device design are plotted in Figure 3.33.



Figure 3.33: Simulated through and drop spectra for the given ring demux design with 0 V reverse bias applied to the integrated phase shifter. The frequency positions for the 9 aggressor carriers when the target channel being demultiplexed is Channel 5 is overlaid onto the spectra.

Figure 3.34 depicts the simulated eye diagrams received by the demux filter from the ring modulator. This was achieved by taking the fast Fourier transform (FFT) of the ring modulator output waveform to apply the demux filter response to the data. Most of the modulator output waveform is successfully dropped by the filter, and the waveform is minimally distorted.



Figure 3.34: Simulated eye diagrams for the drop (a) and through (b) ports of the designed ring demux filter receiving the ring modulator through port waveform on resonance.

An attempt was made to input the modulator output waveform into the large signal model for the demux filter parameters to produce the output through and drop responses as well, and the baseband spectral content of the result is plotted in Figure 3.35, along with that of the modulator through port output and the FFT approach to the demux filter. It appears that the outcome of this attempt is that the low frequency components are overly dampened compared to the FFT approach, and the magnitudes at the intermediate frequencies match closer to the input wave than that expected from the FFT approach. The reason for this disagreement remains unclear, but it is possible that the problem lies with the current implementation for inputting the modulated waveform as if it was all occurring at one frequency, which distorts the round-trip phase relationship of the constituent frequencies in the waveform spectrum. Regardless, more study is clearly needed for implementing the large signal travelling wave model with time-varying input signals and multiple input frequencies, which is a critical aspect for capturing other effects like crosstalk and nonlinearities.

While probably not an entirely useful exercise outside of a full system simulation that



Figure 3.35: Baseband spectrum of the through port optical waveform before

captures all the dimensions of signal distortion in both the electrical and optical domains, a bit error rate BER can be estimated to the received data at the demux filter drop port. The equation for bit error rate provided in [91] can be generalized to describe the not only the BER but also the symbol error rate SER of higher-order IM/DD modulation formats such as PAM-4 and PAM-8 as well as NRZ.

$$SER = \sum_{k=0}^{2^{N}-1} \sum_{m \neq k} p(k) P(m|k)$$
(3.40.a)

$$BER = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} p(b_k = 1) P(b_k = 0 | b_k = 1) + p(b_k = 0) P(b_k = 1 | b_k = 0)$$
(3.40.b)

$$SER \approx 1 - (1 - BER)^N \tag{3.40.c}$$

In the above equations, p(k) is the probability of occurrence of symbol k, P(m|k) is the probability of mistaking an occurrence of symbol k for that of symbol m, N is the number of bits per symbol, and b_k is the k-th bit of the symbol. Figure 3.36 shows that, as expected, the wide-open simulated eye that captures little of the primary

noise sources would have no trouble discerning between the two symbol levels. Also as expected, without the presence of noise, the ringing on the bit transitions makes a Gaussian distribution a poor fit.



Figure 3.36: Error rate estimation for the received eye at the demux filter drop port as time decision level is swept and assuming Gaussian statistics to the symbol levels (a). Coefficient of determination of the distributions at each symbol compared to their Gaussian fits (b).

3.3.4 Design Considerations for Electronic Copackaging

Within an integrated system, there are also some interactions with the electronics to consider in the design. For example, there may be an upper limit on modulator capacitance that the driver can handle, which can put upper limits on the amount of phase shifter charge displacement or encourage segmented modulators with separate, synchronized drivers. There is also typically an upper limit in the amount of DC bias a ring alignment circuit can supply, so the required FCPDE-based DC tuning frequency displacement span must be achievable with the voltage span that the controller can supply without any onset of dielectric breakdown (these IC-based voltage sources with wide voltage span cannot handle much current). The ring alignment circuitry also must be designed with an anticipated upper bound on input photocurrent and a particular ADC resolution, so a ring modulator's drop port coupling strength must be designed based on the amount of needed photocurrent and the anticpated amount of input power to the device.

3.3.5 Design Considerations for SISCAP/MOSCAP Phase Shifters

High charge displacement devices like SISCAP phase shifters (or perhaps high-concentration depletion p-n junctions) can have their loss characteristics change significantly enough across their full DC biasing span that their coupling condition will change appreciably; therefore, ring modulators must be designed to be overcoupled in a low accumulation regime so that OMA is optimized for the entire range of loss conditions it will experience in its operation (as shown in Figure 3.37). This dramatic change in loss conditions also has consequences for the ring alignment circuity because the optimum detuning magnitude for maximizing OMA for a modulator and the amount of power received at the drop port will change with the round-trip loss in the cavity. The amount of drop port excess loss a ring demux filter would encounter would increase with more accumulated charge and its *FWHM* would expand. The *FWHM* expansion would introduce voltage-dependence to other factors like crosstalk and power handling for both the modulator and demux filter.

3.4 Conclusion

The fundamentals of ring resonators and integrated phase shifters were established. Several new equations for describing ring resonators were developed in the process. Applying these fundamentals to design ring-based elements for DWDM transceiver PICs was then performed.

Given the wide range of tradeoffs present for rings used both as WDM modulators



Figure 3.37: Plot of a simulated all-pass ring spectrum containing a SISCAP phase shifter as the amount of accumulated charge is increased.

and demultiplexing filters, it is clear that ring resonators should be optimized in design for their target application, and doing so requires detailed knowledge of the fabrication process and its uniformity; further, not every standard silicon photonics foundry process is capable of meeting the all needs of such a demanding project as this dissertation topic. Achieving the best design in a large system also requires an intimate knowledge of how the elements of ring design interact with the rest of the system to ensure that the entire scope of constraints on the design are well understood.

References

- Zhang, Lin, Li, Yunchu, Yang, Jeng-Yuan, Song, Muping, Beausoleil, Raymond G, and Willner, Alan E. "Silicon-based microring resonator modulators for intensity modulation". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 16.1 (2009), pp. 149–158.
- [2] Yariv, Amnon. "Universal relations for coupling of optical power between microresonators and dielectric waveguides". *Electronics letters* 36.4 (2000), pp. 321–322.
- [3] Heebner, John, Grover, Rohit, and Ibrahim, Tarek. *Optical microresonator theory*. Springer, 2008.
- [4] Tseng, WC, Tsai, WC, Lin, CK, Lee, CM, and Chen, JY. Study of Coupling Los son Strongly-coupled, Ultra Compact Microring Resonators. 2013.

- [8] Ong, Kenny YK, Chen, George FR, Xing, P, Gao, H, and Tan, Dawn TH. "Dispersion compensation of high-speed data using an integrated silicon nitride ring resonator". Optics Express 30.9 (2022), pp. 13959–13967.
- [9] Kita, Tomohiro, Matsumoto, Atsushi, Yamamoto, Naokatsu, Mendez-Astudillo, Manuel, and Yamada, Hirohito. "Two-wavelength tunable laser diode using a quantum dot SOA and a silicon photonic external cavity". 2018 IEEE International Semiconductor Laser Conference (ISLC). IEEE. 2018, pp. 1–2.
- [10] Coldren, Larry A, Corzine, Scott W, and Mashanovitch, Milan L. *Diode lasers and photonic integrated circuits*. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- [11] Liu, Bin and Shakouri, Ali. "Passive microring resonator coupled lasers". The 15th Annual Meeting of the IEEE Lasers and Electro-Optics Society. Vol. 2. IEEE. 2002, pp. 742–743.
- [12] Novarese, Marco, Garcia, Sebastian Romero, Cucco, Stefania, Adams, Don, Bovington, Jock, and Gioannini, Mariangela. "Study of nonlinear effects and self-heating in a silicon microring resonator including a Shockley-Read-Hall model for carrier recombination". Optics Express 30.9 (2022), pp. 14341–14357.
- [13] Little, Brent E, Chu, Sai T, Haus, Hermann A, Foresi, J, and Laine, J-P. "Microring resonator channel dropping filters". *Journal of lightwave technology* 15.6 (1997), pp. 998–1005.
- [15] Karimelahi, Samira and Sheikholeslami, Ali. "Ring modulator small-signal response analysis based on pole-zero representation". Optics Express 24.7 (2016), pp. 7585– 7599.
- [16] Jin, Warren. Ultra-Low-Loss Silicon Nitride Photonic Integrated Circuits for Highly Coherent Lasers. University of California, Santa Barbara, 2022.
- [17] Müller, J, Merget, F, Azadeh, S Sharif, Hauck, J, García, S Romero, Shen, B, and Witzens, J. "Optical peaking enhancement in high-speed ring modulators". *Scientific Reports* 4 (2014), p. 6310.
- [18] Johnson, Thomas J, Borselli, Matthew, and Painter, Oskar. "Self-induced optical modulation of the transmission through a high-Q silicon microdisk resonator". *Optics express* 14.2 (2006), pp. 817–831.
- [19] Luo, Lian-Wee, Wiederhecker, Gustavo S, Preston, Kyle, and Lipson, Michal. "Power insensitive silicon microring resonators". *Optics letters* 37.4 (2012), pp. 590–592.
- [20] Melloni, Andrea and Martinelli, Mario. "Synthesis of direct-coupled-resonators bandpass filters for WDM systems". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 20.2 (2002), p. 296.
- [21] Kang, Young Mo, Arbabi, Amir, and Goddard, Lynford L. "Engineering the spectral reflectance of microring resonators with integrated reflective elements". Optics Express 18.16 (2010), pp. 16813–16825.

- [22] Soref, RICHARDA and Bennett, BRIANR. "Electrooptical effects in silicon". *IEEE journal of quantum electronics* 23.1 (1987), pp. 123–129.
- [23] Schenk, Andreas, Altermatt, Pietro P, and Schmithusen, Bernhard. "Physical model of incomplete ionization for silicon device simulation". 2006 International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices. IEEE. 2006, pp. 51– 54.
- [24] Xu, Dan-Xia, Delâge, André, Verly, Pierre, Janz, Siegfried, Wang, Shurui, Vachon, Martin, Ma, PengHui, Lapointe, Jean, Melati, Daniele, Cheben, Pavel, et al. "Empirical model for the temperature dependence of silicon refractive index from O to C band based on waveguide measurements". Optics Express 27.19 (2019), pp. 27229– 27241.
- [25] Klaassen, DBM. "A unified mobility model for device simulation—I. Model equations and concentration dependence". *Solid-State Electronics* 35.7 (1992), pp. 953– 959.
- [26] Klaassen, DBM. "A unified mobility model for device simulation—II. Temperature dependence of carrier mobility and lifetime". Solid-State Electronics 35.7 (1992), pp. 961–967.
- [27] Schenk, Andreas. "Finite-temperature full random-phase approximation model of band gap narrowing for silicon device simulation". Journal of Applied Physics 84.7 (1998), pp. 3684–3695.
- [28] Couderc, Romain, Amara, Mohamed, and Lemiti, Mustapha. "Reassessment of the intrinsic carrier density temperature dependence in crystalline silicon". *Journal of Applied Physics* 115.9 (2014).
- [29] Mishra, Darpan and Sonkar, Ramesh Kumar. "Analysis of germanium-doped silicon vertical PN junction optical phase shifter". JOSA B 36.5 (2019), pp. 1348–1354.
- [30] Douix, Maurin, Perez-Galacho, Diego, Charlet, Ismael, Baudot, Charles, Acosta-Alba, Pablo, Kerdilès, Sébastien, Euvrard, Catherine, Grosse, Philippe, Planchot, Jonathan, Blanc, Romuald, et al. "SiGe-enhanced Si capacitive modulator integration in a 300 mm silicon photonics platform for low power consumption". Optics Express 27.13 (2019), pp. 17701–17707.
- [31] People, Roosevelt. "Physics and applications of Ge x Si 1-x/Si strained-layer heterostructures". *IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics* 22.9 (1986), pp. 1696–1710.
- [32] Palankovski, Vassil and Selberherr, Siegfried. "Critical modeling issues of SiGe semiconductor devices". Journal of Telecommunications and Information Technology (2004), pp. 15–25.
- [33] Braunstein, Rubin, Moore, Arnold R, and Herman, Frank. "Intrinsic optical absorption in germanium-silicon alloys". *Physical Review* 109.3 (1958), p. 695.

- [34] Manku, Tajinder and Nathan, A. "Lattice mobility of holes in strained and unstrained Si/sub 1-x/Ge/sub x/alloys". *IEEE electron device letters* 12.12 (1991), pp. 704–706.
- [35] Manku, T and Nathan, A. "Energy-band structure for strained p-type Si 1- x Ge x". Physical Review B 43.15 (1991), p. 12634.
- [36] Manku, Tajinder and Nathan, Arokia. "Electron drift mobility model for devices based on unstrained and coherently strained Si/sub 1-x/Ge/sub x/grown on; 001; silicon substrate". *IEEE transactions on electron devices* 39.9 (1992), pp. 2082– 2089.
- [37] Manku, Tanjinder, McGregor, Joel M, Nathan, Arokia, Roulston, David J, Noel, J-P, and Houghton, DC. "Drift hole mobility in strained and unstrained doped Si/sub 1-x/Ge/sub x/alloys". *IEEE transactions on electron devices* 40.11 (1993), pp. 1990–1996.
- [38] Senapati, B. "Modelling of strained silicon-germanium material parameters for device simulation". *IETE Journal of Research* 53.3 (2007), pp. 215–236.
- [39] Muller, Richard S and Kamins, Theodore I. Device electronics for integrated circuits. John Wiley & Sons, 2002.
- [40] Zanetto, Francesco, Perino, Alessandro, Petrini, Matteo, Toso, Fabio, Milanizadeh, Maziyar, Morichetti, Francesco, Melloni, Andrea, Ferrari, Giorgio, and Sampietro, Marco. "Electrical conductance of silicon photonic waveguides". *Optics Letters* 46.1 (2021), pp. 17–20.
- [41] Gupta, Gaurav, Rajasekharan, Bijoy, and Hueting, Raymond JE. "Electrostatic doping in semiconductor devices". *IEEE transactions on electron devices* 64.8 (2017), pp. 3044–3055.
- [42] Dubé-Demers, Raphaël, St-Yves, Jonathan, Bois, Antoine, Zhong, Qiuhang, Caverley, Michael, Wang, Yun, Chrostowski, Lukas, LaRochelle, Sophie, Plant, David V, and Shi, Wei. "Analytical modeling of silicon microring and microdisk modulators with electrical and optical dynamics". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 33.20 (2015), pp. 4240–4252.
- [43] Sakib, Meer, Kumar, Ranjeet, Ma, Chaoxuan, Huang, Duanni, Wu, Xinru, Su, Guan-Lin, and Rong, Haisheng. "A 240 Gb/s PAM4 silicon micro-ring optical modulator". 2022 Optical Fiber Communications Conference and Exhibition (OFC). IEEE. 2022, pp. 01–03.
- [44] Gostimirovic, Dusan and Winnie, N Ye. "Ultralow-Power Double Vertical Junction Microdisk Modulators". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 27.3 (2021), pp. 1–7.

- [45] Pantouvaki, Marianna, Yu, Hui, Rakowski, Michal, Christie, Phillip, Verheyen, Peter, Lepage, Guy, Van Hoovels, Nele, Absil, Philippe, and Van Campenhout, Joris. "Comparison of silicon ring modulators with interdigitated and lateral PN junctions". *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics* 19.2 (2012), pp. 7900308–7900308.
- [46] Terada, Yosuke, Tatebe, Tomoki, Hinakura, Yosuke, and Baba, Toshihiko. "Si photonic crystal slow-light modulators with periodic p-n junctions". Journal of Lightwave Technology 35.9 (2017), pp. 1684–1692.
- [47] Fang, Qing, Tu, Xiaoguang, Song, Junfeng, Jia, Lianxi, Luo, Xianshu, Yang, Yan, Yu, Mingbin, and Lo, Guoqiang. "PN-type carrier-induced filter with modulatable extinction ratio". *Optics Express* 22.24 (2014), pp. 29914–29920.
- [48] Cheung, Stanley, Kurczveil, Geza, Hu, Yingtao, Fu, Mingye, Yuan, Yuan, Liang, Di, and Beausoleil, Raymond G. "Ultra-power-efficient heterogeneous III–V/Si MOSCAP (de-) interleavers for DWDM optical links". *Photonics Research* 10.2 (2022), A22–A34.
- [49] Gevorgyan, Hayk, Khilo, Anatol, Wade, Mark T, Stojanović, Vladimir M, and Popović, Miloš A. "Miniature, highly sensitive MOSCAP ring modulators in cooptimized electronic-photonic CMOS". *Photonics Research* 10.1 (2022), A1–A7.
- [50] Zhang, Weiwei, Ebert, Martin, Li, Ke, Chen, Bigeng, Yan, Xingzhao, Du, Han, Banakar, Mehdi, Tran, Dehn T, Littlejohns, Callum G, Scofield, Adam, et al. "Harnessing plasma absorption in silicon MOS ring modulators". *Nature Photonics* 17.3 (2023), pp. 273–279.
- [53] Buck, John A. Fundamentals of optical fibers. Vol. 50. John Wiley & Sons, 2004.
- [54] Shin, Myungjin, Ban, Yoojin, Yu, Byung-Min, Kim, Min-Hyeong, Rhim, Jinsoo, Zimmermann, Lars, and Choi, Woo-Young. "A linear equivalent circuit model for depletion-type silicon microring modulators". *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 64.3 (2017), pp. 1140–1145.
- [55] Timurdogan, E, Poulton, Christopher V, Byrd, MJ, and Watts, MR. "Electric field-induced second-order nonlinear optical effects in silicon waveguides". *Nature Photonics* 11.3 (2017), pp. 200–206.
- [56] Jain, Aditya, Hosseinzadeh, Navid, Wu, Xinru, Tsang, Hon Ki, Helkey, Roger, Bowers, John E, and Buckwalter, James F. "A high spur-free dynamic range silicon DC kerr ring modulator for RF applications". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 37.13 (2019), pp. 3261–3272.
- [57] Spina, Domenico, Ye, Yinghao, Deschrijver, Dirk, Bogaerts, Wim, and Dhaene, Tom. "Complex vector fitting toolbox: a software package for the modelling and simulation of general linear and passive baseband systems". *Electronics Letters* 57.10 (2021), pp. 404–406.

- [58] Padmaraju, Kishore, Logan, Dylan F, Shiraishi, Takashi, Ackert, Jason J, Knights, Andrew P, and Bergman, Keren. "Wavelength locking and thermally stabilizing microring resonators using dithering signals". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 32.3 (2013), pp. 505–512.
- [60] Sacher, Wesley D and Poon, Joyce KS. "Dynamics of microring resonator modulators". Optics Express 16.20 (2008), pp. 15741–15753.
- [61] Zhang, Lin, Yang, Jeng-Yuan, Song, Muping, Li, Yunchu, Zhang, Bo, Beausoleil, Raymond G, and Willner, Alan E. "Microring-based modulation and demodulation of DPSK signal". *Optics express* 15.18 (2007), pp. 11564–11569.
- [62] Cartledge, John C. "Comparison of effective/spl alpha/-parameters for semiconductor Mach-Zehnder optical modulators". Journal of lightwave technology 16.3 (1998), pp. 372–379.
- [63] Wang, Zhao, Gao, Yuliang, Kashi, Aazar S, Cartledge, John C, and Knights, Andrew P. "Silicon microring modulator for dispersion uncompensated transmission applications". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 34.16 (2016), pp. 3675–3681.
- [65] Yuan, Yuan, Peng, Yiwei, Sorin, Wayne V, Cheung, Stanley, Huang, Zhihong, Liang, Di, Fiorentino, Marco, and Beausoleil, Raymond G. "A 5× 200 Gbps microring modulator silicon chip empowered by two-segment Z-shape junctions". *Nature Communications* 15.1 (2024), p. 918.
- [66] Biberman, Aleksandr, Timurdogan, Erman, Zortman, William A, Trotter, Douglas C, and Watts, Michael R. "Adiabatic microring modulators". Optics express 20.28 (2012), pp. 29223–29236.
- [67] Timurdogan, Erman, Sorace-Agaskar, Cheryl M, Hosseini, Ehsan Shah, and Watts, Michael R. "An interior-ridge silicon microring modulator". *Journal of lightwave technology* 31.24 (2013), pp. 3907–3914.
- [68] Li, Hao, Balamurugan, Ganesh, Kim, Taehwan, Sakib, Meer N, Kumar, Ranjeet, Rong, Haisheng, Jaussi, James, and Casper, Bryan. "A 3-D-integrated silicon photonic microring-based 112-Gb/s PAM-4 transmitter with nonlinear equalization and thermal control". *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 56.1 (2020), pp. 19–29.
- [69] Roshan-Zamir, Ashkan, Wang, Binhao, Yu, Kunzhi, Telaprolu, Shashank, Li, Cheng, Seyedi, M Ashkan, Fiorentino, Marco, Beausoleil, Raymond, and Palermo, Samuel. "A 40Gb/s PAM4 optical DAC silicon microring resonator modulator transmitter". 2017 IEEE 60th International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS). IEEE. 2017, pp. 1089–1092.
- [70] Fu, Sidong, Yu, Yu, and Zhang, Xinliang. "Electrical crosstalk suppression for a compact optical segmented modulator". *Optics Express* 29.2 (2021), pp. 1764–1773.
- [71] Mikkelsen, Jared C, Sacher, Wesley D, and Poon, Joyce KS. "Dimensional variation tolerant silicon-on-insulator directional couplers". *Optics Express* 22.3 (2014), pp. 3145–3150.

- [72] Bardell, Paul H, McAnney, William H, and Savir, Jacob. Built-in test for VLSI: pseudorandom techniques. Wiley-Interscience, 1987.
- [73] Čtyrokỳ, Jiří, Richter, Ivan, and Šiňor, Milan. "Dual resonance in a waveguidecoupled ring microresonator". Optical and quantum electronics 38 (2006), pp. 781– 797.
- [74] Zarebidaki, Homa, Fathipour, Morteza, Shahabadi, Mahmoud, and Bogaerts, Wim.
 "Disk-loaded silicon micro-ring resonator for high-Q resonance". Optics Express 29.14 (2021), pp. 22688–22703.
- [75] Gimlett, James L and Cheung, Nim K. "Effects of phase-to-intensity noise conversion by multiple reflections on gigabit-per-second DFB laser transmission systems". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 7.6 (1989), pp. 888–895.
- [76] Fludger, CRS, Mazzini, Marco, Kupfer, Theo, and Traverso, Matt. "Experimental measurements of the impact of multi-path interference on PAM signals". OFC 2014. IEEE. 2014, pp. 1–3.
- [77] Wen, Yang Jing, Cui, Yan, and Bai, Yusheng. "Mitigation of optical multipath interference impact for directly detected PAMn system". Optics express 28.25 (2020), pp. 38317–38333.
- [78] Luo, Ying, Zheng, Xuezhe, Lin, Shiyun, Yao, Jin, Thacker, Hiren, Shubin, Ivan, Cunningham, John E, Lee, Jin-Hyoung, Djordjevic, Stevan S, Bovington, Jock, et al. "A process-tolerant ring modulator based on multi-mode waveguides". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* 28.13 (2016), pp. 1391–1394.
- [80] Krishnamoorthy, Ashok V, Zheng, Xuezhe, Li, Guoliang, Yao, Jin, Pinguet, Thierry, Mekis, Attila, Thacker, Hiren, Shubin, Ivan, Luo, Ying, Raj, Kannan, et al. "Exploiting CMOS manufacturing to reduce tuning requirements for resonant optical devices". *IEEE Photonics Journal* 3.3 (2011), pp. 567–579.
- [82] Pintus, Paolo, Hofbauer, Michael, Manganelli, Costanza L, Fournier, Maryse, Gundavarapu, Sarat, Lemonnier, Olivier, Gambini, Fabrizio, Adelmini, Laetitia, Meinhart, Carl, Kopp, Christophe, et al. "PWM-driven thermally tunable silicon microring resonators: design, fabrication, and characterization". Laser & Photonics Reviews 13.9 (2019), p. 1800275.
- [86] Zhou, Xi, Chen, Kaixuan, and Liu, Liu. "Parallel-output flat-top microring arrays for WDM demultiplexer applications". *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters* (2023).
- [87] Jayatilleka, Hasitha, Shoman, Hossam, Boeck, Robert, Jaeger, Nicolas AF, Chrostowski, Lukas, and Shekhar, Sudip. "Automatic configuration and wavelength locking of coupled silicon ring resonators". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 36.2 (2017), pp. 210–218.
- [88] Milanizadeh, Maziyar, Aguiar, Douglas, Melloni, Andrea, and Morichetti, Francesco. "Canceling thermal cross-talk effects in photonic integrated circuits". Journal of Lightwave Technology 37.4 (2019), pp. 1325–1332.

- [89] Mak, Jason CC, Sacher, Wesley D, Xue, Tianyuan, Mikkelsen, Jared C, Yong, Zheng, and Poon, Joyce KS. "Automatic resonance alignment of high-order microring filters". *IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics* 51.11 (2015), pp. 1–11.
- [90] Mak, Jason CC and Poon, Joyce KS. "Multivariable tuning control of photonic integrated circuits". Journal of Lightwave Technology 35.9 (2017), pp. 1531–1541.
- [91] Agrawal, Govind P. Fiber-optic communication systems. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.

Chapter 4

Systems

4.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on the progress of practically implementing the short-reach optical interconnect system architecture presented in the introductory chapter. Systems arise from a collection of components, so the individual components are first evaluated. Afterwards, the progress on bringing these components together to test the viability of the system is covered.

4.2 Components

This section provides descriptions of the design and performance of the constituent photonic, electronic, and packaging elements that comprise the system in isolation of one another; additionally this section will motivate the need for forward error correction as an energy efficient means of achieving the target error rate. While the author was not directly responsible for the design and measurement for many of these components, he at the very least guided many of their designs to fit the needs of the overall system. Regardless, a cursory outline is still warranted for analyzing the viability of the integrated system.

4.2.1 Quantum Dot Mode Locked Laser Comb

The QD-MLLs used in this system consist of a Fabry-Perot laser structure with a saturable absorber (SA) made from the same material as the gain medium. The SA is formed by electrically isolating part of the laser ridge from the gain section by etching through the p-contact and part of the p-cladding layers in the region between the gain and SA regions. By using this laser design, it eliminates the costly grating patterning and regrowth steps involved in commercial DFB fabrication. The performance of the MLL can be tuned by changing the reverse bias voltage applied. The details of the device fabrication and performance are provided in [1].

With extremely stringent power consumption requirements of short reach interconnects, the wall plug efficiency (WPE) of the laser is extremely important. Figure 4.1 shows the light-current and WPE curves for a 60 GHz QD-MLL which reaches a peak WPE of 17% free space. However, the bandwidth of the comb also affects the efficiency of generating data channels; having too narrow or too broad of a bandwidth produces channels with low power and efficiency. To track this, the twenty contiguous comb lines with the highest power are identified from a spectrum (shown in Figure 4.1.b), and the comb line with the lowest power is divided by one twentieth of the electrical power consumption of the laser. This calculates the WPE of the worst comb line that will be used as a data channel, referred to as WPE20. These devices have been verified to emit equal power from both facets so the output collected by one facet is multiplied by a factor of two in calculating WPE20. Figure 4.1.c shows the WPE20 of a device as a function of drive current and SA reverse bias to identify the most efficient comb state.



Figure 4.1: Light-current output and wall plug efficiency of a QD-MLL (a). Optical spectrum Wall plug efficiency of generating the 20th comb line assuming 20 comb lines are used for data transmission (c). Comparison of the measured RIN for different comb lines versus the entire spectrum (d). Comb state and RIN at 10 GHz for different comb lines in a QD-MLL spectrum (e). Colored spectra correspond to bandpassed individual comb lines measured in (d). Data courtesy of Mario Dumont and Bozhang Dong.

For IM-DD links, the relative intensity noise (RIN) of the laser is important because high RIN levels degrade the overall link-performance. The RIN characteristics of an FM comb were investigated and are shown in Figure 4.1.e. Each comb line was filtered with a tunable OBPF to evaluate the RIN of a single line versus the entire comb spectrum. In this study, the measured RIN accounts for the shot noise and the thermal noise without average [2], which is dependent on the output power. Considering the additional loss from the optical filter, the maximum fiber-coupled power of an individual comb line is limited to -9 dBm. As such, the RIN of the whole spectrum at a power level of -9 dBm was measured for a fair comparison. The entire comb spectrum has a similar RIN value to each individual line from 0.1-18 GHz, which is as low as -151 dBc/Hz at the frequency offset of 10 GHz. It should be noted that the RIN measurement is limited by the thermal noise of the photodetector when the fiber-coupled power is below 3 dBm. For our device studied, the RIN at 10 GHz of the whole spectrum further decreases to -165 dBc/Hz once the measurement is no longer limited by the thermal noise. In Figure 4.1.d, the RIN of each comb line is plotted to show that there is no change across the entire spectrum.

4.2.2 Silicon Photonics



Figure 4.2: 300 mm wafer of silicon photonic transceivers (a). Micrograph of a silicon photonic 1 Tbps transceiver PIC (b).

Figure 4.2 depicts a fully processed 300 mm silicon photonics wafer and an image of an individual 1 Tbps transceiver PIC. A number of silicon photonic components needed to be designed and working in tandem for the system to be operational. This includes athermal interleavers, high-speed modulators, variable optical attenuators, low-loss edge couplers, RX demux rings, and finally photodetectors. The performance of the athermal deinterleaver used in this system, as well as techniques to optimize it for enhanced fabrication tolerance, is discussed in detail in Chapter 2. The other components will be evaluated in the following subsections.

4.2.2.1 Edge Couplers

The inverse taper edge coupler in this system is optimized for coupling to standard SMF-28 fiber, which has a mode field diameter of ~10 μ m. In order to support polarization multiplexed links, the edge coupler is designed for both TE and TM polarizations. The buried oxide (BOX) layer between the device layer and the silicon substrate that silicon foundries typically use is 2 μ m thick [3], which is thin enough to increase loss of edge couplers that are designed to match SMF-28 fiber modes due to substrate coupling. A substrate etch and oxide deposition is performed near the start of the fabrication process in order to effectively increase the BOX thickness, as shown in the cartoon and micrograph in Figure 4.3.a. Figure 4.3.b plots measurements of excess loss of the edge coupler for each mode when coupling to SMF-28 fiber. A uniform broadband insertion loss of ~1 dB was measured for each mode.



Figure 4.3: Low-loss edge coupler concept and micrograph with silicon substrate etch (a). Measured transmission of edge coupler to SMF28 fiber (b). *Data courtesy of Analog Photonics.*

4.2.2.2 Polarization Beam Splitter and Rotator

An integrated polarization beam splitter and rotator is required to polarization demultiplex the two 500G lanes at the receiver. Figure 4.4.a shows that the insertion losses



Figure 4.4: Insertion losses of the silicon photonic polarization beam splitter and rotator (a). Measurement of polarization crosstalk for each path when the undesired input polarization is excited (b). *Data courtesy of Analog Photonics*.

for TE and TM input light are about 0.06 and 0.40 dB at 1300 nm, respectively, for the fabricated device. Additionally, measured polarization crosstalk results are shown in Figure 4.4.b. The peak crosstalk magnitude for the TM input to TE output path is approximately -23.5 dB, which is likely sufficient to close the link. The crosstalk on the TE input to TE output, ranging between -13.0 and -17.3 dBm, may be significant enough to impair signal integrity.

4.2.2.3 Ring Resonators

There are two types of ring resonators: the TX-side modulator that encodes the high speed optical waveform and the RX-side filter that wavelength demultiplexes each channel. Figure 4.5.a shows an example transmission response of the ring modulators. These devices have a loaded Q of \sim 4600 and a free spectral range (FSR) of 1.2 THz; this leads to a finesse of about 24, which is similar to the simulated ring modulator design in the previous chapter. As shown in Figure 4.5.b, power buildup inside the cavity introduces nonlinear losses and self-heating that limits the incident power on the ring near -5 dBm before the resonance shape distorts and redshifts [4]; this effectively limits the amount of useful power the QD-MLL can provide each carrier without splitting the

comb power over multiple PICs. To encode the data onto a carrier, the resonance is redshifted by reverse biasing an integrated p-n junction phase shifter within the cavity to deplete charge; Figure 4.5.c shows the resonance can be shifted by 52 GHz over a 5 V span before exhibiting the onset of breakdown characteristics. This large DC tuning also be used to correct for low-speed wavelength misalignment from temperature drifts and fabrication deviations. Figure 4.5.d plots the small signal electro-optic transfer function of the device. The 3 dB small signal bandwidth is about 18 GHz, which is sufficient for the target data rate.



Figure 4.5: Transmission spectrum of a ring modulator (a). Transmission spectrum as input power to ring is increased (b). Transmission as integrated phase shifter is reverse biased (c). Measured electro-optic S_{21} magnitude with the carrier +32 GHz detuned from resonance (d).

The measured magnitude of frequency tuning for this modulator device is roughly twice that of the simulated device of the previous chapter while also hitting similar electro-optic bandwidth and finesse values. As can be seen in Figure 4.5.b, this device is does not experience as significant of degradation in tuning efficiency as reverse bias
increases compared to the simulated device of the previous chapter. This inidicates that a different phase shifter cross section must have been utilized than was simulated in the previous chapter; since this phase shifter was fabricated in the same foundry process as the one used as the basis for device simulation in the previous chapter, it remains unclear whether this enhancement in performance is due to a better use of the established MPW process steps or is due to modifications of the process allowed by running a custom wafer; these are details not shared with the author due to being the intellectual property of a private company.

The drop port spectrum of the ring modulator is also important for characterizing the expected level of input power to the drop port for ring alignment purposes and for determining the amount of unwanted power dropped from the other channels across the device. Figure 4.6 suggests that as much as 32 percent of the power dropped on resonance could also be dropped from another channel; this crosstalk is much worse considering that the carrier of the target channel is not aligned to the resonance for a ring amplitude modulator. However, when measuring the spectrum inside the cavity from the free carrier absorption induced photocurrent inside the phase shifter, the ripples that are seen in the drop response that are killing the extinction ratio are not present. Since it would be expected that the ripples would be seen in the circulating spectrum if higher order modes were being coupled to the cavity, it might be possible there is another explanation for the measured spectrum. For example, the device under test and the input lensed fiber were not significantly laterally offset, so the ripples in the drop photocurrent response could be from light that wasn't coupled to the edge coupler scattering around the chip.

These rings are designed as a series with varied optical path lengths to introduce a passive fabricated channel separation between neighboring resonances [5]. This is seen in Figure 4.7.a where the resonance location of different ring channels is plotted and one



Figure 4.6: Measured through, drop, and circulating inside cavity spectrum of a ring modulator with high input power.

line is a single reticle. While the absolute resonance wavelength of a particular design varies between reticles as waveguide dimensions fluctuate across the wafer, the majority of the lines follow a monotonic trend with the expected spacing. Given the original resonance location of the ring, a high number of reticles support the tuning of all rings to their correct location even without the ability to tune a full FSR. This is shown in Figure 4.7.b where all reticles on half a 300 mm wafer can support the operation of at least 8 out of the 10 rings on the odd-deinterleaved bus at a fixed temperature without the need for integrated heaters that would consume more power, and half of all reticles can support operation on all 10 channels. State of the art substrate undercut ring modulators are currently budgeting 336 fJ/bit for TX modulator DC tuning for both fabrication errors and thermal drifts [6]; this excludes dynamic power consumption due to modulation [7] and the static power consumption of rings on the RX side of the PIC. This EO DC tuning result was performed with a p-n junction with a capacitance of 50 fF that will be driven with a high speed waveform with 1.2 V_{PP} , leading to fabrication errors being compensated for with no static power consumption and an estimated 18 fJ/bit of dynamic power consumption in the ideal case. However, to use EO tuning to also handle temperature drifts would require roughly tripling the FCPDE magnitude (which would in turn increase the capacitance of the ring modulator) and introducing a barrel shifter channel addressing circuit [8, 9, 10]. The implementation of a trimming mechanism would allow for only needing to double the tuning strength because only temperature drifts would need to be handled dynamically [11]. Factoring that an EO tuned RX ring consumes little dynamic power, it is apparent that realizing rings that do not require static thermal tuning has the potential to save hundreds of fJ/bit in a link budget even with the increased capacitance and dynamic power consumption that is introduced.



Figure 4.7: Resonance location of different ring channels (a). One line is a single reticle, showing strong correlation between different channels. Number of rings that can be tuned to the correct channel on each reticle (b). The maximum value is 10. *Data courtesy of Analog Photonics.*

Figure 4.8.a shows the drop spectrum of a measured demux filter with 0 V applied bias to the integrated phase shifter. A full width at half maximum of approximately 99.4 GHz is observed. Additionally, the spectral response at the add port was measured, which allows for extracting a backscatter spectrum. This result is shown in Figure 4.8.b and suggests crosstalk magnitudes lower than -40 dB near resonance peaks [12]. It is possible this low backscatter could allow for two parallel datastreams with identical wavelength allocations to be demultiplexed by the same ring with minimal crosstalk in the two



counterpropagating directions of the cavity; this would permit halving the number of RX rings needed in the PIC, reducing complexity, footprint, and energy consumption.

Figure 4.8: Measured spectral response of RX ring drop and add ports (a). Backscatter sprectrum estimate from the drop and add responses (b).

In a separate foundry silicon photonic MPW process, ring resonators with SISCAPbased integrated phase shifters were designed and fabricated; some measurements are featured in Figure 4.9. Much as was anticipated in the previous chapter, the amount of displaced charge is significant enough to undercouple the ring at higher forward biases. This ring is also capable of about double the frequency detuning of the measured ring modulator in this subsection with an integrated p-n junction phase shifter. The device breaks down shortly after an applied bias of +4.5 V. Internal process information suggests that performance could be enhanced by process optimizations, as this design was laid out in part of a new process. Part of these optimizations involve reducing the edge coupling loss to 3 dB per facet from the currently observed 14 dB per facet, which currently limits measurements on this chip to wavelength scan measurements in a cold cavity domain. Testing optimized devices is left as future work.



Figure 4.9: Measured spectral response a SISCAP ring resonator through response as it is forward biased (a). Instantaneous frequency detuning rate due to the FCPDE (b) and the cumulative frequency detuning (c).

4.2.2.4 Variable Optical Attenuator

The VOA is formed with a forward biased p-i-n junction in a silicon ridge waveguide; using a p-i-n junction instead of a p-n junction reduces excess optical loss in the "off" state. In order to attenuate the light (i.e. modulate the clock), it is slightly forward biased at a ~200 MHz rate. Only a small amount of modulation is required, on the order of 1 dB, for the RX electronics to extract and divide the clock on each channel. Figure 4.10.a shows the measured IV curve and insertion loss (attenuation) of the VOA. Since it is a forward biased silicon diode, it has a turn on voltage of ~0.7 V. There is a ~0.3 dB excess loss at 0 V due to the optical mode interaction with the PIN junction. In order to achieve the required 1 dB modulation, the VOA needs to swing from 0 V to 0.8 V (V_{pp} = 0.8 V and V_{DC} = 0.4V). At 0.8 V, the VOA draws less than 1 mA.

Figure 4.10.b shows time domain measurements of the VOA output when a voltage input with 200 MHz sinusoid shape of 0 V to 0.8 V is applied. One can see the modulation on the optical output which enables the extraction of a clock later in the receive chain. Figure 4.10.c shows the measured EO bandwidth of the VOA is \sim 125 MHz.



Figure 4.10: Measured IV curve and optical attenuation of the variable optical attenuator (a). Measurement of clock signal using the VOA from 0.0 V to 0.8 V (b). EO bandwidth measurement of the VOA (c). *Data courtesy of Analog Photonics*.



Figure 4.11: OE bandwidth measurement of the receiver photodetector. Inset shows responsivity (a). Wafer-scale measurement of receiver dark current at 1 V reverse bias in nA (b). *Data courtesy of Analog Photonics.*

4.2.2.5 Photodetector

The waveguide coupled, linear-mode vertical junction PIN photodetector used in the receiver is based off of epitaxially grown germanium on silicon [13]. Figure 4.11.a shows the measured responsivity and bandwidth of the photodiode. The bandwidth was measured as a function of reverse bias, and a bandwidth of ~25 GHz is measured at 1 V reverse bias. A responsivity of 0.8 A/W is measured across the O-band. Figure 4.11.b shows the dark current of each PD on a reticle across the wafer at a 1 V reverse bias. The average dark current is ~8 nA which is more than sufficient for low-noise receiver performance. To quantify this sufficiency, the sensitivity of the receiver to achieve a *BER* of 1E-9 ($Q \approx 6$) can be estimated with and without the dark current, and the two results can be compared. To simplify the expression, it will be assumed there is infinite extinction between the '0' and '1' levels and that there is no electrical or optical amplification, RIN, or timing jitter [14].

$$\overline{P}_{Rec} \approx \frac{Q \left(\sigma_s^2 + \sigma_T^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sigma_T}{2\mathbf{R}}$$
(4.1.a)

$$\sigma_s^2 \approx 2q \left(2\mathbf{R}\overline{P}_{Rec} + I_d\right) \frac{B}{2}$$
 (4.1.b)

$$\sigma_T^2 \approx \frac{4k_B T}{R_L} \frac{B}{2} \tag{4.1.c}$$

In the above equations, \overline{P}_{Rec} is the receiver sensitivity power, Q is the signal to noise ratio (SNR), σ_s is the shot noise, σ_T is the thermal noise, **R** is the receiver responsivity, I_d is the dark current, B is the symbol rate, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, and R_L is the load resistance of the receiver. For p-i-n receivers, the link is typically thermally noise limited [14], meaning the shot noise contribution to the error rate is negligible. Further, looking ahead to Figure 4.15.b, it can be seen that the photocurrent of the '1' level is expected to be at least 3 orders of magnitude greater than the dark current; this means that the dark current is not expected to be a major contribution to shot noise even if the link was not thermal noise limited. Under thermal noise limits, the sensitivity is expected to be -24.9 dBm at room temperature, 27 GBaud, and a load resistance of 1220 Ω .

4.2.3 Electronics

The electronics design consists of two electronic ICs (EICs): the driver (Figure 4.12 and controller (Figure 4.13). Each chip is produced in 65 nm CMOS.

The TX on the driver EIC uses on chip PRBS sources to generate the data traffic,

and the RX side of the driver converts the input PD current into a digital signal. There are two PLL blocks for TX and RX, on-chip LDOs, and 10 TX and RX blocks. The overall operation is controlled by serial peripheral interface (SPI) scan chain.

Each TX block consists of 4 serializers, a pattern generation block, and an injectionlocked 8 phase oscillator. It drives 4 channels and generates various patterns including PRBS signal $(2^{31}-1)$. The main phase locked loops (PLL) generates a 3GHz clock signal and it applies an injection signal to the replica oscillator for injection locking. From the injection locked replica oscillator, 8 phase clocks serialize the PRBS data and generate a 26.4 Gbps data stream for the EO driver. The driver has a V_{DD} of 1.2 V which will be the peak to peak voltage used to drive the modulator. The bandwidth of the drive signal is expected

Each RX block consists of 4 transimpedance amplifiers (TIAs), 4 deserializers, an error check block and an injection-locked 8 phase oscillator. It receives the data and checks the number of errors. The photodiode converts the received optical waveform into electrical current. In the RX block, the TIA receives this current input and generates a 26.4 Gbps data stream. To deserialize this data stream, it is passed through an 8-phase injection-locked oscillator; the reference clock of the PLL on the TX side is sent as an amplitude modulated wave, recovered and used as a reference for the RX PLL to enable deserialization of the data. Utilizing the output from this process, the pseudo-random bit sequence is employed to check for the number of errors within the received data.

The drift of the ring modulator resonance wavelength is corrected using the control EIC. The resonance frequency of each channel in the PIC is determined by the DC bias voltage applied to the ring's integrated phase shifter; this, in turn, affects the magnitude of current measured by the monitor photodiode on each ring's drop port for a fixed laser power and emission wavelength. Consequently, by accurately tracking the photodiode current, the optimal bias voltage for efficient operation can be determined. The DC bias



Figure 4.12: Overall Architecture of the driver IC. Image courtesy of Luke Theogarajan.

output is capable of reverse biasing each ring 0-6 V. The control IC chip features on chip regulators to reduce power supply noise, PLLs, 40 channel controllers and a SPI interface to control the operation using an external FPGA/microcontroller.

Fig. 4.13.a shows the schematic of a unit cell with PLL and low-dropout (LDO) regulator. Each controller has a 12-bit current sensing ADC, red/blue locking digital loop filter and high voltage EO driver.

Fig. 4.13.b shows the schematic of the photocurrent sensing ADC. The system comprises an analog front end designed to get current input, a loop filter, a voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO), and a switched capacitor-based resistor. The switched capacitor-based resistor's effective resistance is determined by the VCO's frequency. With the help of a feedback loop in the control IC, the VCO frequency is dynamically adjusted to align with the input current, thereby achieving a balance between the input and resistor currents. The frequency is solely influenced by the input current through feedback operation, while a course/fine frequency counter converts this frequency into a digital code with a resolution of 12 bits.



Figure 4.13: The schematic of Control IC chip (a). Schematic of the photo current sensing ADC (b). *Image courtesy of Luke Theogarajan.*

To drive a single PIC, two control chips and one driver chip are required. Each control chip drives the rings of the TX and RX channel, respectively, while the driver chip operates all 40 channels of data transmission in the PIC. Performance of the control chip is described in Section 4.3.1. Figure 4.14 shows microscope images and dimensions of singular copies of both the control and driver IC. The control IC has 248 pads that are placed around the perimeter of the chip in a wire bonding configuration, and the driver IC has 264 pads at a 36 micron flip chip pitch; 200 pads are used for driving TX-side ring modulators with the RF waveform and receiving the RX-side photocurrent waveform, and the remaining 64 pads around the outside of the pad field are for functions such as supply voltages, ground, SPI chain, and daisy chains for continuity validation. The signals in the driver IC is mirrored relative to the PIC such that proper netlist continuity is achieved to the PIC when it is flip chip bonded in the package.



Figure 4.14: Micrographs of the control (a) and driver (b) ICs.

4.2.4 Forward Error Correction

FEC is a powerful technique that allows communication channels to get closer to the limit established by the theory of communication over a noisy channel. For short reach links, FEC would be considered feasible and beneficial to implement if it consumes less electrical power than an equivalent increase in optical signal power, if FEC encoding and decoding fit within system latency budget specification, and if the FEC circuit fit within the area of the driver IC.

Referring to Equation(4.2), the signal to noise ratio (SNR) is proportional to power squared and inversely proportional bandwidth. When thermal noise dominates, as is the case in nearly all practical communication links without optical amplification, this equation reduces to:

$$SNR = \frac{R_i P_s^2 \rho^2}{4k_b T F_n B} \tag{4.2}$$

A $\sqrt{10} = 3.16x$ increase in power produces 10x increase in capacity. In general, short thermally limited links are best operated as fast as possible, within the bandwidth limits of available electro-optic components and available laser power. Parallelizing is not helpful as for example, 10 x10G links are 3.16x less efficient than a single 100G link. Further, since these are typically single-span links, the received signal power P_s is inversely proportional to link loss, $L: SNR \approx \frac{1}{BL}^2$. Net electrical coding gain (*NECG*), which is the *SNR* reduction allowed by introducing FEC, is proportional to:

$$NECG_{dB} \approx B_{dB} + 2L_{dB} \tag{4.3}$$

Thus, NECG can be spent on data rate increase or on link budget but in different proportions. For example, a FEC code with NECGdB = 6 dB can be used to expand data rate bandwidth by 6 dB for an optical-power limited channel, i.e., a factor of 4x. However, the same code can only extend link loss by 3 dB.

$$NECG_{dB} = 20log_{10}(\text{erfc}^{-1}(BER_{ref})) -$$

$$20 \log_{10}(\text{erfc}^{-1}(BER_{in})) + 10 \log_{10}(R_C)$$

$$(4.4)$$

Practical optical links may deviate from the idealized computation presented above. Specifically, channel distortions induced by imperfect electro-optic components, finite crosstalk, etc. frequently make FEC more helpful than this computation suggests, i.e., FEC allows to clean up error floors or flaring that a simple increase in optical power is unable to overcome. For example, Figure 4.15.a shows a typical *BER* curve for a highly optimized laboratory instrument built using discrete components and operating as a single channel, single polarization and without optical filtering – note 2.2 dB penalty from *BER* 10^{-5} and 10^{-12} [15]. In contrast, highly parallelized optical systems are susceptible to bandwidth narrowing from EO components and optical filtering, to linear cross-talk between neighbors, polarizations, modes, etc. Such links have exhibited optical power penalty in excess of 18 dB at 10^{-12} BER, and 10 dB at 10^{-5} *BER* with 16 Gbps/ λ , shown



Figure 4.15: Single channel, discrete component 10G link performance (a). Simulated link performance comparison of idealized (Blue) and realistic (Red) optical links (b); the yellow region is where the BCH(511, 484) FEC code can be used to correct for all errors. Simulated FEC performance with simple algebraic decoder compared with binomial approximation (c).

in Figure 2.d of [16].

This effect can also be shown in link performance simulations, when various bandwidth and cross-talk effects are properly accounted for, shown in Figure 4.15.b. FEC performance gain on an idealized link is indeed fairly small (2.4 dB less input optical power needed for target BER), while a realistic optical link benefits from FEC more significantly (3.5 dB). FEC provides even more performance gain for an APD receiver (6.0 dB), and the APD requires 8.9 less dB input optical power than the p-i-n receiver at the FEC threshold.

We constrain ourselves to a maximum latency (excluding time of flight) of 50 ns, and we target FEC $NECG \approx 4dB$ at corrected $BER_{ref} \approx 10^{-12}$, which indicates a pre-corrected $BER_{in} \approx 10^{-5}$. Preliminary estimates of optical link QD SOA marginal power efficiency is 0.06 pJ/bit at 2 dB optical gain (i.e. $\frac{NECG}{2}$). Therefore, FEC is likely to be beneficial if its power consumption is < 0.06 pJ/bit.

A relatively simple BCH N=511, K=484 code with code rate $R_c \approx 0.947$ and $NECG \approx$ 4.25 dB was selected for this link. The code has been fully implemented in Matlab and



Figure 4.16: FEC latency with 20x interleaving of 511-bit blocks streamed through a single wavelength channel operating at 26.4 Gbps. *Courtesy of Mike Frankel.*

tested on various data and error sequences. This code is capable of completely correcting up to 3 errors per 511-bit block. If there are 4 or more errors per block, they are passed through without correction. Infrequent additions of 3 artificial errors are also possible when there are 4 or more real errors, but this effect is observed to have a negligible impact on performance, as shown in Figure 4.15.c.

In general, robust optical link operation in practical deployments mandates the use of FEC, which not only provides reduction in total system power consumption, but also provides link immunity against dribbling errors that may be induced by occasional control loop errors, RF channel reflections, cross-talk fluctuations, etc.

FEC encoding blocks require interleaving to provide tolerance against error bursts longer than 3 bits. However, care must be taken about how interleaving is implemented as it increases system memory depth and corresponding latency associated with FEC. FEC coding on a single wavelength tributary is not supportable due to the low latency requirements. Figure 4.16 shows a single wavelength operating at 26.4 Gbps and a 511-bit block occupying 19.4 ns. Interleaving 20 blocks increases FEC delay to 387 ns, which is considerably higher than the given latency constraint.

The system's 20 wavelengths are clock-synchronous and FEC blocks can be spread across all of these. In addition, robustness is increased further by adding 26-way time-



Figure 4.17: FEC latency with 20x interleaving across 20 wavelengths and 26-way time-domain interleaving of 511-bit blocks. *Courtesy of Mike Frankel.*

domain interleaving. This method is shown in Figure 4.17, and shows an interleaving latency of 26 ns.

Total FEC latency can be estimated assuming an implementation in TSMC 7 nm CMOS process. XOR gate count is 511 bits * 9 bits/syndrome * 3 syndromes = 13797 gates. FEC decoder delay involves computing third and fifth power, square root and cubic root of element in GF via 512 element look-up table (LUT). Further, addition via XOR of 9-bit sequences, product of two GF elements via LUTs, and division via 512 element LUTs are also performed. Thus, total decoder delay is due to encoder (2 ns), interleaving (26 ns) and decoder (5 ns) = 33 ns total, which is well within a latency specification of 50 ns.

This system has another specific benefit from FEC in regards to latency. EO ring tuning is restricted in range such that occasional channel switching is required over full temperature range ramp. At the same time, EO tuning can be quite fast, with tuning within 1 ns quite achievable; thermo-optic tuning, on the other hand, is orders of magnitude slower. This switching speed corresponds to 26.4 bits at 26.4 Gbps NRZ. With reasonable block interleaving, at most 1-2 errors per FEC block are expected, which are within FEC correction range. Thus, with careful channel switching algorithm design, error-free operation is expected.

In terms of consumed CMOS die area, a receiver area associated with the PIC is determined by the areal bandwidth density, which is in turn limited by the pad pitch. The system pad pitch in the high speed region of 36 μm leads to a footprint of 47000 μm^2 for a 500 Gbps RX composite. The area is largely dominated by XOR gates, and the area consumed can be estimated using published results as 0.22 $\mu m^2 * 13797$ XORs = 3000 μm^2 , with some additional area for LUTs and some logic [17]. Therefore, FEC should be able to fit into the allocated area with area to spare, assuming an advanced 7 nm CMOS node.

Similar estimates of FEC power consumption indicate that ≈ 13 fJ/bit will be consumed by XOR operations, with some additional power for LUTs and some logic, which fits comfortably within the FEC-allocated 20 fJ/bit in the system power budget.

In summary, FEC should be considered mandatory for highly efficient and operationally resilient parallelized optical links. Simple FEC codes provide sufficient gain, mitigate the effect of many impairments, and can be realized in advanced CMOS nodes meeting specifications for energy efficiency, latency and areal density in short-reach applications.

4.2.5 Packaging of 3D Integrated Transceiver

Packaging unifies the separate electronic and photonic chips to operate together as a system and facilitates testing of a complicated system. Figure 4.18.a shows the cross section vision for a 1 Tbps unit. The PIC is flip chip bonded to an interposer containing an embedded driver IC, TSVs, backside redistribution layers (RDL) with a backside bonded contoller IC, all of which is soldered onto a daughter card PCB (shown in Figure 4.18.b); the daughter card form factor allows for edge card connection to a motherboard to produce aggregate transceiver systems with increased capacity. An aluminum nitride



Figure 4.18: Cross section diagram for a 1 Tbps system (a). Daughter card printed circuit board for 1 Tbps system (b). Cross section diagram of simplified 25 Gbps system package (c).

block can be adhered onto the backside of the PIC to act both as a heat spreader and to increase the bond area for a fiber array, and a heat sink can attached to the other side of this block. Constructing such a package is a multidisciplinary effort that requires careful planning. Figure 4.19 shows a process flow from chip fabrication to completed package.

Since this packaging vision is quite intricate to realize, an intermediate package designed to validate the processing steps of the process is shown in Figure 4.18.c. This lower-complexity package still requires embedding the controller within an interposer with multiple RDL layers that has a PIC bonded to it; however, electrical continuity to the PCB is formed via wire bonds. Additionally, the controller IC is attached separately to the PCB and has its contacts wirebonded. A sacrifice made in this simpler package is system complexity; rather than running a full 1 Tbps link, this package could only output a single 25 Gbps channel of the system when operational. Details on some of the processing steps to form the package (TSV formation, Ohmic contacts to TSVs, multilevel RDL, interposer socket etch, driver IC embedding in to the interposer socket) can be found in [18].



Figure 4.19: Flow chart for assembling a packaged transceiver system.

Fiber Array Attached Module

After the interposer is assembled with an embedded driver, indium is deposited onto its bond pads and those of the embedded driver IC in preparation for flip chip bonding of the PIC onto the interposer; the PICs have a pad pitch of 36 μ m in the RF region that bonds to the driver IC and 72 μ m for connections to TSVs on the full-complexity interposer. Prior to flip chip bonding, the PIC undergoes several post-processing steps in preparation. The silicon photonics wafer leaves the foundry unsingulated with bare aluminum pads that need to be gold plated for the flip chip bonding procedure. Waferscale electroplating was performed on the silicon photonics wafer after it had been cored to 150 mm. Laser stealth dicing was used to singulate the die over saw dicing to ensure a cleaner pad surface and minimize impact on chip-to-chip bonding; pad quality postsingulation is shown in Figure 4.20.a. PICs are then facet polished to remove a ledge on the optical interface that would otherwise prevent a standard fiber array from being aligned and attached to the package; the overpolishing is limited to at most 5 microns, which should only perturb the edge coupler performance to a small degree. Figure 4.20.b demonstrates the cleanliness of the facet after polishing. The interposer and PIC are then aligned on the stage of the flip chip and bonded, and one such completed single channel package is shown in Figure 4.20.c.



Figure 4.20: PIC pads that bond to the driver IC after plating and singulation (a). PIC optical facet for fiber coupling after facet polishing (b). An assembled 25 Gbps package (c).

That interposer package is then attached to a printed circuit board (PCB). The 25 Gbps demonstration is then wire bonded to the PCB, and the results are shown in Figure 4.21.a & b. After assembly, the unit can be mounted into its test station, as shown in Figure 4.21.c-e; the fiber array can then be aligned to package using overhead and side view cameras along with two red lasers and a six axis stage (Figure 4.21.f & g). Unfortunately, no optical modulation was observed in this first package when looking at its optical output and the power supplies turned on. The only clue as to what might have gone wrong was that a rather large current draw was observed when the power supplies to the PCB were turned on, suggesting shorts somewhere in the system; it is suspected this may be occurring in the RDL.

For the 1 Tbps packages, a fiber array can be directly epoxied to the PIC after it the interposer has been attached to a PCB; additional fixtures are included to preserve the integrity of the fiber attach process. An example of a successful fiber attach, along with the additional optomechanical and thermal hardware, is shown in Figure 4.22.a.



Figure 4.21: 25 Gbps demo package after wire bonding (a). Fixing wire bond failures with careful application of silver epoxy (b). SolidWorks model of the packaged demonstrator test station (c). Side view (d) and front view (e) of test station. Top-down view (f) and overhead microscope view (g) of 25 Gbps demonstrator mounted to test station and fiber array aligned.

One such packaged device was placed into an oven and underwent wavelength scans from temperatures ranging between 20-80° C, and the results are shown in Figure 4.22.b. The data shows that the insertion loss is stable across wavelength and temperatures ranges of interest. With a loss of about 4.2 dB in the optical pathway consisting of two edge couplers with 1 dB per facet loss and 8.1 mm of integrated silicon photonics waveguides, the quality of the facet polishing and fiber attach are confirmed. The small ripples in the transmission spectrum are assumed to be due to minor polarization fluctuations occurring during the scan, as the fibers in the fiber array attach test were SMF-28 rather than PM fibers. The optical pathway on the PIC includes bends that would filter out any TM light that may be present at any moment.

While much of the work on the package is promising, there are still minor issues that exist in the first generation that require addressing before full system tests can be conducted. Namely, improvements are needed in eliminating shorts present in the RDL and for increasing the flip chip bond yield between the PIC and the driver EIC (as seen in Figure 4.23). The 25 Gbps package also requires optimization to improve wire bond yield.



Figure 4.22: FAU attach hardware secured to a daughter card (a). Insertion loss through FAU and PIC alignment loopback across wavelength and temperature (b).



Figure 4.23: Micrographs of the flip chip bond pads of a PIC after it had detached from an interposer. Gold-colored pads (like those in the red oval) indicate regions of unsuccessful bonding, while darkened pads (like those in the green oval) indicate remaining indium on the chip surface and successful bonding.

4.3 Subsystem Testing

There were two main experiments conducted of electronic-photonic systems. The first is a demonstration of a controller IC evaluation board successfully interacting with a silicon photonic ring modulator chip, and the second details our efforts in co-packaging the photonics and electronics for a fundamental validation of all sub-components functioning in a single-wavelength 27 Gbps optical link.

4.3.1 Ring Locking

Figure 4.24.a show a ring modulator chip that is optically and electrically probed in a manner allowing for light to be passed in and out of the PIC with the capability of applying an EO bias to the phase shifter and to read the monitor photocurrent on the drop port of the ring. These electrical inputs are connected to a PCB with a packaged control IC, shown in Figure 4.24.b. Figure 4.24.c shows that the resonance wavelength shifted according to the EO driver voltage generated by the control IC.

The next objective after verifying that the controller can shift the ring resonance with an applied voltage is to verify the controller can convert the monitor photocurrent into an appropriate ADC value and see a semblance of a ring lineshape. This is successfully shown in Figure 4.24.d, in which a tunable laser wavelength is set to be on the red side of the resonance at a controller drive voltage of 0 V; as the drive voltage increases, the ring resonance is red shifted, which causes an initial increase in the ADC value as monitor photocurrent reaches its maximum when the laser is now aligned with the ring resonance. Further increases to the driver voltage past this point lead to a decay in the photocurrent as the laser is further redshifted away from the ring resonance.

Finally, locking the ring is done by instructing the controller to achieve an input photocurrent ADC value on either the red or blue side of the resonance. For a full 1



Figure 4.24: Ring modulator fiber coupled and DC needle probed on its p-n junction phase shifter and its monitor photodiode (a). The packaged control IC chip (b). Ring frequency response shifting according to the applied bias voltage change from the control IC (c). Scanning a ring modulator resonance by stepping the EO phase shifter bias and reading its monitor photocurrent both with the contol IC (d). Locking a laser that begins on the red side of a ring resonance to a photocurrent ADC value of 3600 (dotted line) on the blue side of the resonance (e). Blue and red regions in (d) and (e) indicate whether the laser is on the blue or red side of the ring's resonance, respectively. While not recorded in this measurement, the time step between samples is expected to be about 100 ms in (e), but that is not known with enough certainty to warrant a time domain conversion of the x axis; locking begins at sample 0.

Types system, it is required that all ring modulators will lock to the same side of the ring resonance, preferably on the blue side of the resonance [4]. However, it is likely that some rings will have their MLL channel start on the red side of the resonance. Figure 4.24.e demonstrates that the locking circuit is capable of identifying that it is on the red side of the resonance from the amplitude derivative and switches to the highest possible reverse bias output to get on the blue side of the resonance. While there is some fluctuation in the read ADC value even after locking after about 50 samples, it is not necessarily a sign of trouble with the circuitry because the sample rate was incredibly slow in this proof of concept experiment (on the order of 10 Hz); these ripples in the ADC value could be onset from vibrations of the input lensed fiber on this time scale. Unfortunately, these control IC demo boards proved to be fragile, and all were damaged beyond use before further investigation could be undertaken. To that end, no practical experiments to estimate power consumption were undertaken.

4.3.2 Discrete 1- λ Link with QD-MLL Source

Figure 4.25 shows the experimental setup diagram and results for a single-channel modulation experiment. One line of a packaged QD-MLL has data encoded onto it with an integrated ring modulator driven by an arbitrary waveform generator (AWG) producing a 27 Gbps NRZ signal. This driving signal has a $V_{PP} = 1$ V and is pre-emphasized to compensate for cable losses. The optical signal is amplified with a commercial QD-SOA, and a tunable optical filter is then used to remove the unmodulated comb lines; the modulated line is coupled into a PD that has a low-noise amplifier (LNA) on its backend that is connected to an oscilloscope for analysis. The achieved bit error rate (*BER*) in the preliminary experiment of 2.9E-5 is close to the system's FEC threshold of 1.3E-5; however, the simplified TX photonic element used in the experiment lacks a deinterleaver. The



Figure 4.25: Link experiments and resultant eye diagrams. Elements enclosed within a dashed box in (b), (c), and (d) indicate variations from the original experimental setup in (a).

absence of a deinterleaver increases the number of comb lines that couple power into the modulator, and the excess input power from the additional comb lines causes self-heating of the ring and degrades signal integrity. To prevent self-heating, a second iteration of the experiment is conducted in which the QD-MLL is filtered down to a single carrier before passing into the MRM (Figure 4.25.b). This iteration experiences a much worse BER, but this is likely due to the extra loss insertion loss introduced by the second filter; Tunable Optical Filter #1 has an insertion loss of 5 dB, and Tunable Optical Filter #2has an insertion of 3.5 dB. There are also 3 PIC edge coupling operations (into and out of the TX along with into the RX via lensed fiber) that each have insertion losses of about 3 dB; the edge couplers in this experiment are not the same 1 dB per facet design as used in the system and instead prioritize compactness over losses. This hypothesis is confirmed by substituting the QD-MLL with a commercial tunable laser with the same wavelength and power conditions, which achieves a similar BER (Figure 4.25.c); this tunable laser carrier is capable of a *BER* almost an order of magnitude smaller than the FEC threshold with an incident power on the ring modulator of about 1 dBm (Figure 4.25.d). The single-channel link experiment conducted here introduces 6 dB more loss than the fully-integrated WDM demo. Therefore, an appropriately deinterleaved QD-MLL comb source with -5 dBm per line is expected to be sufficient for a 1 Tbps link.

4.4 **Results and Discussion**

While a fully copackaged link has not been shown, it is still expected that the constituent components are likely viable once capable of being brought together. Some of the figures of merit of concern for this link are power consumption and areal bandwidth density.

Figure 4.26 projects the energy consumption of a 1 Tbps link based upon the MLL and



Figure 4.26: Energy budget extrapolations for a 1 Tbps system utilizing a QD-SOA.

SOA conditions used in the single-wavelength demo as 0.76 pJ/bit. This will be broken down for the experimental conditions in Figure 4.25.a, which was argued in the previous section would close the link had a deinterleaver been present. In this circumstance, the QD-MLL gain section consumed 257.1 mW ($I_{Gain} = 150$ mA and $V_{Gain} = 1.71$ V) and its saturable absorber consumed 8.04 mW ($I_{SA} = 6.7$ mA and $V_{SA} = -1.2$ V); since the QD-MLL would be used to supply carriers for 2 Tbps of capacity when deployed, its energy per bit is halved relative to the rest of the components in a 1 Tbps system. The QD-MLL was stabilized at a temperature of 42 °C, and the power consumption of this is not factored into the result as it is expected that this value can be less than 100 fJ/bit with better package design. The QD-SOA consumes 520 mW of power ($I_{SOA} = 400$ mA and $V_{SOA} = 1.3$ V).

However, if the losses in this experiment matched those expected for the copackaged 1 Tbps link, the energy consumption of the link is expected to reduce to 0.39 pJ/bit due to needing less optical amplification; while every other loss in the system can be found throughout the Silcon Photonics subsection and accounted for by following the path in the demonstration figure in the introduction chapter, the excess loss of the (de)-interleaver is about 0.12 dB. There is also expected to be about 0.9 dB of loss due to waveguide propagation thoughout the PIC. Beyond lower losses than were achieved in the single wavelength demonstration, a 1 Tbps link would likely experience a higher signal to noise ratio due to the benefits of a flip chip bonded driver chip instead of RF probing, lower input power into the ring modulators, and ring stabilization circuitry; this may further reduce power consumption expectations in a full system demonstration.

While there are many approaches that could be leveraged to further drive down power consumption, Figure 4.26 indicates one of the most substantive ways to do so would be to reduce the amount of optical amplification needed to close the link. One such approach to do so would be to replace the optical gain of QD-SOAs with the electrical gain of integrated avalanche photodiode (APD) receivers; APDs with a gain-bandwidth product of at least 200 GHz would enable removing the QD-SOAs for this application [19]. APDs provide a substantial link loss gain (8 dB) for only marginal increase in bias circuit power consumption. Since this method of gain amplifies each channel individually, it may lead to improved signal integrity by avoiding inter-channel crosstalk mechanisms QD-SOAs can introduce like cross gain modulation [20]. Additionally, use of APDs could reduce the amount of power needed to be tapped to monitor photodiodes and the optical clock; since both of these circuits operate at much slower speeds than the data rate, it is possible that they could be biased at a higher gain point since lower bandwidths are needed. Without an APD, marginally better performance could likely be expected from using a praseodymium-doped fiber amplifier as an alternative to a QD-SOA [21]; the downside is that such a form of optical amplification is not in the spirit of a short-reach interconnect as it cannot currently be introduced into a PIC in an integrated form (whereas QD-SOAs can be integrated) [22].

In the driver IC bond region of the PIC, the contiguous area that the 1 Tbps worth

of ring modulators and RX demux filters and PDs occupy is about 0.19 mm². This leads to the local area bandwidth density in the RF region is 5.3 Tbps/mm²; local bandwidth density is currently the commonly reported figure of merit [23].

Despite the high local bandwidth density, the overall PIC footprint has an area 28.6 times larger than the RF region; this disparity can be driven down by iterating on the PIC footprint allocation. The PIC discussed in this work is limited by metal routing and flip chip pitch, which could be addressed with pitch reductions and introducing additional metal routing layers [24]. However, the photonic footprint allocation could also be reduced. For example, a simple change to the architecture would be to perform the TX deinterleave operation before power splitting. Deinterleavers are much bigger than power splitters, and they can also require phase shift correction; this therefore also can reduce the number of pads, corresponding drive circuitry, and energy per bit. Integrating the MLL and gain sections to distribute one comb source over many more 500G unit cells would mean needing only 1 deinterleaver on the TX side per MLL, but this may not be the best overall choice for link performance and energy efficiency [25, 26, 27].

4.5 Conclusion

The approach taken by this system appears to be a promising path towards highly energy efficient and compact optical interconnects that could be leveraged in the onboard and in-package length scales. However, much more work remains in building a practical demonstration in order to truly verify its viability.

References

- Dong, Bozhang, Dumont, Mario, Terra, Osama, Wang, Heming, Netherton, Andrew, and Bowers, John E. "Broadband quantum-dot frequency-modulated comb laser". *Light: Science & Applications* 12.1 (2023), p. 182.
- [2] Duan, Jianan, Zhou, Yueguang, Dong, Bozhang, Huang, Heming, Norman, Justin C, Jung, Daehwan, Zhang, Zeyu, Wang, Cheng, Bowers, John E, and Grillot, Frédéric. "Effect of p-doping on the intensity noise of epitaxial quantum dot lasers on silicon". Optics Letters 45.17 (2020), pp. 4887–4890.
- [6] Rizzo, Anthony, Deenadayalan, Venkatesh, Niekerk, Matthew van, Leake, Gerald, Tison, Christopher, Novick, Asher, Coleman, Daniel, Bergman, Keren, Preble, Stefan, and Fanto, Michael. "Ultra-Efficient Foundry-Fabricated Resonant Modulators with Thermal Undercut". *CLEO: Science and Innovations*. Optica Publishing Group. 2023, SF2K-6.
- [7] Miller, David AB. "Energy consumption in optical modulators for interconnects". Optics express 20.102 (2012), A293–A308.
- [9] Gevorgyan, Hayk, Khilo, Anatol, Wade, Mark T, Stojanović, Vladimir M, and Popović, Miloš A. "MOSCAP Ring Modulator with 1.5 μm Radius, 8.5 THz FSR and 30 GHz/V Shift Efficiency in a 45 nm SOI CMOS Process". 2021 Optical Fiber Communications Conference and Exhibition (OFC). IEEE. 2021, pp. 1–3.
- [13] Michel, Jurgen, Liu, Jifeng, and Kimerling, Lionel C. "High-performance Ge-on-Si photodetectors". *Nature photonics* 4.8 (2010), pp. 527–534.
- [15] 10 GB/s high-sensitivity limiting pin-tia optical receiver. Available online: https://www.discoverysemi.com/Product_Pages/DSCR603.php (accessed on 12 December 2023). URL: https://www.discoverysemi.com/Product_Pages/DSCR603. php.
- [17] Brendler, Leonardo H, Zimpeck, Alexandra L, Meinhardt, Cristina, and Reis, Ricardo. "Multi-level design influences on robustness evaluation of 7nm FinFET technology". *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers* 67.2 (2019), pp. 553–564.
- [18] Netherton, Andrew, Dumont, Mario, Nelson, Zachary, Koo, Jahyun, Jhonsa, Jinesh, Mo, Alice, McCarthy, David, Deckoff-Jones, Skylar, Gao, Yun, Pestana, Noah, Goldstein, Jordan, Shiue, Ren-Jye, Poulton, Christopher, Kennedy, MJ, Harrington, Mark, Dong, Bozhang, Bovington, Jock, Frankel, Michael, Theogarajan, Luke, Watts, Michael, Blumenthal, Daniel, and Bowers, John E. "High Capacity, Low Power, Short Reach Integrated Silicon Photonic Interconnects". *Photonics Research* (Submitted) (2024).
- [19] Zhang, Jin, Kuo, Bill Ping-Piu, and Radic, Stojan. "64Gb/s PAM4 and 160Gb/s 16QAM modulation reception using a low-voltage Si-Ge waveguide-integrated APD". *Optics express* 28.16 (2020), pp. 23266–23273.

- [20] Kim, Jungho, Laemmlin, Matthias, Meuer, Christian, Bimberg, Dieter, and Eisenstein, Gadi. "Theoretical and experimental study of high-speed small-signal crossgain modulation of quantum-dot semiconductor optical amplifiers". *IEEE Journal* of Quantum Electronics 45.3 (2009), pp. 240–248.
- [21] St-Arnault, Charles, Bernal, Santiago, Gutiérrez-Castrejón, Ramón, Berikaa, Essam, Wei, Zixian, Rautert, Janina, Poltavtsev, Sergey V, Gubenko, Alexey E, Belykh, Vasilii V, Mikhrin, Vladimir S, et al. "Performance comparison of QD-SOA, QW-SOA, Bulk-SOA and PDFA for multi-Tbps O-band WDM links" ().
- [22] Liu, Yang, Qiu, Zheru, Ji, Xinru, Lukashchuk, Anton, He, Jijun, Riemensberger, Johann, Hafermann, Martin, Wang, Rui Ning, Liu, Junqiu, Ronning, Carsten, et al. "A photonic integrated circuit-based erbium-doped amplifier". *Science* 376.6599 (2022), pp. 1309–1313.
- [23] Daudlin, Stuart, Rizzo, Anthony, Lee, Sunwoo, Khilwani, Devesh, Ou, Christine, Wang, Songli, Novick, Asher, Gopal, Vignesh, Cullen, Michael, Parsons, Robert, et al. "3D photonics for ultra-low energy, high bandwidth-density chip data links". arXiv preprint arXiv:2310.01615 (2023).
- [24] Jangam, SivaChandra and Iyer, Subramanian S. "Silicon-interconnect fabric for fine-pitch (≤ 10 µm) heterogeneous integration". *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging and Manufacturing Technology* 11.5 (2021), pp. 727–738.
- [25] Davenport, Michael L, Liu, Songtao, and Bowers, John E. "Integrated heterogeneous silicon/III-V mode-locked lasers". *Photonics Research* 6.5 (2018), pp. 468– 478.
- [26] Feng, Kaiyin, Shang, Chen, Hughes, Eamonn, Clark, Andrew, Koscica, Rosalyn, Ludewig, Peter, Harame, David, and Bowers, John. "Quantum Dot Lasers Directly Grown on 300 mm Si Wafers: Planar and In-Pocket". *Photonics.* Vol. 10. 5. MDPI. 2023, p. 534.

Chapter 5

Lithographic Overlay Error Estimation

5.1 Introduction

In order to be commercially viable, the production of complex photonic integrated circuits, such as the one of focus in this dissertation, requires all of its constituent integrated photonic elements to have reliable, state-of-the-art performance within a reticle, across a wafer, and between lots. Many of these components are formed through several separate processing steps, like the ion implantation of a shallow-etched silicon waveguide to form a FCPDE phase shifter or multi-level waveguide tapers for edge coupling and polarization rotation. In reality, the lithographic alignment between the layers that form these more complicated structures is not perfect, and this will introduce a probability distribution function (pdf) of the degree of error in how each layer overlays one another. This overlay error distribution imparts tolerances on the device performance (e.g., ring modulator loss, resonant wavelength, resistance, capacitance, tuning efficiency, power handling, etc.) and ultimately imparts a pdf on the critical system parameters (bit error rate, energy per bit). Optimizing a system design is therefore both about optimizing

the expected value and shrinking the standard deviation of the critical figures of merit, and doing so requires knowledge of the variability of each dimension (of which there are many dimensions) and the ability to efficiently compute their effect on device and system performance [1]. At many times, designers are combating these tolerances to make the best designs, but they are without any knowledge to the extent each variable is impacting them. This must be remedied.



Figure 5.1: Schematic of overlay error affecting the placement of a mask

The amount of overlay error, much like tolerances in waveguide dimensions, is a critical parameter that a foundry may or may not disclose; foundry nondisclosure would require a designer to develop methods to deduce these errors from measurements taken of a chip or destructively cross-sectioning a chip to observe these errors themselves. Within a foundry, overlay metrology can be performed with techniques such as bright field imaging or electron microscopy [2, 3], and there are many contributing factors to the degree of overlay experienced [4, 5, 6]. Process nodes with finer resolution also require tighter control on overlay errors [7]. Unlike waveguide dimension tolerances [8], developing experiments that allow for extracting overlay error from photonic integrated circuits nondestructively has not been explored with rigor. This chapter focuses on experimental designs which one may use to estimate the degree of overlay error. A primary focus will be the overlay error between ion implantation layers and a silicon waveguide, but methods for observing overlay error between different waveguide material layers and waveguide etch layers will be discussed. Though there are 3 dimensions in which overlay error can occur (2 translational and 1 rotational, as in Figure 5.1), the translational overlay error estimation will be the primary focus of this chapter, but extracting rotational errors will be briefly discussed as well. Some basic geometric rules will be outlined for understanding the impact overlay error can have on ring resonators with integrated depletion p-n junction phase shifters.

5.2 Ion Implantation Overlay Error Estimation

Simple measurements in both the electrical and optical domain were developed to attempt the extraction of overlay error between an ion implantation layer and its implanted waveguide layer.

5.2.1 Electrical Method

A common technique that can be used to estimate the dopant concentrations of a p-n junction is to measure its capacitance-voltage curves in the reverse bias regime [9]. In the parallel plate approximation of a p-n junction, $\frac{\partial \left(\frac{C}{A}\right)^{-2}}{\partial V} = -\frac{q}{2}\left(\frac{1}{N_A} + \frac{1}{N_D}\right)$ regardless of any intrinsic gap between the n and p regions and regardless of the reverse bias magnitude, allowing for easy extraction of the dopant concentrations. However, when the parallel plate approximation is invalid (such as with a thin diode formed in a silicon photonics waveguide) the significant fringing capacitance term makes the measured $\frac{\partial \left(\frac{C}{A}\right)^{-2}}{\partial V}$ dependent both on the intrinsic gap and the reverse bias voltage. This was verified experimentally by measuring the C-V curves of a series of p-n junction diodes of varying intrinsic region widths on the Tower PH18MA process. The diodes were also placed in two different orientations on the mask. As shown in Figure 5.2, $\frac{\partial \left(\frac{C}{A}\right)^{-2}}{\partial V}$ of each device was different and not a constant across the measurement range.



Figure 5.2: Plotting of the measured capacitance-voltage slope for a series of diodes intended to estimate lithographic overlay error.

There are several hurdles to overcome to translate this experimental result to implantwaveguide overlay error. Firstly, a highly accurate 2-D electrical model would be needed to translate this result into the true intrinsic gap between the p and n layers. Secondly, extracting the true intrinsic gap with the support of simulation would extract the overlay error between the p and n layers that formed the junction, not the overlay error between each implant layer and the waveguide layer.

An additional implication of this result is that attempting to extract carrier con-

centrations of ion implanted dopant layers in silicon photonics processes using the C-V method is fundamentally flawed and will yield inaccurate results.

5.2.2 Optical Method: Simplified

The principle of the test structure is as follows. Two identical silicon racetrack ring resonators are doped via ion implantation on opposite sides of their racetrack regions with equal distance between the implant geometry and the waveguide in the ideal case, as illustrated in Figure 5.3.a. However, if there is any vertical misalignment between the implant and waveguide layers during fabrication, the dopants on one ring structure will be brought closer to the waveguide and further away on the other ring. This in turn changes the round-trip optical loss of the two resonators, which will alter key aspects of each microring's spectral response such as its extinction ratio and full width at half maximum (FWHM) [10]. Plotting one of these characteristics of the microring response for a series of implant-waveguide separations should yield identical curves that are spatially offset from each other by double the amount of implant-waveguide misalignment.



Figure 5.3: Schematic of racetrack resonator with red rectangles indicating ion-implanted regions. The case of ideal implant placement is shown in (a), while (b) shows implant region placement with a die-level vertical misalignment to the waveguide. The dark gray regions indicate full-thickness silicon, while the light gray regions denote partially etched silicon

A series of such ring resonator devices were fabricated on the Tower Semiconductor PH18MA silicon photonics process. Add-drop microrings were selected instead of allpass devices to increase the number of ring structures that are nearly critically coupled. The ion implantation step used in this test is a high-concentration n-type dopant layer
used for Ohmic contacts. All devices are oriented such that the racetrack region of the devices is parallel to the x-axis of the mask, so measured misalignment will be along the y-axis. The structures with implant windows placed below the waveguide have a varied mask-level waveguide separation spanning from 200 nm to 900 nm, and the structures with implant windows above the waveguide utilize implant-waveguide separation value ranging from 200 to 250 nm in 5 nm steps. For each device, the frequency response of the drop port was measured using a C-Band tunable laser source and photodetector; the *FWHM* of the drop port for the ring resonance closest to 1555 nm is then extracted from these measurements, with the results shown in Figure 5.4.a.



Figure 5.4: *FWHM* of the drop response of a racetrack resonator as a function of mask-level (a) and corrected (c) separation between the nearest edges of the ion implantation region and rib waveguide. Histogram of all misalignment values extracted from fitting the implant window above the waveguide dataset to the implant below dataset (b).

It is clear from Figure 5.4.a that there is a significant offset between the two curves, suggesting there was indeed misalignment between the implant and the waveguide on this sample. The directionality of the misalignment can also be determined from this plot. Since the devices whose implant regions were placed above the waveguide have a narrower FWHM at the same mask level separation compared to those devices implanted below the waveguide, the implanted regions above the waveguide must be further away than those below, and the misalignment must be in the +y direction. To determine the magnitude of misalignment, the FWHM data of the devices with implants placed

above the waveguide are interpolated to fit the data for the implant below curve to get their effective separation if those points were in the implant below dataset, s_{interp} ; the misalignment Δy can be found with the following expression:

$$\Delta y = \frac{s_{interp} - s_{mask}}{2} \tag{5.1}$$

where s_{mask} is the as-drawn separation between the implantation region and the rib waveguide. The result of performing this operation on all available data points is shown in Figure 5.4.b; the mean extracted misalignment value is +81.8 nm in the y-axis with a standard deviation of 2.3 nm. This mean misalignment value is used to correct the separation values of both the implant above and implant below datasets and consolidate them into one dataset, shown in Figure 5.4.c.

5.2.3 Optical Method: Refined

While the simplified optical method outlined in the previous subsection is promising, some of its assumptions may not be entirely valid. Primarily, the simplified approach assumed that the losses introduced from ion implantation would be equal for all orientations of ion implant windows; this is likely not true because ion implantation into silicon is typically done with a nonzero tilt angle to reduce channelling effects [11]. Figure 5.5.b shows that for the simulated implant conditions, the interpolation method of determining overlay error could introduce up to 20 nm of error; this is because the twist angle changes whether the ions are aiming towards or away from the core and to what extent, changing the distribution of dopants in the waveguide and the losses. Effectively, a more rigorous method would need to align two or more curves to one another by using a figure of merit that doesn't directly maximize the overlap between the two curves. Therefore, the interpolation approach utilized with the simplified method may not be the best curve matching technique to utilize, either.



Figure 5.5: Illustration of a wafer implanted with a tilt angle θ and a twist angle φ (a). Plot of simulation results showing the affect on relative twist angle for an implant tilt angle of 7 degrees for a rib waveguide with a 220 nm rib height, a 110 nm slab thickness, a 400 nm-wide core, and $\lambda = 1550$ nm (b).

Secondly, the simplified approach ignores waveguide dimension fluctuations that could perturb FWHM from the changing coupling coefficient this would induce. This can be removed by extracting the propagation loss and coupling coefficients from the resonance measurement. Waveguide dimensions affecting core confinement and losses from the ion implantation layer cannot be eliminated, but placing the series of rings in the experiment as close to each other as possible will mitigate this as much as is feasible.

In an attempt to solve the curve alignment problem, two approaches were developed. The first approach involves examining what happens to the waveguide losses as the implant step reaches past the core center. As shown in Figure 5.6.a, the overall loss function no longer appears exponential and instead has a sigmoid shape; the generalized logistic function fits well to it and other similarly low-concentration ion implant steps [12]. To estimate overlay error, the sigmoid shape is copied, flipped, and appended to make a rectangular pulse shape, as in Figure 5.6.b. The same is done to its counterpart loss curve from the data of the losses from the opposite orientation; the two pulses are



Figure 5.6: Simulation and fitting to the normalized losses of a p-type implant step for forming a p-n junction overlapping with the waveguide and an implant twist angle of π (a). Plot illustrating the formation of the rectangular pulses for cross-correlation alignment using the logistic function fits to data (b). The pulses line color is linearly interpolated to aid in showing how it is stitched together, and an overlay error of 300 nm is applied between the two pulses. Comparing the cross-correlation alignment technique between datasets with twist angles of 0 and π for the implant to the actual input error (c). Normalized simulated loss curves with the cross-correlation maximized overlay error translation applied (d); this is shown to be the incorrect translation value in (c).

cross-correlated, and it is assumed the curves will be aligned at the position with the maximum cross-correlation coefficient. Figure 5.6.c shows this method outputs a value of overlay error that is exactly 20 nm greater than the value applied to the simulated data and maximizes the overlap of the two curves instead of having the desired effect of correctly offsetting them (Figure 5.6.d). Larger tilt angles should separate the curves even more and introduce more error in the extracted overlap parameter, as would higher implant energies causing deeper penetration into the device layer.

Slightly different results are achieved on the opposite end of the spectrum for implant conditions: Ohmic contact doping steps. As can be seen in Figure 5.7.a & b, fitting and



Figure 5.7: Simulation and fitting to the normalized losses of an Ohmic n-type implant step overlapping with the waveguide and an implant twist angle of π (a). Comparing the cross-correlation alignment technique between datasets with twist angles of 0 and π for the high concentration implant to the actual input error for the two attempted fitting methods (b). Simulation of the degree effective index is perturbed for the Ohmic contact implant (c). Simulation of mode overlap of the Ohmic contact implanted waveguide to an unperturbed waveguide (d).

cross-correlation alignment technique also has a bit of error in high concentration implant cases. It is suspected that some of its differences in results stem from the large dopant concentration strongly perturbing the mode, which distorts the loss curve to no longer appear like a logistic function; this can be seen in the simulation results of Figure 5.7.c & d. In order to remedy this, using a function that introduces a better fit to the loss curve, like the bilogistic function [13], was used. That does reduce the alignment error in the simulation by 35 percent, but that is still a 13 nm error (which may be enough precision for an Ohmic contact, depending on the application). Further, if the mode overlap and effective index perturbations are explored, strongly-doped waveguides will introduce a large reflection and high overlap losses in this experiment, introducing peak splitting and perturbing the measured round trip losses of a ring resonance. Therefore, another experimental approach for more precise analysis of overlay error in degenerately-doped semiconductor layers may be needed.

The second attempted approach for aligning dissimilar curves was inspired by observing a 2π -periodic nature with twist angle in Figure 5.5.b. This is confirmed by simulating losses for a fixed implant separation and sweeping the twist angle, and the results are shown in Figure 5.8.a. The plot shows that while similar to a sinusoid, it is not an exact fit. The act of measuring overlay error test structures oriented in the $\pm \hat{x}$ and $\pm \hat{y}$ orientations is to sample this sine-like function at $\frac{\pi}{2}$ intervals (referred to as points **A**,**B**,**C**, and **D** in this work) without knowledge of the offset twist angle at point **A**, φ_0 ; these 4 sampling points have a mean value μ . Instead of attempting to align curves from sampling position **A** to position **C** and position **B** to **D** (as what had been attempted previously), perhaps aligning to a ratio of these values and their mean could be of value. A selection of ratios that can be constructed from the 5 known data sets and would be relevant to a continuous periodic function (e.g., $|\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{D}| = S|\mathbf{C} - \mathbf{B}|$, where S = 1 for all φ_0 in a perfect sinusoid) are plotted in Figure 5.8.b. The ratios that did not feature discontinuities were deemed the more practical choices.



Figure 5.8: Simulation, fitting, and sampling losses of an aligned implant loss curves with a tilt angle of 7 degrees for a fixed offset between the implant layer and the waveguide core as a function of twist angle (a). Plotting various ratios that can be constructed for a sine-like function (b).

To perform the alignment with this technique, a 2-D sweep of offsetting the \hat{x} curves (**A** and **C**) and the \hat{y} curves (**B** and **D**), recomputing the μ curve, generating the ratio

curves and comparing it to the input value of S with the R^2 coefficient of determination function to establish the best fit and associate it with an overlay error. The R^2 contours for the 3 ratios that did not have discontinuities in Figure 5.8.b are plotted in Figure 5.9.a-c for S = 1. What is observed from these contours is that there is infinitely many combinations of overlay error coordinate pairs that maximize R^2 , which explains the difficulty in developing a method in aligning dissimilar curves. However, by multiplying together two of the contours to get a composite contour (shown in Figure 5.9.d), a single global maximum is achieved; unfortunately, that maximum occurs at the same incorrect location that the interpolation and cross correlation methods output. This is because of the choice of ratio scaling factor S = 1.



Figure 5.9: Plotting coefficient of determination contours while sweeping the alignment of the simulated loss curves for a variety of sine-like ratios and S = 1 (a-c). Plotting of a composite contour of (b) and (c) (d).

An example of how the scaling factors can be used to translate the composite contour is shown in Figure 5.10.a. This resembles a domain that has polar coordinates in the exponential with a rotational offset from the Cartesian grid that can be expressed in terms of coordinates (S_1, S_2) .

$$S_1 = S^{\operatorname{\mathbf{r}cos}\left(-\varphi + \frac{5\pi}{4}\right)} \tag{5.2.a}$$

$$S_2 = S^{-\mathbf{r}\sin\left(-\varphi + \frac{5\pi}{4}\right)} \tag{5.2.b}$$

In the above equations, it is assumed $S^{\mathbf{r}} > 1$; the inclusion of the separate exponent term \mathbf{r} is not strictly necessary but illustrates how the "radius" in polar coordinates can be adjusted. As shown in 5.10.b, the composite coefficient of determination contour maximum can be translated to the correct location with these scaling factor coordinates. Knowledge of the magnitude of error between the true overlay error and that measured from interpolation-style curve matching methods produces a circle around the coordinates of the interpolation style extracted overlay error point. Knowledge of φ_0 results in a ray of available options extending from the interpolation style extracted overlay error point at an angle of $\pi - \varphi_0$ relative to the x axis; the true overlay error coordinate is at the intersection of the ray and the circle.



Figure 5.10: Illustration demonstrating how to translate the global maximum of the composite R^2 contour by adjusting the scaling factors of the constituent ratios that form the composite contour (a). Example of applying the scaling factors to translate the maximum of the contour to the location of true overlay error (b).

Ultimately, this approach was deemed unable to be used for curve alignment on its own, as it would require knowledge of what the scaling factors should be (which requires that the curves have already been aligned by another method). However, this technique does extract a useful parameter: the ion implantation twist angle $\varphi = \varphi_0$. Therefore, if the implant curves can be appropriately aligned by another method, this analysis shows the phase angle in overlay error space between the correct alignment and the incorrect "most similar" alignments is directly related to the implantation twist angle. This line of analysis also shows that the tilt angle of the aligned curves could be estimated by fitting a sinusoid to the 4 data points of the aligned curves at a particular point along the curves and comparing that to simulation results.

Overall, both new approaches appear to have failed to develop a robust method for extracting the overlay error when there is a tilt to the ion implantation step. However, if the tilt and twist angle remained uniform across a 300 mm wafer, determining the error in the distribution of results across a wafer with a statistically significant sample size could aid in applying a correction factor; one might expect that the true expected value of the distribution to be 0, for example. However, it seems possible that uniformity of both implant tilt and twist angle may not occur in practice (to preserve tilt angle uniformity across the wafer, the twist angle may need to be adjusted) [14]. This limits the options available for correctly extracting overlay errors when there is an additional confounding variable that is changing, and no definitive solution presents itself to the author at the moment on how to resolve the matter. Perhaps sampling at $\frac{\pi}{4}$ intervals instead of $\frac{\pi}{2}$ could help by having results that mix together Δx and Δy to add additional equations to the analysis, but that is not certain at the moment. Another approach could be to destructively analyze a single test site, which could allow for a wafer-scale correction factor to the measurements.

Frankly, the failure of the cross-correlation alignment technique was not realized until

the writing of this thesis, so an experiment in which it would serve as the basis for aligning losses had been designed and partially measured. The remainder of this subsection will detail methods for extracting losses from those measured ring resonators.



Figure 5.11: Sketch of the shape of the ring resonator geometry utilized to test the refined theory of overlay error extraction of an implant dopant layer in the $-\hat{y}$ orientation.

Figure 5.11 is a mask level drawing of a ring resonator laid out on a silicon photonics foundry process in a series of devices to extract overlay error in the \hat{x} and \hat{y} dimensions; this particular device is a part of the series for generating a loss curve for the $-\hat{y}$ orientation. The ring is bent around in a horseshoe-like shape so that the through and drop ports are closer together and oriented in the same direction, increasing the likelihood that the coupling coefficients the ports are the same (asserting $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = \sigma = \sqrt{1 - \kappa^2}$ is a core part of the utilized loss extraction technique [15]). The dopant implant windows are stepped across rings from fully uncovered to entirely overlapping the waveguide in order to produce logistic function-like extracted loss curves. For the cases with little to no implant overlap with the waveguide, it is anticipated that the Q of those cavities will be high enough that backscatter-induced peak splitting is possible. Additionally, it is clear from Figure 5.11 that the drop port is is not placed at the halfway point of the physical length of the cavity, and the losses are also not evenly distributed throughout the cavity; therefore, $\psi_a \neq \frac{1}{2}$ for most conditions the ring will be in (whereas most models assume $\psi_a = \frac{1}{2}$). A thorough analysis technique would then consider how to adjust the loss fitting equations for this scenario and consider the degree of error introduced by using equations that assert $\psi_a = \frac{1}{2}$ anyway.



Figure 5.12: Experimental setup for measuring spectra of overlay error ring test structures (a). Resultant wavelength scan example (b).

Figure 5.12.a shows a chip containing the overlay error experiment on the test station. Light is coupled into the chip using a lensed fiber, and the spectra at the through and drop ports is measured electrically with integrated photodiodes that are probed and connected to a commercial photocurrent meter, the EXFO PCM-2; this allows for simultaneous measurement of the drop and through response with only one input fiber, which in turn means that both port measurements experience the same amount of fiber coupling loss due to alignment error and vibrations. It is expected this will reduce errors into fitting to the drop port. To extract the FWHM of the resonances, each through and drop port resonance shape is fit to using the rate equation model with peak splitting [16].

$$\frac{\partial A_{CW}}{\partial t} = \left(j\omega_0 - \frac{1}{\tau_p}\right) A_{CW} - j\mu_{BS}A_{CCW} - j\mu_1 E_{In}$$
(5.3.a)

$$\frac{\partial A_{CCW}}{\partial t} = \left(j\omega_0 - \frac{1}{\tau_p}\right) A_{CCW} - j\mu_{BS}A_{CW}$$
(5.3.b)

$$E_{Through} = E_{In} - j\mu_1 A_{CW} \tag{5.3.c}$$

$$E_{Drop} = -j\mu_2 A_{CW} \tag{5.3.d}$$

In the above equations, A_{CW} and A_{CCW} are proportional to the clockwise and counterclockwise propagating field amplitudes inside the cavity, and μ_{BS} is the mutual coupling rate between the clockwise and counterclockwise modes. This model assumes that the amplitudes of the split peaks will be the same, which is sufficient for this application; additional terms could be included to capture the asymmetry in the split peaks (typically attributed to backcoupling) [16]. It is suspected from the travelling wave model that $\psi_a \neq \frac{1}{2}$ would also cause peak asymmetry. An example of a fit to a split peak resonance is shown in Figure 5.13. While the coefficient of determination is quite good at 0.996, it is likely that the fluctuations in the passband (seen in Figure 5.12.b) are introducing error into the fit that will be propagated into the extracted loss terms.

To estimate losses, the finesse extracted from the split peak rate equation fitting will be input into the travelling wave model:

$$\left(\left(\left|\sigma\right|^{2}a\right)^{2}+1\right)\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{\mathcal{F}}\right)-2\left|\sigma\right|^{2}a=0$$
(5.4)

Solving for $|\sigma|^2 a = \aleph$ yields:

$$\aleph = \frac{1 - \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{\mathcal{F}}\right)}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{\mathcal{F}}\right)} \tag{5.5}$$



Figure 5.13: Fitting to the measured through and drop port with a split peak resonance.

A polynomial equation in terms of $|\sigma|$ can then be formed from the extinction ratio of the drop port .

$$ER_{DropMax} = \frac{P_{Drop}(\phi = 0)}{P_{Through}(\phi = \pi)} = \frac{\left(1 - |\sigma|^2\right)^2 \left(\frac{\aleph}{|\sigma|^2}\right)^{2\psi_a}}{\left(1 - \aleph\right)^2} \frac{\left(1 + \aleph\right)^2}{\left(\frac{\aleph}{|\sigma|} + |\sigma|\right)^2}$$
$$\implies |\sigma|^2 + \frac{\sqrt{ER_{DropMax}}\left(1 - \aleph\right)}{\left(1 + \aleph\right)} \left(\aleph^{1 - \psi_a} |\sigma|^{2\psi_a - 1} + \frac{|\sigma|^{1 + 2\psi_a}}{\aleph^{\psi_a}}\right) - 1 = 0 \quad (5.6)$$

While most values of ψ_a require numerical methods to find the zeros of the function, there exists an easily-acquirable solution for the standard case.

$$|\sigma|_{\psi_a=\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{\sqrt{1 - \frac{(1-\aleph)}{(1+\aleph)}}\sqrt{\aleph ER_{DropMax}}}{\sqrt{1 + \frac{(1-\aleph)}{(1+\aleph)}}\sqrt{\frac{ER_{DropMax}}{\aleph}}}$$
(5.7)

While an exact solution for specific value of ψ_a , it does not provide much insight into the degree of sensitivity to ψ_a on the extracted coefficients. This insight can be gained by assuming that $\frac{P_{Through}(\phi=\pi)}{P_{In}} \approx 1.$

$$ER_{DropMax} \approx \frac{P_{Drop}(\phi = 0)}{P_{In}} = \frac{|\kappa|^4 a^{2\psi_a}}{\left(1 - |\sigma|^2 a\right)^2} = \frac{\left(1 - |\sigma|^2\right)^2 \left(\frac{\aleph}{|\sigma|^2}\right)^{2\psi_a}}{(1 - \aleph)^2}$$
$$\implies |\sigma|^2 + \frac{\sqrt{ER_{DropMax}} (1 - \aleph)}{\aleph^{\psi_a}} |\sigma|^{2\psi_a} - 1 = |\sigma|^2 + M |\sigma|^{2\psi_a} - 1 = 0 \quad (5.8)$$

There are three easily-acquirable solutions for the standard case of ψ_a and its two extremes.

$$|\sigma|_{\psi_a=\frac{1}{2}} \approx \frac{\sqrt{M^2+4}-M}{2}; \qquad M \ge 0$$
 (5.9.a)

$$|\sigma|_{\psi_a=1} \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{M+1}}; \qquad M \ge 0 \tag{5.9.b}$$

$$|\sigma|_{\psi_a=0} \approx \sqrt{1-M} ; \qquad 0 \le M \le 1$$
(5.9.c)

Figure 5.14.a shows how $|\sigma|$ extracted can vary strongly for the same value of M if ψ_a is not correct. In the context of an overlay error experiment, increasingly more error from the fit occurs if the ψ_a value isn't dialed in for each ring, distorting the extracted logistic function. However, with knowledge of the ring round trip losses without the loss perturbations from the implants, this loss extraction technique can be iteratively solved to refine ψ_a and $\alpha_{Implant}(s)$. The urgency of this iterative procedure depends on the value of $|\sigma|$ extracted, as shown in Figure 5.14.b. Much less error is introduced for small coupling coefficients. In the particular rings measured in this experiment $|\sigma_{Extracted}| \approx 0.994$ for all devices, so Figure 5.14.b suggests the amount of error introduced is negligible for these devices and this iterative refinement procedure can be ignored.

Figure 5.15 shows the extracted loss curves in all 4 coordinate directions for the mea-



Figure 5.14: Depiction of how the extracted $|\sigma|$ can vary for an input M given an assumption of ψ_a (a). Reframing this in terms of the maximum expected error in $|\sigma|$ extracted from the fitting when assuming $\psi_a = \frac{1}{2}$ (b).



Figure 5.15: Extracted losses of a series of 84 ring resonators with ion implantation windows stepped over the core in a series without an overlay error correction applied.

sured chip; since no trustworthy curve alignment method is available for an unknown implant tilt angle, no attempt to correct for any potential overlay errors is performed. The expected logistic function shape to the curves is readily apparent but slightly distorted from measurement and computational nonidealities. The 4 curves are strongly overlapping without any correction; if it was known that there was no tilt angle to the ion implantation, this would be indicative of a highly precise alignment between the ion implant and waveguide mask layers in this sample. Further examination of all test structure die in the wafer would be needed to produce a distribution to verify the distribution of overlay error in this process.

5.3 Inter-Waveguide, Waveguide Shallow Etch, and Degenerate Doping Overlay Errors

While the large degree of index perturbation a high concentration dopant introduces could be seen as a detracting aspect for extracting the loss of a ring, it opens up an additional way to use rings as an overlay error sensing structure. As has been established previously, resonance peak splitting occurs when there is backscatter inside the cavity to excite both the clockwise and counterclockwise modes of the cavity. The frequency separation between the split peaks is proportional to the backscatter rate. Introducing a reflection into the cavity from an effective index perturbation should induce backscatter, and larger index perturbations should induce larger magnitude reflections which in turn should have a higher backscatter rate and split resonance peaks with a greater degree of separation. Therefore, it could be possible to estimate overlay error from the resultant split peak separation as a perturbing particle is swept across the waveguide. This reflection could come from a strong enough index perturbation introduced by ion implantation, an etching of the waveguide, or a second waveguide layer. Confounding variables would be variations in peak splitting due to variations in background backscatter and backcoupling rates [16, 17].

Figure 5.16 shows how a silicon waveguide's effective index is perturbed by a silicon nitride particle of various widths placed above it. Some observations gained from this figure is that the index perturbation profile is symmetric (assuming symmetry in the etch



Figure 5.16: Plot of effective index perturbation of a 310-nm wide, 220-nm thick rectangular Si waveguide on 2 μ m-thick buried oxide as a 220-nm thick silicon nitride particle of various widths is placed at different locations relative to the silicon waveguide core center. The vertical separation between the two material layers is 200 nm.

profiles of each waveguide element), and that increasing the particle size increases the magnitude of the perturbation with diminishing returns. It is suspected that narrowing the waveguide core would be another means to increase the degree of perturbation. It is also possible that a larger perturbation would be experienced if the particle were in silicon perturbing a nitride waveguide or if the perturbation to the silicon waveguide was an etch of the waveguide. Such an experiment was designed and laid out for the AIM Photonics Lincoln MPW run; in it, a series rectangular waveguide silicon ring resonators are perturbed by a "particle" of 110 nm shallow waveguide etch that has its placement stepped across the core of each ring so that the peak splitting as a function of particle placement can be quantified. The offset in maximum peak splitting compared to the expected location of that curve would be equal to the degree of overlay error. Validation of this hypothesis will be postponed to a later date after the backend processing of these samples is completed to allow for testing.

Much like the loss extraction and alignment technique, it is expected that a tilted ion implantation beam (or asymmetric perturbing particles more generally) will obfuscate the findings of this method until an appropriate analysis technique is established.

5.4 Rotational Overlay Error Estimation

If there were a rotational error $\Delta \theta$ present in the overlay of a mask, the extracted Δx and Δy values would be nonuniform across the reticle without much perceptible twisting between the mask layers; in other words, the Cartesian overlay error measured in that region of the mask would not necessarily be the translational overlay error that the center of rotation of the mask (located at coordinates $[x_0, y_0]$) encountered (Δx_0 and Δy_0).

$$\Delta x(x,y) = \Delta x_0 + \sqrt{(x-x_0)^2 + (y-y_0)^2} \\ \left[\cos\left(\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{y-y_0}{x-x_0}\right)\right) - \cos\left(\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{y-y_0}{x-x_0}\right) - \Delta\theta\right) \right] \\ = \Delta x_0 - 2\sqrt{(x-x_0)^2 + (y-y_0)^2} \left[\sin\left(\frac{\Delta\theta}{2}\right) \sin\left(\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{y-y_0}{x-x_0}\right) - \frac{\Delta\theta}{2}\right) \right] \\ = \Delta x_0 - \Delta R \sin\left(\theta - \frac{\Delta\theta}{2}\right)$$
(5.10.a)

$$\Delta y(x,y) = \Delta y_0 + \Delta R \cos\left(\theta - \frac{\Delta \theta}{2}\right)$$
(5.10.b)

Three insights can be drawn from these equations. Firstly, putting an overlay experiment near the center of the mask will reduce the impact that rotational overlay error has on the result; for instance, an overlay experiment placed in the top right corner of a 20 mm x 20 mm reticle would experience a pertubation in the extracted overlay error of about 7 nm in both dimensions compared to the center of rotation for a rotational error of 1 microradian if the center of rotation during that exposure was the perfect center of the mask. Secondly, by placing the same overlay error experiment at 3 distant points in the reticle (such as 3 of the corners of the reticle), triangulation can be performed to find the center of rotation of the mask, the rotational overlay error, and the true translational overlay errors of the mask. Finally, this allows for computing the overlay error field across the entire reticle once all the relevant parameters have been extracted; this allows for even more precise parameter extraction and modelling of devices.

5.5 Impact on Depletion p-n Ring Resonators

Forming a p-n junction phase shifter usually involves at least 4 ion implantation steps: 2 for Ohmic contacts and 2 for forming the junction [18]. Each individual implantation layer will have its own overlay error associated with it. As shown in Figure 5.17, a perfectly circular geometry of radius \mathcal{R} with a small overlay error can be reimagined as a shape still centered at the intended placement but with a rotationally-dependent radius $\mathcal{R}_{eff}(\theta)$



Figure 5.17: Sketch of envisioning an overlay error of a circle as a rotational perturbation of its radius.

$$\mathcal{R}_{eff}(\theta) = \mathcal{R} + \sqrt{\Delta x^2 + \Delta y^2} \sin\left(\theta + \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\Delta y}{\Delta x}\right)\right) = \mathcal{R} + \Delta \mathcal{R} \sin\left(\theta + \delta\theta\right) \quad (5.11)$$

The above expression could also be leveraged for more advanced ring geometries, such as racetrack resonators or adiabatic bends like Euler bends instead of circular bends, by making \mathcal{R}_0 a function of θ . This reframing of the overlay error as a geometric distortion allows for simpler computation and simulation of phase shifter characteristics. Instead of needing a full 3D simulation to capture the impact of overlay error, several 2-D simulations can be conducted (or analytical expressions of 2D cross sections) and interpolated between to set up a path integral of the cavity. Two important parameters related to the strength of the FCPDE that can be described through the effective radius technique are the intrinsic gap w_i of the p-n junction and the offset between the center of the junction and the center of the waveguide core x_{Offset} . These two values are formed by the placement of the two implant layers that form the junction with radii \mathcal{R}_{In} and \mathcal{R}_{Out} ; the center of the waveguide core is at \mathcal{R}_{Center} and is assumed to not impacted by overlay error.

$$w_i(\theta) = w_{i_0} + \Delta w_i \sin\left(\theta + \delta \theta_{w_i}\right) \tag{5.12.a}$$

$$w_{i_0} = \mathcal{R}_{Out_0} - \mathcal{R}_{In_0} \tag{5.12.b}$$

$$\Delta w_i = \sqrt{\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out}^2 + \Delta \mathcal{R}_{In}^2 - 2\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out} \Delta \mathcal{R}_{In} \cos\left(\delta \theta_{R_{Out}} - \delta \theta_{R_{In}}\right)}$$
(5.12.c)

$$\delta\theta_{w_i} = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out} \cos(\delta\theta_{R_{Out}}) - \Delta \mathcal{R}_{In} \cos(\delta\theta_{R_{In}})}{\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out} \sin(\delta\theta_{R_{Out}}) - \Delta \mathcal{R}_{In} \sin(\delta\theta_{R_{In}})} \right)$$
(5.12.d)

$$x_{Offset}(\theta) = x_{Offset_0} + \Delta x_{Offset} \sin\left(\theta + \delta\theta_{x_{Offset}}\right)$$
(5.12.e)

$$x_{Offset_0} = \mathcal{R}_{Out_0} - \mathcal{R}_{Center} - \frac{w_{i_0}}{2}; \qquad (5.12.f)$$

$$\Delta x_{Offset} = \sqrt{\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out}^2 + \frac{\Delta w_i^2}{4} - \Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out} \Delta w_i \cos\left(\delta \theta_{R_{Out}} - \delta \theta_{w_i}\right)}$$
(5.12.g)

$$\delta\theta_{x_{Offset}} = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out} \cos(\delta\theta_{R_{Out}}) - \frac{\Delta w_i}{2} \cos(\delta\theta_{w_i})}{\Delta \mathcal{R}_{Out} \sin(\delta\theta_{R_{Out}}) - \frac{\Delta w_i}{2} \sin(\delta\theta_{w_i})} \right)$$
(5.12.h)

The result of these expressions for a particular set of radii and overlay error values is plotted in Figure 5.18. Negative values of w_i lead to charge compensation, which adds complications to the analysis that must consider the concentrations of implanted doping fields [19, 20].



Figure 5.18: Plot of intrinsic gap width and junction-core offset for a circular p-n junction phase shifter with perfectly horizontal charge depletion for which $\mathcal{R}_{Out_0} = \mathcal{R}_{In_0} = \mathcal{R}_{Center}, \ \Delta x_{Out} = \Delta y_{Out} = \Delta x_{In} = 50 \text{ nm}, \text{ and } \Delta y_{In} = -50 \text{ nm}.$

Overall, a simple way to mitigate these impacts is to displace charge vertically instead of horizontally [21].

5.6 Conclusion

This chapter has outlined several successful and attempted techniques for extracting lithographic overlay error between critical layers in silicon photonics platforms using relatively simple and nondestructive measurement techniques. These techniques have the capability to describe the statistics of both the lithography machine and some details about the processing tool that was utilized after masking. This opens up avenues for chip designers to have a more complete description of the tolerances they must design within to maximize device and system performance. Knowledge of the availability of these experiments could also encourage a greater degree of transparency on the part of foundries regarding critical parameters that are, as this chapter shows, impossible to be kept entirely secret anyway.

References

- [1] Waqas, Abi, Manfredi, Paolo, and Melati, Daniele. "Performance variability analysis of photonic circuits with many correlated parameters". *Journal of Lightwave Technology* 39.14 (2021), pp. 4737–4744.
- [2] Rosenfield, Michael G and Starikov, A. "Overlay measurement using the low voltage scanning electron microscope". *Microelectronic Engineering* 17.1-4 (1992), pp. 439– 444.
- [3] Coleman, Daniel J, Larson, Patricia J, Lopata, Alexander D, Muth, William A, and Starikov, Alexander. "Accuracy of overlay measurements: tool and mark asymmetry effects". *Integrated Circuit Metrology, Inspection, and Process Control IV*. Vol. 1261. SPIE. 1990, pp. 139–161.
- [4] Sullivan, Neal and Shin, Jennifer. "Overlay metrology: the systematic, the random and the ugly". AIP Conference Proceedings. Vol. 449. 1. American Institute of Physics. 1998, pp. 502–512.
- [5] Ruhm, Matthias, Schulz, Bernd, Cotte, Eric, Seltmann, Rolf, and Hertzsch, Tino.
 "Overlay leaves litho: impact of non-litho processes on overlay and compensation". 30th European Mask and Lithography Conference. Vol. 9231. SPIE. 2014, pp. 172–181.

- [6] Turner, Kevin T, Veeraraghavan, Sathish, and Sinha, Jaydeep K. "Predicting distortions and overlay errors due to wafer deformation during chucking on lithography scanners". Journal of Micro/Nanolithography, MEMS and MOEMS 8.4 (2009), pp. 043015–043015.
- [7] Mulkens, Jan, Slachter, Bram, Kubis, Michael, Tel, Wim, Hinnen, Paul, Maslow, Mark, Dillen, Harm, Ma, Eric, Chou, Kevin, Liu, Xuedong, et al. "Holistic approach for overlay and edge placement error to meet the 5nm technology node requirements". *Metrology, Inspection, and Process Control for Microlithography XXXII.* Vol. 10585. SPIE. 2018, pp. 375–388.
- [9] Schroder, Dieter K. Semiconductor material and device characterization. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- [10] Bogaerts, Wim, De Heyn, Peter, Van Vaerenbergh, Thomas, De Vos, Katrien, Kumar Selvaraja, Shankar, Claes, Tom, Dumon, Pieter, Bienstman, Peter, Van Thourhout, Dries, and Baets, Roel. "Silicon microring resonators". Laser & Photonics Reviews 6.1 (2012), pp. 47–73.
- [11] Anner, G. Planar processing primer. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [12] Richards, Francis J. "A flexible growth function for empirical use". Journal of experimental Botany 10.2 (1959), pp. 290–301.
- [13] Meyer, Perrin. "Bi-logistic growth". Technological forecasting and social change 47.1 (1994), pp. 89–102.
- [14] Chang, Ruey-Dar and Lin, Po-Heng. "Simulation study of implantation angle variation and its impact on device performance". 2016 21st International Conference on Ion Implantation Technology (IIT). IEEE. 2016, pp. 1–4.
- [15] Bahadori, Meisam, Nikdast, Mahdi, Rumley, Sébastien, Dai, Liang Yuan, Janosik, Natalie, Van Vaerenbergh, Thomas, Gazman, Alexander, Cheng, Qixiang, Polster, Robert, and Bergman, Keren. "Design space exploration of microring resonators in silicon photonic interconnects: impact of the ring curvature". Journal of lightwave technology 36.13 (2018), pp. 2767–2782.
- [16] Li, Ang, Van Vaerenbergh, Thomas, De Heyn, Peter, Bienstman, Peter, and Bogaerts, Wim. "Backscattering in silicon microring resonators: a quantitative analysis". Laser & Photonics Reviews 10.3 (2016), pp. 420–431.
- [17] Morichetti, Francesco, Canciamilla, Antonio, and Melloni, Andrea. "Statistics of backscattering in optical waveguides". *Optics letters* 35.11 (2010), pp. 1777–1779.
- [18] Jayatilleka, Hasitha, Sacher, Wesley D, and Poon, Joyce KS. "Analytical model and fringing-field parasitics of carrier-depletion silicon-on-insulator optical modulation diodes". *IEEE Photonics Journal* 5.1 (2013), pp. 2200211–2200211.

- [20] Forster, Maxime, Rougieux, Fiacre Emile, Cuevas, Andrés, Dehestru, Bastien, Thomas, Antoine, Fourmond, Erwann, and Lemiti, Mustapha. "Incomplete ionization and carrier mobility in compensated p-type and n-type silicon". *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* 3.1 (2012), pp. 108–113.
- [21] Watts, Michael R, Zortman, William A, Trotter, Douglas C, Young, Ralph W, and Lentine, Anthony L. "Vertical junction silicon microdisk modulators and switches". *Optics express* 19.22 (2011), pp. 21989–22003.

Chapter 6

Summary and Future Work

This dissertation presents innovations in compact, energy-efficient short-reach transceiver architectures, along with outlines for optimizing subcomponent designs for such a system and proposing a new method of analyzing a less-explored dimension of variability in integrated photonics.

6.1 Future Work

There are many avenues through which future work can be conducted. For starters, realizing the proposed athermal and fabrication tolerant deinterleaver designs in practice would be an important step in reducing the need for static-power heaters in integrated photonic systems. On the other end of the spectrum of this compensation technique lies another interesting device that remains unexplored: the broadband, fab stable, MZI-based photonic thermometer. Most integrated photonic thermometers operate by observing the thermal drift of a ring resonance or an interference dip in a uMZI and therefore either require a particular and stable wavelength for correct fixed-wavelength operation or wavelength scans to detect peak drift. If an MZI could be made with full fabrication

dimension phase compensation with no group length difference between the two paths and unequal thermal phase drifts between the paths (perhaps out of silicon and silicon nitride), there would be spectrally broadband temperature-dependent output responses of the MZI; this means the thermometer could be read with a fixed wavelength where the input wavelength does not need to be very precise or stable for an accurate temperature reading, and the performance between devices should be similar at wafer-scale (all making it very cheap to deploy compared to other methods).

In terms of work for the theory of ring resonators, building on the dynamic travelling wave ring models to capture phenomena like power handling, crosstalk, and bidirectional propagation would be of value. Additionally, there is plenty of work to be done in producing ring designs capable of the expected RF and DC electro-optic characterics for such power stringent systems.

The most immediate task for the system would be to resolve the issues in system assembly and packaging to facilitate a practical link experiment, as there's plenty of more undiscovered kinks to work out between the current state of the system and a fullyoperational one. In a more general sense, any innovations in improving insertion loss, thermal stability, fabrication tolerances, and footprint of the PIC (at either a system or subcomponent level) will lead to a more capable system; the improvements could be gained from modifying the fabrication process of the silicon photonics foundry offering or iterating on device design to optimize performance. Some ideas otherwise not presented throughout the dissertation that would be interesting to pursue are:

- Developing thermal models of the fully-assembled system as well as comprehensive electrical and optical system simulations.
- Increasing overall PIC capacity by treating the 1 Tbps PIC as a unit cell that is tiled multiple times on one chip would likely lead to a smaller overall system

because some components in the system would be made redundant; this may result in bonding several driver ICs to one PIC to reduce overhead costs on electronic ICs. The ability to increase capacity of an individual PIC will likely be limited by a maximum port count on the fiber array. It is currently advised to limit fiber array channel count to at most 64.

- Instead of encoding the optical clock waveform with a variable optical attenuator, it would probably be more compact and lower loss to do so with a push-pull dual-drive Mach-Zehnder modulator configuration.
- Utilizing many QD-MLL comb sources with different comb center frequencies to achieve a sort of coarse-dense WDM and adding a band interleaving stage(s). This would increase the amount of capacity per fiber and reduce port count.
- Integrating bandpass filters to remove the unwanted parasitic QD-MLL comb lines.
- The odd-even interleavers on the TX and the odd-even deinterleavers on the RX could be replaced with polarization splitter-rotator elements to use polarization multiplexing as a psuedo-interleaver. This doubles the amount of ports between the TX and RX (negatively impacting shorline density) at the benefit of making the PIC more compact (improving area density).

There is still more work to do with sorting out the issues with extracting overlay error of ion implantation layers with a tilted beam/asymmetric perturbations and developing estimates on the technique's overall precision due to fluctuations in waveguide dimensions and measurement noise. In terms of making the experiment more compact, there is also likely work that can be done in optimizing the points of the logistic function to sample to improve the quality of a fit with fewer sampling points.